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		Introduction

		Gilbert Stuart’s iconic portrait of George Washington is likely one of the most-often-viewed images in the world. Painted in 1796 and often referred to as the Athenaeum portrait, the unfinished rendering of the newly constituted republic’s first president has been featured on the American one-dollar bill for more than a hundred years. The painting is shared by the National Portrait Gallery in Washington and the Museum of Fine Arts in Boston, with each institution having the honor of displaying it at three-year intervals. It’s an eye-catching work and a true national treasure.

				The painting certainly caught the attention and imagination of Captain John E. Swords, a merchant seaman from the Southwark neighborhood of Philadelphia. On March 1, 1801, Captain Swords approached Stuart, asking to buy a copy of the painting of the beloved Washington, who had died little more than a year before. Though he struggled with debt for much of his life, Stuart was only willing to sell provided the captain would agree to a non-negotiable condition: Swords must not make copies of the painting.

				It was an understandable demand. Washington was still very much in the hearts of the nation he helped found, and selling his highly regarded portraits of esteemed Americans was how Stuart supported himself and his family. Captain Swords easily agreed to the demand, promising Stuart that he would not have the painting copied. Instead, he wished to buy the portrait in order to present it to a gentleman in Virginia. Taking the good captain at his word, Stuart sold him the work.

				Soon thereafter, in that same year, Captain Swords boarded the Connecticut, a ship owned by Philadelphians James Barclay and George Simpson, with his George Washington in tow. However, his destination was not Virginia—it was the Far East. And he brought with him no intention of keeping his word to Gilbert Stuart. Instead, upon arrival in Guangzhou (Canton), China, Captain Swords turned to the well-practiced copyists of that nation and placed his order: one hundred copies of the portrait, measuring 30 × 25 inches, painted in reverse on glass.

				Such a betrayal wasn’t completely out of character for the hardy seaman. Letters to his mother, back home in Philadelphia, told of his smuggling, and according to historian E. P. Richardson, Swords’s was an age of a “free-and-easy attitude toward customs regulations and other such petty legalities.”1 So it is perhaps unsurprising that upon its return to America, the inbound foreign manifest of the Connecticut did not declare the 100 portraits of George Washington. Instead, it made mention of only “one case painting,” which, Richardson speculates, might have been the original painting that had been purchased from Stuart.

				Captain Swords was able to easily find customers eager to procure a painting of the man who the citizenry saw as the greatest man in the world, their own American Cincinnatus, and went about selling the works. Provenance was no more an issue to the buyers than it was to the seller: they simply couldn’t resist the opportunity to own a work by the man who was arguably the new nation’s greatest artist. Eventually, word that the captain was selling the portraits made its way to Stuart, who was, understandably, outraged. And so the artist resorted to that most American of actions in response: he took Captain Swords to court. On May 14, 1802, Stuart swore a complaint with the Circuit Court of the United States in and for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. In it, Stuart, who was still a British subject, told the court of the guarantees he demanded and to which Captain Swords had agreed. He also laid out the scheme as he understood it, asking the court to subpoena and interrogate the captain as to the agreement, his actions with the paintings, and the extent of the breach of contract, requesting that they determine “how many of them [he brought] into the United States with intention to vend or dispose of the same or some and how many of them and where they now are and in whose hand.” Finally, Stuart asked the court “that the said John E. Swords may, by the decree of this honorable court, be enjoined and restrained from vending or any way disposing of any of the said copies and may be ordered to deliver up all that remain unsold or otherwise” so that the court might dispose of them as it saw fit. Before the day was out, the court acted on Stuart’s complaint, ordering Captain Swords and any associates to “desist from selling or otherwise disposing of the same copies of the Portraits” and to have the remaining portraits ready for further action from the court.

				Captain Swords’s betrayal of Gilbert Stuart is the first major art scam in American history. While fraudulent schemes involving art of all sorts is quite a common occurrence in the United States, it is a not a uniquely American problem. Instead, tens of millions of dollars in illicit art changes hands every year around the world. And the dodgy captain was not the first to the game of producing rip-offs of others’ art, as the practice of misrepresenting the authorship or authenticity of an artwork is a centuries-old practice. In fact, no less than the great Michelangelo himself is said to have sculpted a sleeping cupid figure and used his artistic genius to manipulate it into appearing ancient so that he could sell it to Cardinal Riario of San Giorgio.2

				The innocent Cardinal Riario wanted so badly to believe that he had come upon a truly special piece, something that perhaps no one else had found, that he was easy prey for Michelangelo’s fake. His desire to own a true object of beauty was so great as to blind him to its authenticity—much the same way one of Adolf Hitler’s most trusted accomplices, Hermann Goering, was.

				The founder of the Gestapo, the art-loving Goering was not a man to cross. Though he was suspicious of attempts by his enemies to deceive him, his eyes opened wide when he saw Johannes Vermeer’s Christ and the Adulteress. With only 35 or 36 known paintings attributed to the great Dutch master (scholars will probably argue over the actual number forever), a “new” Vermeer would be a crowning addition to his growing, awe-inspiring, and completely ill-gotten art collection. Even Hitler, himself a failed artist who at the time was building his Führermuseum to display the greatest art collection he could steal and loot, hadn’t scored such a coup as a heretofore unknown Vermeer. It didn’t matter that Christ and the Adulteress didn’t look at all like the work of Vermeer. And according to Jonathan Lopez’s excellent book The Man Who Made Vermeers, it also didn’t matter that Goering doubted the painting’s provenance, believing the painting might have come from “a Jew, who would try to blackmail him later.”3 The Reichsmarschall wanted to believe he had come upon the find of a lifetime.

				Goering had to have the painting for his burgeoning collection and paid 1.65 million guilders—the equivalent of about $19 million today—for this so-called “missing Vermeer,” which was, in truth, created by an unsuccessful artist named Han van Meegeren.4 Because the painting was inauthentic, there was no genuine provenance the forger could provide. So, to assuage his concerns about provenance, Goering accepted a letter describing the painting’s history. Later, with the war over and facing execution for plundering Dutch national treasures (which were, in fact, his own counterfeit paintings), Van Meegeren admitted that he had forged the alleged Vermeer and proved so by painting another in the presence of court-appointed witnesses. So great was his delusion that when Goering, facing his own trial in Nuremberg, was informed that his beloved Vermeer was actually a forgery, the stubborn Nazi steadfastly refused to believe it.5 In examining the works of Van Meegeren today, it is somewhat difficult to understand how anyone could see Vermeer in them. But it wasn’t just the twisted, morphine-addicted Nazi who was fooled by the faux Vermeer. Even some experts of the day who examined Van Meegeren’s forgeries were convinced the paintings were by the great master painter. The opportunity to be part of the important new find seems to have clouded their judgment, a pattern that has been repeated several times throughout history.

				There has been no shortage of accomplished fraudsters in the annals of art crime, and many of their stories have been told in books and on television. One of the most notorious was certainly John Drewe, a British scam artist who sold the forgeries of a talented but previously unsuccessful artist named John Myatt to unsuspecting dupes for millions of dollars. Their backstory: the paintings were the newly rediscovered works of major artists. Drewe was ultimately convicted and jailed for his frauds in 1999 and served six years. Upon his release, the compulsive con man went right back to work, scamming a 71-year-old widow out of more than a million dollars by taking money from the sale of her property and transferring the deed to her home. “In my view you are the most dishonest and devious person I have ever dealt with,” the judge told him at sentencing for this latest crime.6

				Con men the likes of Drewe are only successful because of their ability to find their marks—specifically, those in whom they can sense a strong desire to believe, against all indications to the contrary, that they have actually stumbled upon the rare deal that is both too good and true. And a key component of the scammer’s ruse is the development of a strong backstory to explain how he came into possession of such valuable art. When it comes to phony art, the con man will typically develop a story that involves a collection that had been hidden away for years, perhaps by a relative who has just died. Maybe the art was hidden from the Nazis, or perhaps it was a gift from the artist himself. Whatever the case may be, the con man must create a plausible story to account for the fact that the paintings he is selling haven’t already been claimed by another collector, especially considering the bargain prices. Indeed, the con man’s one stumbling block is accounting for the art’s provenance.

				In its simplest terms, provenance is the historical record of the ownership of a work of art. While that may sound basic, it is in fact quite tricky. The history of a piece could be hundreds if not thousands of years old, and there has been no standard, consistent, and regulated method for keeping such records. Thus, confusion ensues. Megan M. Fontella, associate curator of collections and provenance at the Solomon R. Guggenheim Museum, writes, “Ideally, one seeks to secure documentary evidence—such as receipts or bills of sale—for every time that an object changed hands, whether it was by gift, sale, inheritance, exchange, or another form of transaction. However, archival records are sometimes fragmentary, difficult to interpret, or worse—lost. There may be stretches of time during which the possessor and whereabouts of the object are completely unknown.”7 Combine this with the fact that each piece’s history can be as unique as the work itself, and it becomes clear that establishing solid provenance free of gaps can become daunting.

				It’s into these cracks and chasms of time that many con men insert their “newly discovered” collections, and a clever story to explain away the gap in clear provenance becomes essential to the ruse. Indeed, while the art of art theft is said to be in the selling of the art, not the thievery, the art of art scams is in the backstory, not in the picture itself. Take the story of the forger David Stein, for instance. Stein began his art scams in the mid-1960s, posing as a wealthy dealer to sell paintings by famous artists—which he had, in fact, rather deftly painted himself. Where had these paintings been up until their sale? Surely Stein, who in fact was a man of meager means and was actually born Henri Haddad in Egypt, couldn’t have bought them. So he created a persona his dupes found irresistible, provenance be damned. One of his victims, a wealthy Palm Beach collector named L. D. Cohen, attributed Stein’s success not simply to his skill at producing faked paintings, but also to his faked life story. Though Stein was in fact destitute, Cohen said, he introduced himself to Palm Beach society as a suave, attractive conversationalist. To sell himself to the well-to-do of the affluent resort town, Stein “immediately bought a Rolls Royce, which he never paid for. He ensconced himself in a beautiful apartment in the finest hotel . . . he surrounded himself with beautiful women, and before you knew it he was giving great paintings to charity to get in the limelight, and he enticed a lot of people to buy art. He really was a master showman,” said Cohen.8 Clearly, it was his act as much as his art that led to sales.

				For his part, Stein attributed another factor to his success. He told 60 Minutes’ Morley Safer that dealers were willing to overlook signs that his paintings were not what they were purported to be “because they want to make money. They are not very scrupulous about making money. They close their eyes even if they have some suspicion about a painting . . . the whole art market is like that.” But greed aside, this was the work of a man whom Cohen described as “a con man par excellence.”9 Ultimately, Stein’s frauds resulted in arrests, imprisonment, deportation, and years spent evading creditors.

				History is filled with men who, in their day, were described as possibly being the greatest forger ever to have lived. Rather than being viewed as criminals, they somehow come to be seen through an almost romantic lens. Van Meegeren’s own popularity is said to have increased after he was exposed as a fraud, with the forger thought of as a “misunderstood genius who fooled the world,” according to Lopez.10 Prolific 1970s and ’80s American art fraudster Tony Tetro maintains a website to this day in which he immodestly bills himself as “the Official Website of the World’s Greatest Living Art Forger.”11 The nineteenth-century forger of sculptures, Giovanni Bastianini, has been called “the greatest sculptor of Italian Renaissance portrait busts” without irony.12 Briton Eric Hebborn’s 1996 obituary in the Independent called him “the most successful art forger this century.”13 Artist and bookseller Michael O’Kelly goes as far as to boast that he “Studied with World’s [sic] greatest art forger, Thomas Keating, England” as part of his resume of experience on his LinkedIn page.14 Publicity for Ken Perenyi’s book Caveat Emptor: The Secret Life of an American Art Forger claims that “America’s first and only great art forger” is none other than Perenyi himself.15 Of late, the work and deceptions of Mississippian Mark Landis (called “the world’s greatest forger” by the Daily Beast’s Justin Jones) have come into vogue, with the eccentric artist the subject of a documentary film that explores his penchant for posing as a clergyman and donating his forgeries to museums across the country.16 The forger Elmyr de Hory, who is perhaps most famous for his faux Modiglianis, was the subject of a book by Clifford Irving titled Fake!, which describes him as “the greatest forger of our time.”17 (Incredibly, in 2014 two forgeries said to be painted by de Hory were pulled from a New Zealand auction when his sole legal heir, the ironically named Mark Forgy, discovered that the paintings were actually fakes of de Hory’s forgeries.18)

				Similarly, patterns emerge among forgers. They appear to typically be middle-aged men frustrated by their own failures as artists (or perhaps the failure of the art world to recognize their greatness). They are often brazen braggarts and perhaps overconfident of their own skills. They tend to gravitate away from the Old Masters and toward Impressionists and Abstract Expressionists, simply because they are much easier to make. They also operate in the realm of oil paint and sketches, staying away from watercolors. According to professional artist Meghan Weeks, there’s a good reason for this. “When you make a mark in oil, it is, in some sense, in stasis; the texture of your brushstroke holds on the canvas, and you have plenty of time to evaluate and change it before drying. If it doesn’t meet the desired ‘look,’ you can always scrape it away or paint over it. A brushstroke in watercolor, on the other hand, feels completely volatile . . . the pigment can dance around after you apply it to a surface.”19 Thus, there is too great a chance of error and, thus, too much skill and effort required.

				The notable connoisseur and onetime director of the Metropolitan Museum of Art Thomas Hoving famously claimed in 1996 that approximately 40 percent of all art in museums is either a fake or a forgery.20 More recently, Yann Walther, the chief of Switzerland’s Fine Art Expert Institute claimed that estimates of 50 percent of art on the market being forged or misattributed are likely conservative.21 Whether or not these figures are accurate, there clearly exists in the art world a problem with fraud.

				Fortunately, there are devoted people with brilliant minds working to combat it. Dedicated researchers around the world continue to make advances in the field of provenance research. The International Foundation for Art Research conducts authentication research for museums, private owners, and virtually all others that it can accommodate. IFAR’s services are in high demand, due in fact to their excellent reputation and, as they state, their status as a nonprofit educational institution “free to render objective opinions independent of the marketplace.”22 Moreover, a number of institutions seem to have come to recognize the importance of provenance research in a wider context. Jane C. Milosch, a Smithsonian Institution curator, recently formed a team of provenance specialists from across the institution, and the Museum of Fine Arts in Boston appointed a first-of-its-kind curator of provenance, Victoria Reed, to research works both in the existing collection and those considered for acquisition with histories that might be questionable.

				If the field of provenance research has grown steadily in terms of activity in recent years, scientific advances in the art authentication process are traveling at light speed, to the point where science now provides us with the capability to catch even the cleverest fraudster. To lend some perspective as to how far the scientific analysis of paintings has progressed, a 1997 article from Newsweek magazine is illustrative. The piece, which centered around concerns about as many as 100 paintings attributed to Van Gogh that might not have been painted by the great Dutchman, makes the claim that “the only way to authenticate a Van Gogh is through stylistic analysis, which is always a bit subjective,” depicting the prospects for authentication as bleak.23 Today, the possibilities are much greater.

				Drs. Nicholas Eastaugh and Jilleen Nadolny are at the forefront in the field of combining science with extensive training in the fine arts. As they have adeptly pointed out in a paper discussing the results of their work on recent noteworthy art forgeries, the work of the technical art researcher is too demanding to be left to one whose expertise lies only in science while lacking experience examining fine art. Instead, the technical art researcher “ideally has mastered skills in technical art history and art technology science.” To do otherwise and limit the field to pure “science,” they argue, “is to ban such professionals from a club composed of art historians, art dealers, art conservators and so forth.”24 In other words, what makes the work of the technical art researcher so unique is that the analysis of a questionable painting is not merely the work of a person trained solely in the sciences reading printouts produced by a computer. Instead, it is the work of the scientist who understands the nuances of paintings, of the artists, of the materials. They write, “It is not simply the use of ‘science’ as it exists in the popular imagination, but a deep and rigorous interdisciplinary analysis of materials and historical technology that should be applied, and recognized, as the appropriate protocol in cases when potential forgeries are studied.”25 Such protocols are useful not just in finding fakes, but also in attributing authenticity. In the summer of 2014, the National Trust in Great Britain used such techniques to verify as authentic a Rembrandt self-portrait that had been in doubt for half a century. Researchers were able to use advanced technology to prove that Rembrandt’s signature on the painting, long thought to be questionable, was in fact applied to the canvas at the time the painting was executed.

				Armed with this sort and breadth of expertise, technical art researchers like Eastaugh and Nadolny are able to turn to a wide array of diagnostic tools. But first, they carefully examine the canvas, the stretcher, or the panel; markings, seals, or labels found on the work; layers or ground and priming on the canvas; underdrawing or preparatory work; the pigments used as well as their binding agents; the artist’s technique; patina and signs of aging; and conservation treatments.26 In tandem with the collection of this information, the technical art researcher is then able to consider the result produced by futuristic-sounding technologies like positioning scanners, high-performance color/multispectral imaging, infrared reflectography, dual-laser Raman spectroscopy, and digital X-ray. When this level of technology meets the sort of training in fine arts that experts like Nadolny, Eastaugh, and their colleagues have undergone, the prospects for forgers grow dim with every passing day.

				But of course, before science can be used to detect fraud, the defrauded must submit it to examination. And the one thing that science cannot combat is the desire many people have to believe they have discovered the fine art find of a lifetime. Technical art researchers cannot compel duped art buyers to submit their acquisitions to analysis. In fact, in many cases, they likely would rather not know. And it’s that sort of wide-eyed attitude toward art—and well-known artists—that is the chief symptom of the art dupe.

				Research undertaken to determine the authenticity of works of art isn’t always done in the name of ethics and integrity. There’s often a lot of money and potential embarrassment at stake, whether it be for a private collector or a well-known institution. A solid provenance and analysis to back up the authenticity of a work pays dividends in terms of the dollar value of a piece of art. But whatever the motive for advances in authentication, the work done by leading minds in the field will only help to protect the artists and owners alike.

				A note about terminology: throughout this book, the terms forgery and fake are used quite often. In popular media, the two are often used interchangeably when discussing art. In a piece titled “Fakes and Deception: Examining Fraud in the Art Market,” criminologists Kenneth Polk and Duncan Chappell expertly parse the meanings of the words. They clarify that often times “there is a tendency to apply the term ‘fake’ when there is no demonstrable intention to defraud.”27 For the purposes of this book, the term fake is used only in instances when fraud is intended. Furthermore, Polk and Chappell explain that, in a legal context, forgery applies only to the forging of documents or writing. For instance, forgery is a more legally correct term for a manufactured document used as provenance than it is for the actual painting it purports to support. Nevertheless, contemporary parlance has co-opted the word forgery to describe a painting executed in the style of an artist and then fraudulently sold as having come from his hand. Throughout this book, whether an artist creates paintings that are “fakes” (exact unauthorized replicas of existing works passed off as the original) or “forgeries” (paintings created by an artist in another’s style and name without authorization), I adhere to the conventional use of the term forger to describe him—and it is virtually always a “him.” While women are frequently active if not integral players in the schemes used to sell fraudulent art, the most notorious of history’s forgers are almost exclusively men.

				I suspect that those fraudsters listed earlier, and surely others, will scoff at the fact that their story is not told in detail in these pages: modesty is not the strong suit of the forger. There are countless scams that have been perpetrated against innocent—and not so innocent—art buyers over the years, and there is no indication that they are decreasing. Furthermore, it’s not possible to cover every conceivable scheme; it would take a mind much more corrupted than my own to imagine them all. Rather, this book explores the most noteworthy and illustrative of frauds from a multitude of angles within the art world, with a wide variety of inventive cons all focused on illicitly monetizing the creative genius of others. And this much is sure: there will be more scams and new criminally imaginative approaches to them. Moreover, it’s likely that there are forgers, even prolific ones, whose stories have not and might not ever be told, while their works hang in galleries, homes, and even museums bearing the signatures of better-known artists. In the pages to follow you will find art scams from a variety of unique angles, as well as the clever investigative efforts that undermined them. Even as you read this sentence, someone somewhere is concocting a new scheme to use art to make a fortune by bypassing the hassle of ethical behavior.

			

		

	
		
			
				One

				The Forger

				Wolfgang Beltracchi went out antiquing with a list of very particular items in mind. Searching diligently through the goods at a local flea market, he soon found just what he was looking for: a vintage 1920s camera and a few rolls of old film to go along with it. He also picked up some enlargers and trays to develop the film. Beltracchi had a bit more difficulty finding 80-year-old paper from the prewar era, but eventually he succeeded there too. With his photographic wares in hand, he headed home and studied the items, intent on creating authentic-looking period pictures.

				Beltracchi’s wife, Helene, a slim woman with strong features and graying light-brown hair, was excited by her creative husband’s find and a willing and eager subject for his foray into period photography. Donning what she described as “the kind of blouse that grandmothers used to wear”1 and a strand of pearls, she pulled her long hair back, adopted the somewhat dour expression of her grandmother Josefine Jägers, and sat up straight at a simple two-chair table upon which rested a cup of tea and a small bouquet of flowers. Wolfgang snapped a few photos of her, careful to include the paintings that hung behind her on the wall—works attributed to masters of surrealism, including Max Ernst and Fernand Léger. These paintings, and many others, were part of a large collection of art that was said to be long absent from the waiting eyes of art lovers everywhere, and that would soon be unleashed to the world from the “Jägers Collection.”

				Wolfgang developed the black-and-white photographs of Helene-as-Josefine and closely examined the results. That they were slightly out of focus only added to the impression that they were taken in a bygone era. The finished product lacked but one feature, which he quickly and masterfully improvised by taking scissors and crimping the edges. The couple, who proudly described themselves as hippies, looked at their finished product, quite pleased with their results. But this wasn’t some fun little project for a scrapbook, or a simple form of cosplay between the pair. Instead, the Beltracchis had created something more cunning, and even devious. They had created provenance.

				Provenance is proof of the ownership history of a work of art. It is invaluable in establishing authenticity and, in turn, plays a vital role—perhaps the vital role—in determining value. While ironclad scientific proof of authenticity can often be extremely difficult to establish, solid provenance can make or break the sale of a painting. Because Helene had taken to selling valuable artwork that she claimed her grandfather—Josefine’s husband—had left her, the Beltracchis were well aware of the need to prove that the paintings were what they purported them to be. Helene—the salesperson of the pair—had no sales records or receipts for the paintings, no decades-old titles to the works left behind by her family. Nothing aside from Helene’s story of her grandfather and, of course, the obvious skilled handiwork and creativity displayed by each artist in the treasure trove of Impressionist paintings she had for sale. And, thus, the need to produce a record of ownership—like a historic family photograph—became important. After all, the story behind each and every artwork in the world is different, and the art world can be a very murky place, costly to enter and often subject to intrigue.

				There are a large number of missing paintings in the world. Some have simply been misplaced by cash-strapped museums unable to retain a skilled registrar on staff to manage the many paintings bequeathed to them by generous art lovers. Others have been destroyed, perhaps by an unfortunate fire or some other accident. Some are in the possession of anonymous collectors who do not wish to make public the value of their irreplaceable works, or have obtained the art under less-than-ethical circumstances. Still others have been stolen and simply disappeared, the thieves unable or unwilling to return them to their rightful owners, even in cases where “no questions asked” and rewards are offered.

				Other perilous conditions for cultural property include wars and political upheavals. And while national crises can mean jeopardy for collections both public and private, the evils of the Nazis during World War II marked a particularly vulnerable time for the world’s great art and antiquities. From widespread looting, to collectors hiding their fine art, to the bombing of buildings and churches holding untold beauty, the scale of the disruption to the world’s art is difficult to comprehend, never mind measure. With a large portion of the Second World War fought in European nations rich in masterworks, it’s no surprise that an enormous number of paintings were put at risk under a variety of circumstances, including the wicked looting of art conducted by Hitler’s Sonderauftrag Linz (Linz Special Commission) in an effort to meet his vision for the world’s greatest museum—the Führermuseum—in his Austrian hometown. The Third Reich also implemented a program to rid the world of what it described as Entartete Kunst, or “degenerate art.” This term was used to describe the work of the Modernists of the era, including such notables as Paul Klee, Marc Chagall, and Wassily Kandinsky. Such was the Nazi contempt for Modernism that the party curated an exhibition of the so-called degenerate art featuring 650 works, each accompanied by a label describing for the viewer exactly what was wrong with coexisting with such deviant works. Never mind the fact that one of National Socialism’s leading figures, chief propagandist Joseph Goebbels (who himself utilized a perverse form of bigoted Impressionism in an effort to pollute the national mood), had expressed approval for some pieces in the degenerate art show; this paradoxical exhibition was meant to show the people what the party believed they should no longer see. As the art writer James Gardner writes, “How ironic, however, that in their desire to purge the nation of this Expressionist threat, the Nazis set out to destroy what was, in fact, the first truly original form of German art . . . to have emerged in nearly five centuries, since the time of Dürer and the elder Cranach.”2

				The Nazi effort to purge its burgeoning yet doomed empire of degenerate art resulted in the confiscation of thousands of works, with a relatively small but unknown number of them being destroyed. It was against this historical backdrop that the breathtaking collection of Werner Jägers was introduced to the world by his granddaughter, Helene Beltracchi.

				According to Helene, Jägers was a frequent and faithful customer of Alfred Flechtheim, a renowned Berlin art gallery owner. Flechtheim enjoyed enormous success dealing in works by the biggest names in the art of his day, including Van Gogh, Picasso, Matisse, and Cézanne, as well as representing important up-and-comers in Germany such as Paul Klee and George Grosz. So great was Flechtheim’s influence in the art world in his time that today a commemorative plaque marks the spot of his Berlin apartment. After a first gallery collapsed while he fought for Germany in World War I, Flechtheim reestablished a gallery in Düsseldorf in 1919 and opened another in Berlin in 1921.3 By then, Flechtheim was a leader in the art scene in Germany, living as extravagantly as the clients he served. As was the case with virtually all Jewish businesses, though, the rise of Hitler meant the demise of Flechtheim’s galleries and collection, and his road from celebrity art dealer to exile was, of course, paved by the Nazis. Within just six months of their rise to power, Flechtheim was broke and living in France, his life reduced to one of intense panic and loss. His friend Thea Sternheim would write, “What horrifies me the most is the senseless fear that has taken hold of Flechtheim. In a completely empty restaurant, he looks left and right, even during the most harmless conversations, to make sure that no one is listening to us.”4

				It’s hard to blame Flechtheim for his paranoia. His impressive and important collection of art was gone, with most of it auctioned off by his requisite Aryan partner. To make matters worse, no documentation survived the sale of his property. And when he died suddenly in 1937 after contracting an infection, Flechtheim left no estate behind. Even his widow’s art collection was lost to the Gestapo after she committed suicide rather than be deported to Minsk in 1941.5

				Now, decades later, some of the art that had been dealt by the great but tragic Flechtheim was emerging from darkness, as Helene Beltracchi began to offer for sale the paintings her beloved grandfather Werner Jägers had bought from him. But despite the fact that Flechtheim’s story was well known among a wide array of European art dealers, some still demanded provenance from Helene, backing her into a corner to come up with some sort of proof that her family had owned the Modernist paintings she was selling. Thus, for the Beltracchis, the falsified photographs that she and her husband produced were a necessary evil. It was clearly fraud, but millions of dollars were at stake, and the staged pictures seemed a rather harmless crime considering the fortune at stake.

				Additional efforts were made to prove the authenticity of the paintings in Helene’s Jägers Collection. For instance, the Beltracchis paid esteemed art historian Werner Spies a huge sum—rumored at over half a million dollars—to appraise seven of their works attributed to Max Ernst.6 Spies’s stamp of approval on the paintings would make their authenticity ironclad; the influential historian was not just well schooled and experienced, but had also been friendly with Ernst himself.7 Spies’s conclusion: all seven were unquestionably painted by the late surrealist Ernst. Spies’s fee was money well spent: the certificates of authenticity the expert provided proved to be a boon for the Beltracchis, allowing them to sell at least five of the Ernsts from the Jägers Collection, including La Forêt (2), which was purchased from the pair for $2.3 million and ultimately sold for $7 million.8

				Helene’s first sale was much more modest. In the early 1990s, she approached one of Europe’s leading auction houses, Lempertz, with a painting she said was by Georges Valmier, a French painter whose styles evolved from Impressionism to Cubism and finally to Abstractionism. Almost immediately, the appraiser sent by Lempertz was ready to make a deal, and Helene settled on a final price of 20,000 deutschmarks (about $15,000). Years later, the painting would sell for $1 million.9 Though it would be a few more years before she would present the Jägers Collection to the world, Helene was intoxicated by the thrill of selling her Valmier to Lempertz. As she would later tell Vanity Fair, “The first time, it was like being in a movie. It was like it had nothing to do with me. It was another person—an art dealer, whom I was playing.”10

				If she saw herself as an actress, she had found herself a dream role. And Helene rose to the occasion. She offered a painting called Mädchen mit Schwan (Girl with Swan) to Christie’s, and when they raised the topic of provenance, Helene smoothly explained the story of her grandfather Werner’s collection; to bolster the provenance, she pointed to a label that was affixed to the reverse of the painting that read “Sammlung Flechtheim” (Flechtheim Collection), and beneath it, “Heinrich Campendonk.” This was more than enough to convince the esteemed auction house’s expert, Dr. Andrea Firmenich, who authenticated the work. Christie’s proceeded to include Mädchen mit Schwan in its October 1995 auction of German and Austrian art, featuring it in its catalog and writing in the lot notes section: “This large colourful work is typical of Campendonk’s style between 1917 and 1919 when Flechtheim was his dealer.” It goes on: “The composition of a nude in a landscape with animals, a recurrent theme in Campendonk’s work, stands as a symbol of purity—both of Man’s unity in his natural state with Nature and of his original innocence in Paradise.” The lot notes conclude “Dr. Andrea Firmenich has kindly confirmed the authenticity of this work.” The catalog lists the provenance of the painting as “Alfred Flechtheim, Dusseldorf” and “Werner Jaegers, Cologne” and states that the painting was exhibited in Düsseldorf at the Galerie Flechtheim in 1920. At the October 11, 1995, auction, held on King Street in London, the painting, lot number 158, sold within its estimated range at a price of $106,178.11

				Works by Heinrich Campendonk figured prominently in the Jägers Collection. While the German Expressionist’s paintings regularly fetch prices in the six figures and more, he struggled with financial woes early in his career, falling out of favor with his parents, who had urged him to follow a more profitable path as a clothing designer. Fortunately, the break Campendonk needed soon came: in 1911, he caught the eye of none other than Alfred Flechtheim, who convinced him to move to Bavaria. Flechtheim provided him with a monthly stipend that brought stability to his life and allowed him to live in Sindelsdorf, near the homes of Wassily Kandinsky and Franz Marc. This new setting and community had a positive impact on Campendonk’s career, influencing his work and elevating his place among the famous German Expressionists.12 So it’s certainly no surprise that a number of his masterpieces would end up in the hands of Flechtheim and, in turn, Werner Jägers.

				Helene had other Campendonks for sale, one of which would eventually be purchased by legendary comedic actor Steve Martin. Aside from his success on the big screen, Martin is a passionate art collector and the author of a highly successful art-based novel, 2011’s An Object of Beauty. The book showcases the comic’s incisive observations of the world of fine art dealing in Manhattan, telling the story of a young art broker grappling with the moral issues of her chosen line of work; it also dabbles in art crime. At the center of the story is the world’s most valuable stolen painting: Johannes Vermeer’s The Concert, stolen in 1990 from Boston’s Isabella Stewart Gardner Museum. In 2004, the fine art–loving comedian paid $860,000 to Cazeau-Beraudiere, a Paris gallery, to add Campendonk’s Landschaft mit Pferden (Landscape with Horses) to his private art collection, which already included works by Picasso, Francis Bacon, Lucien Freud, and Edward Hopper.

				The Campendonk painting from the Jägers Collection that made the most significant splash in the art world was undoubtedly Rotes Bild mit Pferden (Red Picture with Horses). Presented to Lempertz for auction by Helene’s sister Jeanette on behalf of the Jägers family, the painting was offered at auction on November 29, 2006, at its modern arts auction. Lempertz described the painting in its catalog as having been completed in 1914 and featuring “an incomplete vertical composition of a profile, half-length female nude with yellow mask and rooster” on back. The Lempertz lot notes went on to describe a woodcut label affixed to the reverse from the Flechtheim Collection: the same Sammlung Flechtheim label seen on the back of Mädchen mit Schwan. This one included the handwritten inscription in ink, “Heinrich Campendonk/Seeshaupt/Rotes Bild mit Pferden.” There were also stickers from the Sturm Gallery in Berlin and the Emil Richter Gallery in Dresden.

				Based on the labels and the Jägers family’s backstory, Lempertz described the provenance of Rotes Bild mit Pferden as “Alfred Flechtheim; private collection, France, purchased from Flechtheim ca. 1930, since then in family possession.” Again, Dr. Andrea Firmenich’s work—this time in terms of her published study on Campendonk—was cited. Clearly, Jeanette, like her sister Helene, had done well in establishing the provenance of key pieces of her inheritance. And it paid dividends: Lempertz, which had listed an estimated price of 800,000 to 1.2 million euros for the painting, sold it at a “World Record Price” of 2.9 million euros to Trasteco Ltd. of Malta.13

				Trasteco had no intention of taking chances with its huge investment. After speaking with Modern Art experts in Geneva from Artvera’s Gallery, the buyers decided to contact Lempertz seeking paperwork to establish solid provenance. Lempertz replied that they had authenticated the painting by speaking directly with none other than Heinrich Campendonk’s own son. Unsatisfied with this as the only testament as to the painting’s authenticity, Trasteco decided to contact an expert on Campendonk and looked no further than the painting’s lot notes. Dr. Andrea Firmenich had written her doctoral thesis on Campendonk and authenticated Mädchen mit Schwan for Christie’s. And while she had raved about that painting’s “intense, shining, expressive colorfulness,”14 something about Rotes Bild mit Pferden didn’t quite sit right with her. So she turned to science for answers and submitted the painting to the Doerner Institute in Munich, where results of their testing left chemists skeptical about the authenticity of the painting. They stopped short, however, of an outright condemnation.

				With questions still unanswered, another technical analysis was commissioned through Friederike Grafin von Bruhle, who was working on behalf of the buyers.15 This time, the paintings were submitted to Dr. Nicholas Eastaugh. Dr. Eastaugh’s credentials for such work were impeccable. Before studying art conservation and art history at the esteemed Courtauld Institute of Art in London, he was trained as a physicist. Perhaps most significant to the task at hand, Eastaugh had a world-class background in the study of pigments. He cofounded the Pigmentum Project, a program dedicated to using a combination of science and art history to study pigments, and had been called upon by a number of museums, galleries, auction houses, and collectors to analyze works.16

				Eastaugh’s results were definitive and startling: Rotes Bild mit Pferden could not be the work of Heinrich Campendonk. The testing confirmed the presence of a pigment—titanium dioxide white—used in the painting that was not available in 1914, when the painting was supposed to have been completed. Even the unfinished sketch on the back of the painting and described in the lot notes was a forgery, containing another period-inappropriate pigment, phthalocyanine green. “It was a normal job,” Eastaugh said. “It came in for analysis, I did my job, I wrote a report. The report came to the conclusion that it couldn’t possibly be what it was representing itself to be. So, to that end, the report was essentially saying that this painting’s a fake.”17

				Still curious about the “Sammlung Flechtheim” labels, Firmenich had another idea: she reached out to modern art expert Ralph Jentsch in October 2008 to get his assessment of the sticker on the back of the painting. Jentsch was also a wise choice. As the managing director of the estate of Modernist painter George Grosz, Jentsch was well schooled in the subject of Flechtheim, from whose gallery Grosz paintings were confiscated by the Nazis. He knew well the appearance of the Flechtheim Gallery labels. Jentsch took a close look at the garish caricature of Flechtheim on the label on the reverse of Rotes Bild mit Pferden and his reaction was immediate: he burst out in laughter.18

				Jentsch had no doubt that the label was a fake. Alfred Flechtheim was a man of impeccable taste and elegance. He’d never have used a label with such an image. Moreover, Jentsch knew that the labels the art dealer did use bore no image of him whatsoever. “There is no way he would have permitted such a silly portrait,” Jentsch said.19 Firmenich asked Jentsch what he knew of the art collector Werner Jägers, who was said to have purchased a large collection of paintings from Flechtheim. Jentsch had never heard of him. Everything about the painting was faked. Yes, industrialist Werner Jägers did live in Cologne at the time of Alfred Flechtheim, but if the two had ever truly crossed paths, Jägers would have been but 16 years old and hardly in a position to amass a world-class collection of paintings. And though Jägers was, in fact, the grandfather of Helene, virtually everything else about her story was fiction. Far from an associate of Flechtheim, Jägers was a member of the Nazi Party with no known serious art collection.20 Furthermore, the art she offered for sale was not part of an old family inheritance, accumulated in a home belonging to the Jägers dynasty near Cologne in the Eifel Mountains. Rather, the entire collection was being created on the spot by her husband, Wolfgang Beltracchi. The attribution to Campendonk, the sketch on the reverse, and even the labels were all the creation of this master Modernist who also happened to be a master forger.

				That Wolfgang Beltracchi is a skilled artist is beyond dispute. Now in his early 60s, he is an intriguing figure.21 With his shoulder-length graying hair and matching Vandyke beard, he looks every bit the master painter. Though a criminal, the man who is perhaps the world’s greatest living forger seems an almost endearing figure. He’s full of wit and playfulness and has an almost impish attitude toward the years he spent creating frauds for an untold number of willing dupes all too eager to hand over a fortune for what he created in the name of another.

				The young Wolfgang, whose surname was Fischer before he adopted the name of his wife, took up painting in his preteen years. The son of a man he described as a church painter and restorer, he tells of watching his father copy the works of the Old Masters and vividly recalls pointing out his father’s mistakes and questioning his process. He describes himself as a sort of prodigy who displayed signs of talent so striking that his father stopped painting for two years after seeing his son’s first effort, completed in just an afternoon. Later, when he was admitted as a highly gifted student at the school of applied arts in Aachen, he again stunned older artists with his mastery of his medium, even prompting one instructor to accuse him of turning in work that couldn’t have been his own. He was ultimately expelled from school at the age of 17 while he was working at—of all places—a strip club for supplying his fellow students with less than appropriate reading material, but he took it in stride. “I wasn’t overly interested in going to university. I spent most of my time in a café on Südstrasse. I liked sitting in that coffeehouse.” Seeking another way to support himself, he turned to the thing he could do best: painting.22

				Wolfgang produced a variety of works for money, and also began his career as a forger, producing paintings for sale at flea markets, with some frauds among them. He traveled Europe, creating paintings in downtown areas and finding that he could make a decent income selling his works. His oeuvre at this point consisted of “the unpainted works of Old Masters at first, and later Art Nouveau and the Expressionists.”23 It was a harbinger of a career to come.

				In the 1980s, Wolfgang gave the working world a try, co-owning an art gallery. Predictably, he found a day job unfulfilling and fraught with the sort of pressure to which he was unaccustomed. “I had to sit in an office, which wasn’t for me,” he said. “Suddenly I had a guy breathing down my neck who was mainly interested in making a lot of money fast.”24 So he returned to producing highly profitable forgeries, earning so much money that he soon bought an 80-foot sailboat he named Voodoo Child and hired a crew to man it. A few years later, when the money stopped flooding in due to a drop in the art market, he turned to a film project. And that’s when he met his future partner in crime, Helene.

				On the first day he met her in 1992, Wolfgang told Vanity Fair, he decided that he would marry Helene and have a family with her. By the second, he had introduced her to the world of art forgery. “So you’re an art counterfeiter?” she asked. “Exactly. That’s my work. That’s my métier,” he replied.25 With the art market on the rebound, Wolfgang knew there was more money to be made. Impressed that she took the news of his vocation in stride, he asked Helene to join him in his fraud. Apparently taken by the challenge and excitement of selling fakes, the working-class girl jumped at the chance. They married in February 1993 and had a child within a year. It was around this time that Helene sold the phony Valmier to Lempertz, and a legend in illicit art was born.

				Wolfgang worked hard at the art of forgery, taking great pride not only in his skill but in his historical accuracy. He went so far as to research important books on the topic of pigments, like Max Doerner’s The Materials of the Artist and Their Use in Painting, and returned to flea markets again and again to find historical artists’ supply catalogs.26 He hunted down his materials with an eye for detail, an effort he described as more difficult than executing the actual painting. “What was really complicated was finding old canvases and frames. Sometimes they could be had for €30 and sometimes for €5,000. Some of them were really beautiful paintings, and I still have them in my head today. If I couldn’t get the old paint off, I incorporated details of the old image into the new one.”27

				Wolfgang’s painting was equal parts remarkable hand skill, stunning imagination, and astonishing boldness. And while he said that the pictures could be completed in as little as two or three hours, the finished products were impressive forgeries. He fooled not only some of the most esteemed and reputable auction houses, museums, experts, and buyers in the world, but even surviving family members of the artists. Max Ernst’s expert and friend, Werner Spies, wasn’t alone in falling victim to Wolfgang; Ernst’s widow did as well. According to Helene, when Dorothea Tanning saw Wolfgang’s La Forêt (2), she called it the most beautiful picture Ernst ever painted.28 And of course, Campendonk’s son had authenticated Rotes Bild mit Pferden.

				Perhaps the key to his success was his technique of researching an artist to the extent that he could stand before the canvas and, as he described it, essentially channel him. According to Wolfgang, this was not, as some have described, merely method acting. Rather, his works were the result of the forger taking brush in hand and imagining what the artist might have—but never did—paint. His dedication to becoming the artist he was “channeling” was such that he claimed, “If the artist was left-handed, then I painted with my left hand.”29 As he told Spiegel Online International, “Every philharmonic orchestra merely interprets the composer. My goal was to create new music by that composer. In doing so, I wanted to find the painter’s creative center and become familiar with it, so that I could see through his eyes how his paintings came about and, of course, see the new picture I was painting through his eyes—before I even painted it.”30 Such was the extent of this vision that Wolfgang claims he never employed underdrawings or preparatory sketches on canvases before applying paint.31

				Fortunately for the art world, the ingenuity of Wolfgang Beltracchi more than met its match in the expertise of Eastaugh and, later, his colleague Jilleen Nadolny. Eastaugh’s thorough, science-based examination of Wolfgang’s works not only exposed Rotes Bild mit Pferden as a fraud, but also cast the artist in the same light as his paintings: he was not exactly what he purported to be. For instance, when they subjected his works to infrared reflectography, the pair found that Wolfgang did, in fact, use full underdrawings in a number of his works.32

				By 1995 he already had the police on his heels when a number of forgeries—including a Campendonk—were linked to art dealers from Aachen and were painted by a certain Wolfgang Fischer from Krefeld. But thanks to the statute of limitations, he couldn’t be prosecuted.33 Soon thereafter, the couple and their first child, a daughter, took the fortune they had amassed, sold their Viersen, Germany, home for more than a half-million dollars, bought a motor home, and headed for the south of France, where they purchased and renovated a lavish estate known as Domaine des Rivettes. They spent their money and entertained lavishly, enjoying the company of friends and hanging what visitors believed to be a bevy of masterpieces on the walls. All the while, the Beltracchis continued to capitalize on their fictitious collection. They sold an unknown amount—at the very least many dozens—of paintings, including Bateaux à Collioure, attributed to Fauvist Andre Derain, for $2 million. Another forged Derain, Matisse Peignant à Collioure, sold for the equivalent of more than $6 million.34 Meanwhile, a former partner of Wolfgang’s, Otto Schulte-Kellinghaus, was also enjoying successful sales of Beltracchi’s paintings, creating a provenance story similar to Helene’s: his grandfather, Johann Wilhelm Kops, had also tucked away important paintings and they were now back on the market. Life was good for the Beltracchis. That is, until Eastaugh applied his expertise to the Trasteco painting.

				It is ironic that Wolfgang was undone by the forged Campendonk Rotes Bild mit Pferden, a painting in which he took great pride. Interviewed about it by Paraic O’Brien of the United Kingdom’s Channel 4 News, he said, “I love my paintings, all of them. And my best Campendonk was the Campendonk they [caught] me with. That was the Campendonk with the red horses. That was the most expensive Campendonk ever sold. Nearly 3 million Euros.” Reminded by O’Brien that it wasn’t truly a Campendonk, Wolfgang replied, “Yeah, yeah, it was not a Campendonk. It was from me, yeah, yeah, sure. It was the best one.” O’Brien, seeking to parse Wolfgang’s words, asked, “Do you mean the best one of yours?” The artist clarified: “The best Campendonk.” Taken aback, O’Brien asked, “Is that what you think? You think that your Campendonk was the best Campendonk?” Wolfgang said, “Yeah, that’s a little bit difficult. It was sold as the best Campendonk that was ever sold.” O’Brien, refusing to let Wolfgang off the hook, pushed him for a definitive answer. “But was it the best Campendonk?” To this the master forger replied, “Yeah. Sure.”35 And his claims were hard to argue, given the record price the painting garnered.

				The rave reviews and millions of dollars Rotes Bild mit Pferden earned, however, could not overcome scientific analysis. Wolfgang’s biggest mistake—using titanium dioxide white—caused his undoing. Incredibly, the tube of paint that he used on the painting did not mention that it contained this post-Campendonk pigment in the list of ingredients on the label. Like the painting and artist, it was not exactly what it was purported to be. Armed with both scientific and expert analysis debunking the authenticity of Rotes Bild mit Pferden, Firmenich delivered the bad news to Trasteco. They immediately took action, hiring a Berlin lawyer to sue Lempertz to annul the sale. The lawyer also filed a criminal complaint over the sale of the painting, naming Helene’s sister in the complaint. The German authorities then began listening in on her phone calls, and subsequently became aware of the scheme and the people behind it.

				Meanwhile, Ralph Jentsch set about identifying other paintings featuring the faux Flechtheim label, and he quickly identified 15 paintings with the phony stickers. The elaborate Beltracchi scheme was now suddenly and quickly falling apart. Eastaugh and Nadolny set about examining another six works that were brought to them at Art Access & Research in London. All the paintings analyzed by the pair contained one or more pigments that were inconsistent with their alleged dates of creation.

				On the evening of August 27, 2010, as part of the biggest operation that the German art fraud unit ever conducted, Wolfgang and Helene were arrested while on their way to dinner in Freiberg. Though theirs were not violent crimes, the pair was separated and placed in solitary confinement. Life for the bon vivant Beltracchis had now taken a hard turn. Helene was diagnosed with breast cancer and the pair rarely saw each other or their children. Wolfgang spent his 14 months of pretrial detention with what he described as “real criminals: murderers, child molesters, people convicted of manslaughter.”36 And the news of their wide-ranging frauds set the art world on its head. Paintings whose provenance included the Jägers Collection popped up across Europe and the United States. Steve Martin’s name emerged in the press as having once been the duped owner of a forged Campendonk, Landschaft mit Pferden. Martin told the New York Times, “The fakers were quite clever in that they gave it a long provenance and they faked labels, and it came out of a collection that mingled legitimate pictures with faked pictures.” While he was not exactly correct—the Jägers Collection did not, in fact, contain authentic works—Martin was realistic about the problem of forgeries in the art world, adding that this was not the first time he had been tricked by a forger: “Each time you become more and more cautious.”37 Even the renowned Metropolitan Museum of Art in New York was found to have displayed a Beltracchi on its walls. Werner Spies, the Ernst expert who incorrectly identified Beltracchis as Ernsts, contemplated suicide.38 He would later be sued by one of the buyers who claimed they purchased an Ernst based on his authentication. The negative attention and liability has had a chilling effect on authenticators around the world, who have become fearful of making mistakes like Spies and suffering the same fate.

				As experts examined works determined to be Wolfgang’s forgeries, some other tell-tale signs of his work were uncovered. For instance, Eastaugh and Nadolny found that the works contained an “obviously fake patina . . . visible only as scattered deposits, not a coherent layer”; anomalies concerning the paintings’ “stretcher/strainer bars, and the various stamps and labels applied to them”; inconsistencies in the age of the nails used on the canvases and stretchers; a “disjuncture . . . between paint and ground due to the processing of the priming of the old canvas”; and “a range of physical anomalies related to the removal of the paint from an old canvas.”39 So while the forgeries were very convincing to so-called experts, they were no match for scientific analysis.

				These findings, however, were made only because of the problems detected with pigments during the initial examination of the painting Rotes Bild mit Pferden. It’s very difficult to know if these other inconsistencies would ever have emerged had Wolfgang not been done in by titanium dioxide white. As Eastaugh would later write, “The toughest call though is the first one, which perhaps goes some way towards explaining why it took so long to recognize the first Beltracchi fake and so little time to identify many more.”40 Eastaugh has also stated that “it is also rare to see a whole group together, so an individual anomaly may not be read as significant. There were though plenty of other material use anomalies that would probably have been picked up sooner or later.”41 In other words, in the opinion of a renowned expert on the matter, it was likely only a matter of time before the Jägers Collection would have been exposed.

				The trial of the Beltracchis was held in Room 7 of the Cologne District Court before Judge William Kremer. At the outset, it appeared the trial would last for more than a month, with 168 witnesses scheduled to appear over 40 court sessions. But after just 9 days, a deal was struck: Wolfgang, Helene, her sister, and Schulte-Kellinghaus would receive shorter sentences than the prosecutors originally sought in return for full confessions from all. The German courts decided it was not in the best interests of the public to spend a lot of money prosecuting the forgery ring, much to the chagrin of the German police involved in the investigation. On October 27, 2011, Judge Kremer declared all four guilty and sentenced Wolfgang to six years in prison. Helene, who was frail but in recovery from her breast cancer, received a four-year sentence. Though the trial was short, Wolfgang’s charming personality was on full display in the courtroom, and the press ate it up. “The media—and this I find upsetting—has not been critical. Huge amounts of taxpayers’ money has been wasted bringing this criminal to justice,” said Dr. Nadolny. “He confused the record on some artists, defrauded people and abused trust.”42 Nevertheless, he sat at the defendant’s table eating candies and smiling at onlookers, and both he and Helene appeared comfortable and unafraid, affectionate with each other and even making jokes. At the conclusion of the proceedings, Wolfgang declared himself appreciative of the “fairness and good spirit” of the trial and “that everyone smiled so often.”43

				Not everyone was taken with the merry fraudsters, though. One onlooker, an auctioneer who had handled a Beltracchi, said, “I wish they’d applied sharia law at his trial.”44 “This was a man who . . . made his money from stealing,” art dealer Michael Haas told a German news outlet. “Yet in the press and even in the courtroom, this is treated as something comedic. That’s just too much.”45

				The sentences handed down by the court were based on just 14 of Wolfgang’s forgeries, which sold for nearly $22 million. This limited number was presented to the court for two reasons. First, many of Wolfgang’s frauds were perpetrated outside of the statute of limitations. According to Spiegel, “Old criminal police investigations in Berlin suggest that Beltracchi had passed on at least 15 forgeries by the 1980s.”46 Second, it wasn’t until after the charges and trial that more of his paintings came to light. Ultimately, German police would release a growing list of forgeries that reached 60 by 2014, and art historians believe there may be as many as 300 Beltracchi forgeries in circulation.47

				Wolfgang has said that he has created works by about 50 artists. And he has the ego to match his obvious charm. In fact, his hubris may have been the essential part of his success. After all, taking on the challenge of not just copying but dreaming up works by history’s most successful artists takes confidence. James Martin, a conservator and scientist who has examined hundreds of paintings, says of his forgeries, “His fakes are among the best fakes I’ve seen in my career. Very convincing. Very well done.”48 In numerous interviews, Wolfgang has claimed that there is no artist, except for Bellini, whose works he could not forge. Whether all this is true or not is open to some skepticism. When told of this claim, Eastaugh replied, “I supposed he could try copying any artist; whether it would pass any form of scrutiny is another matter.” Nadolny was more direct. “It’s easy to claim after the fact. He’s never passed off a successful Rembrandt or a Titian . . . I think most likely, he’s just bragging. He stuck to a very specific type of art work—expressionists and modern.”49 In any event, copying the Old Masters was not for him. “He knew his limits and did his homework: he stuck to a very specific type of art work—lesser known expressionist and modern painters, those that have not been subject to much technical study, which were easier to obtain ‘authentication’ for than say a Van Gogh or a Monet.”50

				The Beltracchis served their sentences in a sort of home confinement called “open prison,” in which Wolfgang could spend the day with Helene, painting and working on projects such as an autobiography titled Self Portrait and a German-language documentary. The courts have ordered him to pay half of his income to recompense damages. And the paintings he produces nowadays are signed “Beltracchi” (and can earn as much as $46,000).51 He has also launched “The Beltracchi Project,” in which he paints over pictures taken by photographer Manfred Esser. But his own creations cannot compare to the paintings he completed by emulating the great Modernists. What people want are his forgeries. Even the owner of the $7 million Max Ernst forgery decided to keep it, calling it one of the best Ernst paintings he’s ever seen.52

				A final nagging question remains concerning Wolfgang Beltracchi, and that involves his motivation. Both he and his wife have said on a number of occasions that their enormous scam was not motivated strictly by money. But when asked why he didn’t merely paint his imagining of a Campendonk over his own signature, he is frank and honest: “Because then I don’t get 600,000 euros from the painting.”53 And there can be no doubt that he and Helene loved the lavish living that the fortune they amassed afforded them. But at the same time, it is also clear that Wolfgang enjoyed the game, the challenge of showing up those who are celebrated as art experts. “I am too good for them. That’s their problem. And the problem is they think they can look at the painting and say ‘that’s this or that.’ And therefore I have shown them a mirror, you know.”54

				But Wolfgang was not, in fact, too good for Eastaugh. As he and Nadolny showed, Wolfgang’s success was as much the result of authenticators and buyers who wanted to believe they had found a masterpiece as it was a matter of his artistic acumen and criminal cunning. Had those who were so willing to pay astronomical amounts for new finds been just as eager to seek authentication from technical experts, Wolfgang never would have been able to earn the vast sums of money he and Helene so happily spent living the high life. According to Eastaugh and Nadolny, “The technical means employed by Beltracchi were . . . conventional from a forger’s standpoint.” Wolfgang was merely a “talented copyist” whose only “vaguely unique” approach was his “willingness to engage with the problems of historical materials, a skill which he honed towards the end of his career.”55 Nadolny says, “Rather than allowing him to recreate a Max Ernst for the fiftieth time, why didn’t anyone ever say ‘OK then, make us a Da Vinci’? Now that would be interesting to see.”56 What truly set him apart were the willing dupes who enthusiastically parted with millions of dollars based on the myth of the Jägers Collection, forgetful of the ancient admonition caveat emptor.

			

		

	
		
			
				Two

				The Broker

				The massive fraud that was the Jägers Collection left the art world more than a little embarrassed over the relative ease with which two self-described hippies were able to con some of the most esteemed dealers, collectors, authenticators, and auction houses in the world. With nothing more than a clever backstory as provenance and a talented yet devilish artist at the easel, the Beltracchis set in motion tens of millions of dollars in deals and devastated reputations. It would seem that all of the major players in the field would have reexamined their practices and cast a cautious—if not doubtful—eye on high-value art coming on scene, especially that said to be from a previously unknown collection mysteriously hidden from the world for decades.

				But such was not the case.

				Manhattan’s Knoedler & Company was one of the oldest commercial art galleries in the United States, having operated in New York for 165 years. Situated in a stately, early-twentieth-century townhouse on East 70th Street—on the same block as the Frick Collection—Knoedler clients read like a who’s who of American wealth, including the Rockefellers, the Astors, the Vanderbilts, and the Mellons. In a headline, the New York Times called it a “gallery that helped create the American art world.”1 It’s hard to imagine a more venerated gallery or an institution with better access to the best minds in the field of art authentication. It’s harder still to believe that on the heels of the lessons that should have been learned by dealers large and small across the world from the Beltracchi affair, Knoedler would almost immediately thereafter fall victim to an American version of the Jägers Collection: the so-called David Herbert Collection.

				David Herbert’s connections to the artists who were purported to have created the art in his “collection” were solid. Unlike Werner Jägers, Herbert’s chosen avocation was in the world of artists and art galleries, and his credentials were excellent. As a young man, Herbert spent the better part of a decade working with two influential and legendary art dealers: Betty Parsons and Sidney Janis. Parsons and Janis shared not only the fourth floor of 15 East 57th Street in Manhattan, they also shared connections to some of the most important artists and collectors of the day, including major figures in the Abstract Expressionist movement like Jackson Pollock, Mark Rothko, and Robert Motherwell. Thanks to his work with giants in the New York art gallery scene, Herbert gained a great deal of experience working with these and other artists. In fact, during his time working with Janis, he established a reputation as a leading salesman of New York School artists, selling Pollock’s Arabesque and Franz Kline’s Wanamaker Block to major collector Richard Brown Baker.2

				After his work with Parsons and Janis, Herbert set out on his own as an independent dealer in 1959. He would eventually become what has been described as a significant force in helping to launch the careers of a number of artists, including Ellsworth Kelly.3 Most famously, it was Herbert who introduced a then unknown Andy Warhol to Irving Blum and Walter Hopps, founders of the renowned Ferus Gallery in Los Angeles. Though he closed his own gallery in 1962, Herbert remained very active as a private dealer, traveling throughout the United States, Europe, and Latin America.4 In 1963, Herbert took on a protégé of his own, a young émigré to the United States from Colombia named Jaime Andrade. Soon, the pair would be hosting informal exhibitions at Andrade’s Manhattan apartment. A lifelong relationship was formed, and Andrade developed into a respected gallery figure in his own right, working with a number of famous collectors while also cultivating a personal interest in contemporary Spanish and Latin American art. In 1967, Andrade went to work at the Lawrence Rubin Gallery and later followed Rubin to Knoedler & Company. It would be the start of another enduring relationship, and he remained at Knoedler for 40 years as a senior associate.5

				In the mid-1990s, Andrade introduced his boss, Knoedler president Ann Freedman, a tall, thin woman with striking gray curls, to a woman he described as “a very good friend,” Glafira Rosales, an art dealer who ran a small operation with her live-in boyfriend Carlos Bergantiños.6 Given Andrade’s connections to the Latin American and Spanish art communities, it probably came as no surprise to Freedman that Andrade would know Rosales, who is of Mexican descent, and Bergantiños, a native of Spain. The pair made a particularly good team for dealing in art: Rosales, a convincing and impeccably dressed middle-aged woman with long, dark hair and rimless glasses, and Bergantiños, a man with an eye for artistic talent.

				In 1981, a Chinese painter named Pei-Shen Qian came to the United States from China with a student visa to study at the Art Students League in New York City. Before coming to America, Qian’s early years as an art student in China were not unlike those of fellow forger Wolfgang Beltracchi in Germany. The works he produced in school were so good that his teachers doubted their authenticity, accusing him of tracing his drawings from originals. He persevered despite his teachers’ skepticism and went on to become a professional artist, albeit producing the mundane: during China’s Cultural Revolution, he was directed by the government to produce portraits of Chairman Mao Zedong for use in schools and factories.7 Though it was honest work, it was hardly the sort of creative outlet dreamed of by many aspiring artists.

				Years later, after the Cultural Revolution, a dozen artists in Shanghai—including Qian—staged an exhibition that would come to be credited as playing an important part in a rebirth of sorts for Chinese art, and he received special attention for an abstract piece he produced for the show. When a viewer of the piece told him that he could earn the equivalent of about two years’ pay for that one painting in New York, Qian sought and obtained a student visa.8 He struggled to earn a living in America, however, resorting to work as a construction worker and a janitor for some time to supplement the very modest income he eked out as a painter. His plight was a cause for consternation for Qian, at the time in his mid-40s. As his friend and fellow artist Zhang Hongtu recalled, “He was kind of frustrated because of the language problem, the connection problem. He was not happy.” Another friend described him as “homesick” and “lost.”9 While his modest earnings in New York far exceeded the $42 per month he made in Shanghai, the success and acclaim he had experienced back home were now gone, and Qian found himself reduced to peddling his paintings on the streets of New York City.

				In the early 1990s, with Qian adrift in a sea of artistic obscurity, Carlos Bergantiños came across the Chinese painter selling his works downtown. While it’s not clear whether Bergantiños set out looking for a skilled forger or if he fell victim to an on-the-spot devious epiphany, something about Qian’s work stood out to Bergantiños. Here was an artist with true skill who might be willing to earn a few extra dollars. According to Qian, Bergantiños offered him $200—the equivalent of a very long day’s work—to imitate a work of modern art by a master artist. The offer was too good to turn down, and Qian produced the painting his new patron requested. Impressed with Qian’s work, Bergantiños came up with dozens of additional projects for him, each involving paintings in the style of world-famous Abstract Expressionist artists, including Jackson Pollock, Mark Rothko, Willem de Kooning, Robert Motherwell, Barnett Newman, and Franz Kline. On each, either Qian or Bergantiños would forge the signature of the artist.10 But of course, mimicry of a painting style is but one aspect of a convincing forgery. The right materials were essential to the creation of a convincing fake. So Bergantiños visited flea markets and art auctions to purchase old paintings purely for the sake of procuring period-appropriate canvases for Qian. In order to artificially “age” newer canvases, Bergantiños would stain them with tea bags—a smart approach to take considering that tea, as an organic material, would not be easily detected by scientists examining the works. In a further attempt to make the works appear older, Bergantiños would subject the finished paintings to heating and cooling and experimented with exposing them to the elements outdoors. Ever the innovator, Bergantiños tried propping a blow-dryer over one of the forgeries in an attempt to heat it. He would seek out older paints for use by Qian in his works. And he’d even purchase old furniture at flea markets and elsewhere in order to obtain Masonite, a board used in some furniture as well as in some works by Abstract Expressionists.11

				Still, the scam was not complete without some semblance of provenance. No matter the efficacy of Qian’s brushwork or Bergantiños’s aging techniques, Glafira Rosales would need a backstory for the paintings that she would present for sale. She would have little success selling art whose origins could not be explained—that would set off red flags that she was trying to sell fakes or fence stolen works. Thus the David Herbert Collection was created.

				Rosales pitched an elaborate story to explain the fortune in Abstract Expressionist paintings she sought to broker, one that evolved as needed. Initially, she said the David Herbert Collection had been amassed by an anonymous collector who would come to be known only as “Mr. X,” and his wife. The couple, she said, knew the artist Alfonso Ossorio, and he would take them to artists’ studios where they would buy works that would be added to their collection, which was maintained in storage. Soon after, however, this story fell apart when (the now deceased) Ossorio’s longtime companion, Ted Dragon, was vehement in his assertion that this could not have occurred without him knowing about it—and he didn’t. So Rosales adjusted the story, adding additional intrigue to make it yet more difficult to vet and, therefore, disprove. The second iteration of the collection’s provenance involved an affair between the married Mr. X, a deeply closeted homosexual, and David Herbert. It was Herbert, not Ossorio, who steered his lover to artists’ studios where Mr. X bought his collection of masterpieces. To make the story yet more difficult to confirm or deny, Rosales said the deals were always—conveniently for her purposes—made in cash, thus there was no money trail.12

				Rosales used this story for only approximately 50 of the works she had available for sale. For an additional 13 or so, there was another fantastic tale. In this instance, Rosales claimed she was working on behalf of a Spanish collector who had received the works from a gallery in Spain. Rosales claimed that she and her boyfriend Bergantiños had interviewed the Spanish dealer to obtain details about his life to bolster provenance. The pair and Bergantiños’s brother Angel produced not just the forged paintings but forged documentation stating that the purported Spanish collector had certified the works as authentic.

				Armed with the faux provenance, Glafira Rosales approached two esteemed galleries: Julian Weissman Fine Art and Knoedler & Company. At the latter, Rosales’s introduction through Jaime Andrade meant a solid start to her relationship with the gallery’s head, Ann Freedman. In 1994, Freedman bought from Rosales two works by the artist Richard Diebenkorn, who had a long relationship with the gallery and had died the previous year. A problem arose, however, just a few months after the acquisition when Diebenkorn’s widow and daughter, accompanied by art scholar John Elderfield, visited Knoedler and expressed to Freedman their skepticism that the works were authentic. Richard Grant, Diebenkorn’s son-in-law and executive director of his foundation, told the New York Times, “They didn’t look quite right, and we said, ‘The provenance is wacky and the story behind the provenance makes no sense.’” Though Freedman has disputed the family’s recollection, Elderfield, a former curator at the Museum of Modern Art, remembers expressing doubt about the work to her.13

				It was later that same year that Rosales presented the story of Mr. X and described her previously undiscovered treasure trove of Abstract Expressionist works to Freedman. Rosales even produced an authentication document to be used by Knoedler, which stated that she was “the authorized agent, as well as a close family friend, of a private collector residing in Mexico City and Zurich [ostensibly, Mr. X].” It continued: “For various personal reasons the owner prefers to remain strictly anonymous as the seller. The art works [sic] were acquired by the current owner’s father directly from the artist and were passed by inheritance to his immediate heirs (son and daughter).” She further claimed “that the owner has absolute clear legal title to the [works].”14 With little additional inquiry or investigation into the story, Knoedler was all-in on the opportunity to consign the works, regardless of the sketchy provenance and changing tales.

				In March 2001, Knoedler purchased a supposed Jackson Pollock painting from Rosales for $750,000. Nine months later, Knoedler sold the painting, Untitled, 1949, to Jack Levy, cochairman of mergers and acquisitions at Goldman Sachs, for $2 million. Ever the savvy businessman, Levy wisely included a provision to the purchase that stated that he would submit the painting to the well-respected International Foundation for Art Research in New York for authentication. Should IFAR find that the painting was not an authentic Pollock, he would be entitled to a refund. In October 2003, IFAR issued its report on Untitled, 1949, stating that it had conducted archival research, expert analysis, and interviews about the painting and found the provenance story to be “inconceivable,” “improbable,” and “difficult to believe.” IFAR concluded that it “believes that too many reservations exist to make a positive attribution to Jackson Pollock.” Levy returned the forged Pollock to Knoedler for a full refund.15 It’s a source of continuing wonder why more art buyers don’t take the same precautions as Levy when spending exorbitant amounts of cash on paintings, especially considering the long history of forgeries throughout the ages. A common response involves the fact that when one approaches a gallery with the esteem and history of Knoedler, they should have a high level of confidence in their purchase.

				Knoedler was left red-faced after this mishap, and one might suspect that this would have led the gallery to end its relationship with Rosales and the paintings she was offering. IFAR’s reputation was well established over decades of outstanding work in the field of art authentication and assisting the art community and law enforcement in fighting art crime, and its results are accepted as the gold standard for provenance work. At the very least, one might expect that Knoedler would subject any future offerings from Rosales to intensive provenance research, including scientific analysis. But rather than distance itself from Rosales, Knoedler continued to buy and sell works from the contrived collection, including additional Pollocks she had produced.

				For her part, Freedman has stated that in considering any artwork for sale, it had been her consistent practice throughout her four decades of experience to enlist “scholars to research the provenance of a work that has been brought to my attention.” She said, “I have consulted preeminent experts to view the work and express their opinions about it, both orally and in writing. I make every reasonable effort to learn as much as possible about a work of art that is being offered for sale, and I then disclose to prospective purchasers the facts that I have learned—and the facts that I have not been able to learn—about the work.”16

				Not so, says Domenico De Sole. The chairman of luxury retailer Tom Ford International and former president and CEO of the Gucci Group, De Sole is a man with an undeniable eye for style and a keen business sense. In 2004, the Rome native De Sole and his wife, Eleanore, contacted Freedman about purchasing an abstract work by Irish artist Sean Scully. They figured they would spend in the neighborhood of $1 million. When they met in person to discuss such an acquisition, Freedman used her legendary sales skills to convince the De Soles to purchase a much more expensive Abstract Expressionist painting: a work by the famous artist Mark Rothko. It took less than a month for Freedman to close the deal, selling Untitled, 1956, to the couple for $8.3 million.

				It is the contention of the De Soles that Freedman went beyond innocently selling a forged work to them. Instead, they claim, the Knoedler president, in meetings with them and their consultant and agent Jim Kelly, “affirmatively and knowingly made an array of material false representations to induce the De Soles to purchase the [Rothko].”17 In addition to consistently representing that the Rothko was authentic, the De Soles say that Freedman told them the painting had been authenticated by Christopher Rothko (the artist’s son), Dr. David Anfam, who was the creator of Rothko’s catalogue raisonné—the scholarly compilation of the artist’s complete body of work—and other experts. They also claim that Freedman told them that Mr. X and Mr. X Jr. “were personally known to Knoedler” and that Mr. X Jr. wanted the painting to be sold to a collector as opposed to someone who planned to merely resell it.

				When purchasing the painting, the De Soles remained somewhat concerned about the authenticity of the painting. Whether this was because of nagging doubts or simply because they were understandably cautious given the massive price tag is not clear. In any event, the couple requested a written assurance from Knoedler as to the authenticity of the work. In a letter addressed to the De Soles’ daughter, Laura, Freedman attested to the legitimacy of the Rothko, stating that “the painting has been viewed by a number of eminent scholars on Rothko as well as specialists on the Abstract Expressionist movement.” She added that Knoedler anticipated that Oliver Wick, who had previously curated a Rothko exhibition, would be requesting that the piece be loaned to him for an exhibition at the Fondation Beyeler, a famed repository of Rothko’s works. She wrote, “Mr. Wick considers the Rothko painting, Untitled, 1956, to be of superior museum quality.” She also included a bio of David Herbert.18 The letter sealed the deal. The De Soles were now the owners of a multimillion dollar painting attributed to Rothko that had actually been painted in Queens by a Chinese immigrant.

				Like a number of history’s most famous artists, Robert Motherwell had to first meet his father’s demands before embarking on his career as a professional painter and collagist. Though the well-educated Motherwell studied literature, psychology, and philosophy at Stanford and did postgraduate work at Harvard, he decided to become an artist after visiting Paris and viewing the work of French Modernists. First, though, his father demanded that he complete his studies in art history at Columbia University in 1941 in order to ensure a “secure career.”19 Neither the artist nor his father could ever have dreamed that more than 60 years later (but just 3.5 miles away), forgeries carrying Motherwell’s name would be sold from the Knoedler Gallery for millions of dollars.

				One such painting was titled Spanish Elegy, a 11⁄2 × 2–foot painting bought by Killala Fine Art, a respected gallery based in Dublin, Ireland, for $650,000. The painting was purported to be part of Motherwell’s monumental series Elegies to the Spanish Republic. This time, Rosales had sold the painting to Julian Weissman, a well-established dealer and a former associate at Knoedler & Company who operates the Weissman gallery in the Wall Street area. In 2006, Weissman contacted Marc Blondeau, who operated Killala, to let him know that he had a Motherwell for sale. Interested, Blondeau visited Weissman’s gallery to see the work and discussed provenance with the dealer. Weissman informed him that the owner of the painting he was consigning—Mr. X Jr.—did not wish to be identified but that his parents had purchased the painting directly from Motherwell. It was the classic Rosales fabrication. Though Weissman and Blondeau had done business together successfully for a decade, Blondeau knew this was shaky provenance and told Weissman that he would require certifications from both Weissman and the Dedalus Foundation.

				In 1981, Motherwell established the Dedalus Foundation to foster an understanding of modern art. After his death, the foundation took control of the copyrights of Motherwell’s art and went to work establishing a catalogue raisonné of his work. Surely they held the expertise to authenticate one of Motherwell’s paintings for Weissman. In January 2007, the Dedalus Foundation’s president, Jack Flam, and the foundation’s executive director, Morgan Spangle, visited Weissman’s gallery and visually examined the painting, but did not subject the work to scientific testing. The results were just what Weissman had hoped: the pair declared the work to be a Motherwell and issued a letter of authenticity, writing, “It is the opinion of the Foundation that the Work is the work of Robert Motherwell.” Blondeau had an additional question: Would the work be included in the foundation’s coming catalogue raisonné of Motherwell’s works? Spangle wrote a clarification to Weissman for Blondeau stating, “Here is the letter of authenticity which is issued by the Foundation. While it does not say directly that the painting, Spanish Elegy, 1953, will be included in the catalogue raisonne which is being prepared by the Foundation, I can assure you that the painting will be included.”20

				While it is not uncommon for works to be discovered after the publication of a catalogue raisonné, it does serve as an essential source for researching provenance and authenticating works. The foundation itself described it as “a reliable corpus of authentic works.”21 Based on the fact that Spangle assured Weissman that the painting would be in the catalogue raisonné of Motherwell’s works, Blondeau decided to purchase the painting from Weissman.

				Despite Spangle’s enthusiastic tone, trouble loomed regarding the hasty authentication of Spanish Elegy. Later in 2007 and through January 2008, the Dedalus Foundation met with Ann Freedman three times to discuss the Motherwells from the David Herbert Collection. Seven purported Motherwells sold by Glafira Rosales—four to Knoedler and three to Weissman—were now thought by the foundation to be fakes because they found the explanation that the Motherwells were sold directly to Mr. X through Herbert implausible. In addition to provenance research that Flam would later describe as “just kind of fluff,”22 they told her that the Rosales Motherwells included stylistic anomalies. These findings were reiterated by Jack Flam in a meeting with Freedman on January 10, 2008.23

				Unaware that these revelations had just recently been brought to Knoedler by the foundation about Rosales and the Mr. X provenance, Domenico and Eleanore De Sole contacted Freedman requesting an insurance appraisal for the Rothko they had purchased with the same provenance. Knoedler quickly replied to the request, valuing Untitled, 1956 at $9 million—an increase in value of more than a half-million dollars. Though Knoedler was now in possession of information that the authenticity of no less than eight paintings sold by Rosales from the David Herbert Collection (the Pollock bought and returned by Jack Levy and the seven Motherwells) was, to say the least, questionable, Freedman did not inform the De Soles that there might be an issue with the Rothko the gallery had sold them using the same exact backstory. The De Soles went on to spend $64,000 insuring a painting that was, essentially, worthless—a fact that should have by now at least been on the minds of the leadership at Knoedler.24

				While the De Soles were still under the illusion that they were in possession of a multimillion dollar painting from what they believed to be a credible source—the so-called David Herbert Collection—another wealthy collector, Pierre Lagrange, was also making a purchase from Ann Freedman at Knoedler & Company. The long-haired and wildly successful Belgian hedge fund manager had heard through dealers that Knoedler had a Jackson Pollock painting on the market. Eager to invest in a Pollock that he might later sell at a profit, Lagrange was intrigued. One of the dealers, Jamie Frankfurt, contacted Freedman on Lagrange’s behalf and expressed his interest in the Pollock. To explain the authenticity of the painting, Freedman told Frankfurt that the painting was from the private collection of Mr. X, who had obtained it from Jackson Pollock himself, through David Herbert. No mention was made of the Pollock with the same exact provenance that was returned by Jack Levy a few years earlier because of concerns as to its authenticity after an expert review. Rather, Freedman further told Frankfurt that the painting had been viewed favorably by a number of important experts—whose names she provided—and, according to Frankfurt, went on to say that the painting would appear in a soon-to-be-released addendum to the catalogue raisonné of Jackson Pollock. Nevertheless, Lagrange, who was based in London, wanted to see the painting before buying it. Excited at the prospect of a major sale, Freedman agreed to ship the supposedly valuable painting to Lagrange in London. It was a wise decision on Freedman’s part—after seeing it, Lagrange decided to purchase the painting, called Untitled, 1950, for $17 million.25

				The claim about the painting being added to the Pollock catalogue raisonné is the subject of dispute between Frankfurt and Freedman. Freedman claims she merely said that she was lobbying the Pollock-Krasner Foundation for the painting’s inclusion. But in either scenario, the very idea of Untitled, 1950 being added to a forthcoming Pollock catalogue raisonné should have raised red flags: The Pollock-Krasner Foundation disbanded its authentication board in 1995 and hadn’t any plans to authenticate additional works, a fact well known to most insiders who make their business in the world of Abstract Expressionism. Furthermore, it appears that Freedman’s list of experts who had viewed Untitled, 1950 was just that—a list of viewers. Not a single one of them said they had come to Knoedler with the mission of inspecting the painting for the purpose of authentication.26

				In February 2009, Julian Weissman received a troubling letter from Jack Flam at the Dedalus Foundation. At issue was the Motherwell Spanish Elegy, about which the foundation had earlier written to Weissman stating their intent to declare the painting authentic and their decision to include it in its catalogue raisonné of Motherwell’s works. This time, Flam was the bearer of very bad news. “I am now writing to inform you that, based on new information, and per its right to withdraw the March 2, 2007 letter, the Catalogue Raisonné has determined to withdraw the letter per that right. We are at present not planning to include that painting, titled ‘Spanish Elegy,’ in the prospective Catalogue Raisonne of Paintings and Collages by Robert Motherwell.”27

				The Dedalus Foundation offered no basis for the reversal. But that drastic turnaround set into motion a series of events that would lead to the unraveling of the web of lies that were spun by Glafira Rosales to Weissman and Knoedler. Just a few months later, in the summer of 2009, Ann Freedman received an equally troubling document: a subpoena from the FBI. The bureau was now investigating the David Herbert Collection and the group behind it. By October, Freedman was no longer the president at Knoedler & Company, having allegedly been escorted out the front door of the legendary gallery after resigning.28 She would not, however, be leaving the world of dealing fine art, and began working on plans for her own firm.

				Freedman may have been committed to moving forward, but more trouble lay around the corner. In October 2010, Pierre Lagrange, who was ready to capitalize on his investment by reselling Untitled, 1950, approached Sotheby’s to discuss a private sale. Citing concerns about the provenance of the painting, Sotheby’s declined Lagrange’s overture. Lagrange was understandably troubled by this response and contacted Frankfurt, who, in turn, was in touch with Freedman. Steadfastly standing by the painting, she expressed her willingness to sell the Pollock for Lagrange through her own new gallery, FreedmanArt. Curiously, she also wrote of the Pollock-Krasner Foundation’s “plans for a new revised CR [catalogue raisonné] to include the number of discovered Pollocks since the time of its now outdated black and white publication from the mid 70s.” When asked by a representative of Lagrange’s if this update was indeed in the works at the Pollock-Krasner Foundation, a representative replied “absolutely not.”29 Exactly where Freedman was getting her information about a nonexistent Pollock catalogue raisonné is unclear. But this, of course, was the key issue in Lagrange’s efforts to deal his painting. As Christie’s wrote in a letter to Knoedler, “It is our belief, and generally agreed in our industry, that Pollock paintings not listed in the catalogue raisonné, are rarely accepted in the marketplace.”30

				On February 1, 2011, Killala Fine Art filed suit against Julian Weissman and the Dedalus Foundation over the forged Motherwell painting Spanish Elegy. Three days later, Pierre Lagrange met with Freedman’s replacement at Knoedler, Frank DeLeo, to discuss his Pollock purchase. Lagrange’s demand was clear: rescind the sale of the Pollock and refund his money. DeLeo refused, citing the opinions of experts who had provided “positive opinions” about it.31

				Hoping to rid himself of the problem painting, Lagrange then approached Christie’s to see if they, unlike Sotheby’s, would be willing to sell his problem Pollock. Again, questions about the provenance of the painting—Rosales’s Mr. X story—caused consternation. Christie’s was clearer still, outlining the issue related to the David Herbert story and requesting the name of the anonymous consignor (Mr. X Jr.). Knoedler stubbornly refused to furnish the information, with DeLeo informing Christie’s that the gallery was “not able to provide you with any additional information with respect to this work other than what Mr. Lagrange already has in his possession.”32 Of course, it was becoming clear that what Lagrange had in his possession was not much at all. So he sought a scientific analysis of the painting.

				Nine months after Killala Fine Art filed its civil complaint against Julian Weissman and the Dedalus Foundation, a legal settlement over the phony Motherwell Spanish Elegy was concluded, and the agreement between the parties would prove to be the turning point for the Glafira Rosales scam. The settlement called for Killala to be reimbursed by Rosales and, to a lesser extent, Weissman. And most remarkably, the parties agreed that the spurious Spanish Elegy would be forever branded as a fraud with the following text permanently stamped on back: “After physical examination and forensic testing, the Robert Motherwell catalogue raisonne project of the Dedalus Foundation, Inc., has determined that this painting is not an authentic work by Robert Motherwell but a forgery.”33

				Meanwhile, analysts had concluded their examination of Pierre Lagrange’s Pollock in November 2011. The examination proved the painting was not the work of the famous creator of priceless drip paintings. Analysts reported that two of the paint samples “that were clearly and unambiguously integral” to the painting were discovered in 1957 and not commercially available until 1970. Pollock, who died in an automobile accident in 1956, could not have used these pigments.

				The results of the analysis were the death knell for the David Herbert/Glafira Rosales Collection, and Knoedler apparently knew it. One day after receiving the results of the Lagrange analysis, on November 30, 2011, Knoedler & Company released the following statement: “It is with profound regret that the owners of Knoedler Gallery announce its closing, effective today. This was a business decision made after careful consideration over the course of an extended period of time. Gallery staff will assist with an orderly winding down of Knoedler Gallery.”34

				The closing of Knoedler after 165 years of business sent shockwaves around the art world. Lucy Mitchell-Innes, president of the Art Dealers Association of America, told the New York Times, “My reaction is one of tremendous sadness. This is a very venerable institution that provided great art to a number of the great collections and great institutions in this country.”35

				Venerable, true, but not without previous missteps related to the provenance of works it sold. In 1998, Knoedler was sued by the Seattle Art Museum when the museum itself was sued by the heirs of Jewish art dealer Paul Rosenberg. A painting in the SAM’s collection, Odalisque by Henri Matisse, had been stolen from Rosenberg by the Nazis. In 1954, the painting was purchased from Knoedler by Prentice and Virginia Bloedel, with the couple unaware that the painting had been looted from Rosenberg. When the Bloedels sought further information from the Knoedler salesperson about the provenance of Odalisque, they received a letter from the gallery about which the court wrote, “For whatever reason, the facts set forth in that letter were false, despite the fact that Knoedler apparently had the correct information in its possession at the time the letter was written.”36 The Bloedels later innocently donated Odalisque to the SAM, but in 1996 the couple’s granddaughter recognized the painting in the book The Lost Museum: The Nazi Conspiracy to Steal the World’s Greatest Works of Art by Hector Feliciano, leading her mother to contact the Rosenbergs.37 After the SAM spent two years researching the ownership of the painting, Odalisque was returned to the Rosenbergs. The SAM and Knoedler eventually settled their federal civil suit, with Knoedler agreeing to give to the museum one or more works from its inventory or the equivalent in cash.38

				In 2003, Knoedler was sued again, this time by the Springfield Museum in Massachusetts. In 1955, the museum purchased Spring Sowing by Jacopo de Ponte from Knoedler, a painting that had been hanging in the Italian embassy in Warsaw until it was looted by the Nazis when they shut down the building. While the Italian government long believed that the painting in Springfield was the same one taken from their Warsaw embassy, they were unable to prove it until an Italian official located a photo taken in 1939, which showed the de Ponte hanging in the embassy. It was a match for the Springfield painting. As a result, the Springfield Museum returned the painting to the Italians.39 The museum sued Knoedler, seeking money damages and citing the gallery’s claim that it had examined the painting’s provenance and had clear title to sell it to the museum. In 2005 the parties settled out of court.

				Domenico and Eleanore De Sole, clearly stirred by these events surrounding Knoedler and the fictitious David Herbert Collection, also sought scientific analysis of their painting, submitting the alleged Rothko to James Martin. Martin was a sensible, if belated, choice. Educated in the field of conservation at the esteemed Winterthur Program at the University of Delaware and a Samuel H. Kress Fellow at the University of Cambridge in England, Martin’s expertise includes having conducted more than 1,700 analytical studies, as well as six years teaching paint analysis and infrared spectroscopy to the FBI’s Counterterrorism and Forensic Science Research Unit. He founded Orion Analytical in 2000, based the firm in Williamstown, Massachusetts, and equipped it with the most advanced technology for the analysis of paintings. It’s an art authenticator’s paradise, with equipment ranging from a scanning electron microscope with backscattered electron imaging to confocal Raman microspectroscopy: things a conservator would love and a forger would likely not understand. Martin is among the most well-known art authenticators in the United States. His results, too, were conclusive: “In spite of his signature, ‘mark rothko’, and date, ‘1956’, materials and techniques used to create the Painting are inconsistent and irreconcilable with the claim that Untitled was painted by Mark Rothko . . . in 1956 or any other date.”40

				Martin’s work showed that the efforts to disguise Pei-Shen Qian’s work as an original Rothko—undertaken by the artist and by Carlos Bergantiños—were no match at all for scientific analysis. In fact, the Orion Analytical report makes it clear that the painting bore indicators of fakery that were blatant. For instance, Martin’s research of Rothko’s technique helped him determine that the artist used temporarily fastened crossbars on the back of stretchers for the very purpose of retarding the development of stretcher-bar marks on the surfaces of large canvases. And while vertical crossbar marks from the painting’s support structure appear on the front and back of the painting, the stretcher holding the canvas contained only a horizontal crossbar.

				In addition, Martin discovered clear indicators that the painting was done after the crossbar marks formed, a sure sign that the canvas had been used previously. He also found the canvas to be strip-lined, a measure usually taken to compensate for a tear or weakness in a canvas. However, Martin found no reason for strip-lining. Finally, he found that “the presence of white opaque primers on the Painting (and no evidence of transparent pigmented size) is inconsistent with Rothko’s technique,” and other materials inconsistent with the artist’s work.41 In short, James Martin’s analysis decimated the best and most creative efforts the Rosales forgery ring could imagine.

				Meanwhile, FBI agents paid a visit to the Queens home of Pei-Shen Qian to question him about his role in the fraud scheme that was unraveling virtually by the day. While Qian would eventually claim to be an innocent dupe in the scam—simply making copies of famous artists for people who could not otherwise afford them—findings by investigators indicate this was not the case. During questioning by the agents, Qian lied about matters that did not match his claims. For instance, Qian told the FBI that he did not recognize Rosales’s name. He also denied having ever heard of famous artists about whom he not only owned books, but whose names he had actually painted onto the forgeries. And, most tellingly, he stated that he had never attempted to mimic the style of Abstract Expressionist artists. During a search of his home, FBI agents found paintings completed in the style of Pollock and Barnett Newman; auction catalogs and books on Abstract Expressionist artists and techniques; and even an envelope of old nails marked “Mark Rothko.”42

				More than 60 forged paintings created by Qian and brokered through Rosales and Bergantiños were sold to just two galleries: Knoedler & Company and Julian Weissman Fine Art. In all, Rosales and her cohorts received over $33 million selling their faked art, an amount that pales in comparison to the $80 million taken in by the two companies. And while the largesse they made would lead to a mountain of lawsuits and badly damaged reputations for the galleries, Freedman, and Weissman, the millions that Rosales and Bergantiños made would prompt the feds to pursue the pair as they did Al Capone: they indicted them for tax evasion and related charges.

				The U.S. government put together an airtight case against Rosales, showing that the money she received from the sales of the paintings did not, in fact, go to a Mr. X Jr. in Spain. Instead, she and Bergantiños kept the ill-gotten gains. And of course, they failed to claim this income on their tax returns either as individuals or business owners. The feds were also able to determine that Rosales kept her money in a foreign bank account, a fact that she failed to declare. Faced with 99 years in prison, Rosales decided to plead guilty in hopes of leniency from the court. She also agreed to forfeit the $33.2 million and her 5,000-square-foot, $2.4 million home in Sands Point, New York, and to pay restitution not to exceed $81 million, though it’s not clear how she would do so.43

				Carlos Bergantiños didn’t stand by his girlfriend. Instead, he and his older brother Jesus Angel Bergantiños Diaz fled the United States to avoid arrest and decades in prison, taking cover in Seville, Spain. Authorities sought the pair for months before finding them in a luxury hotel in April 2014. Carlos, overcome by the arrest and facing extradition to the United States to answer for his massive fraud, suffered an anxiety attack that landed him briefly in the hospital. Within days of their capture, the Bergantiños brothers were indicted by the United States for crimes including wire fraud and money laundering, with Carlos facing additional charges for defrauding the IRS, filing false tax returns, and willful failure to file a “Report of Foreign Bank and Financial Accounts,” charges he shared with Rosales.44

				Like the Bergantiños brothers, Pei-Shen Qian, now 75 years old with his name emerging in the media and up to his neck in trouble for the lies he told the FBI, left the United States and returned to his native China. It’s an ideal choice for a fugitive from American justice: China and the United States do not share an extradition agreement, and it’s quite unlikely that Qian will ever be forced to return to the United States to answer for his crimes.

				Qian’s departure came despite his insistence that he was innocent of any wrongdoing. Speaking to Bloomberg News in a rare interview with Western media in December 2013, he said, “I made a knife to cut fruit. But if others use it to kill, blaming me is unfair.” Qian called the whole forgery scam “a very big misunderstanding.” The paintings, he believed, wouldn’t be taken seriously. “It’s impossible to imitate [the masters]—from the papers to the paints to the composition.”45 But Qian’s behavior runs contrary to his claims. Though he received a few thousand dollars per painting at first, prosecutors described a seminal moment in the relationship between the brokers and their artist: Qian spotted one of his creations in a booth at a Manhattan art show priced very far above his fee and then held out for more money from Bergantiños, who boosted Qian’s payments to up to $7,000 per painting.46 This, of course, was little more than pennies on the dollar compared to the cuts that Bergantiños and Rosales took in, but on the other hand, Qian was now obviously aware that he was not producing cheap, obvious fakes. Still, he continued to produce art for Bergantiños and Rosales. Further, Qian’s lies to the FBI and the evidence they unearthed (including the Rothko nails) did not point to the behavior of an innocent man. But the world will probably never see all of the evidence against Qian put before a jury of his peers. Instead, he will likely spend the rest of his life in Shanghai in the studio where he still paints.

				Aside from Rosales and the Bergantiños brothers, it appears unlikely that anyone else will ever be prosecuted for the $80 million David Herbert Collection forgeries. But the scam left a disaster in its wake. A storied gallery was closed, buyers were defrauded, the courts were flooded with enormous civil suits, and respected art dealers had seen their reputations suffer.

				In contrast to the sense of loss many felt with the loss of the venerable gallery, the famous face of Knoedler, Ann Freedman, became the subject of ire for some buyers. Pierre Lagrange was incensed at her role in the sale of the phony Pollock. Domenico and Eleanore De Sole filed suit against her and Knoedler over the fake Rothko, accusing her of abdicating her responsibility and having reckless disregard for the truth in a civil complaint. John Howard, the head of a multibillion-dollar private equity firm, also sued Freedman, likening the whole affair to “a joke on the art world.”47

				While some may question Freedman’s integrity in legal filings and interviews, it would be quite difficult to argue that after spending many decades building a first-rate career as an art dealer and rising to the top spot in one of the country’s oldest and most venerable galleries, she decided to take a criminal turn. Further to the point, it was revealed that Freedman had herself purchased a 12 × 18-inch Pollock from Rosales. The painting, which might seem like a bargain at only $280,000, was later found to feature an important error: Pollock’s signature was spelled “Pollok.”48 In her defense, Freedman argues, “discreet sources are my stock in trade,” and that throughout her career she had dealt with sellers who insisted upon anonymity. Besides, Rosales responded to one of Freedman’s requests to know more about the mysterious X family by saying, “Don’t kill the goose that’s laying the golden egg,” insinuating that Freedman’s requests to meet him would irritate him. Worse yet, in Freedman’s estimation, was the possibility that other dealers could be bidding against her.49 Thus, she had to seize the moment.

				After the fall of Knoedler, Freedman was subjected to widespread second-guessing in the media from colleagues in the world of art dealing. One such dealer was Marco Grassi, the owner of Grassi Studios in Manhattan, who was harshly critical of Freedman’s role in the controversy, telling New York Magazine, “This has ruined one of the greatest galleries in the world. It has trashed a lot of people’s money. It seems to me Ms. Freedman was totally irresponsible, and it went on for years. . . . A gallery person has an absolute responsibility to do due diligence, and I don’t think she did it. The story of the paintings is so totally kooky. I mean, really. It was a great story and she just said, ‘This is great.’”50

				Freedman, unwilling to let her reputation be attacked any longer, filed suit against Grassi, alleging defamation, libel, and slander, and maintaining that she subjected the Rosales paintings to due diligence, sticking to her claim that numerous experts, scholars, and critics had agreed with her assessment of the works as being authentic. The embattled art dealer said that she went “well beyond what is customary” to ensure the art was authentic and that “few galleries would have sought even a quarter of the confirmation Freedman demanded before selling these works.”51 She cited one instance where the former conservator of the Mark Rothko Foundation carefully examined every work Rosales brought to the gallery. “That conservator found the works to be classic works of the artists,” Freedman argued. She also quoted art dealer Ernst Beyeler, who described one of the Rosales Rothkos as a “sublime masterwork.”52

				Ann Freedman is far from incompetent. But she also is no criminal. In fact, a former member of the FBI’s Art Crime Team asked to review the case for an expert opinion described her actions as “inconsistent with a fraudulent intent.”53 Instead, it seems far more probable that she was intoxicated by the prospect of being part of the unleashing of a heretofore unknown collection on the world, just as so many others who have been duped by clever con men were. That’s not to say she was acting altruistically: ego, greed, and acclaim were also possible components of what seemed like an ardent desire to believe that the unlikely was fact. How else to explain an expert dealer’s willingness to buy into a provenance story that not only evolved drastically, but revolved around characters named Mr. X and Mr. X Jr.?54

			

		

	
		
			
				Three

				The Art Ponzi Scheme

				While she was busy selling what turned out to be millions of dollars in forgeries from Glafira Rosales, Ann Freedman was interviewed by New York Magazine about another major figure in the Manhattan art gallery world, Larry Salander. In what might or might not have been a case of projection, she said, “Larry always has some mystery. Success for him was to find the undiscovered painting, to prove this was a masterwork against all odds.”1 If Freedman’s evaluation may have offered a glimpse into her own psyche, it was accurate nonetheless when it came to Salander. Salander was at the time working feverishly on two major shows that he saw not only as a financial necessity, but also as a grand moment for the art market the world over. One exhibition, to be titled Masterpieces of Art: Five Centuries of Painting and Sculpture, would feature the works of true classical giants such as Rubens, Correggio, Botticelli, El Greco, Titian, and Michelangelo.

				Masterpieces of Art represented Salander’s deep interest in what he saw as truly valuable art—that of the classical masters. Speaking to the critic James Panero, Salander made a blunt comparison between the prices fetched by the work of contemporary artists versus that of the Old Masters: “Our society now values a Warhol for three times as much money as a great Rembrandt. That tells me we’re fucked. It’s as if people would rather fuck than make love.”2

				Salander’s other show, Caravaggio, which he curated with the art historian and dealer Clovis Whitfield, would not only further Salander’s goal of emphasizing the value of the Old Masters: it was also a natural headline grabber. The show would be centered on a classical painting called Apollo the Luteplayer, which had last been sold in January 2001 at a Sotheby’s auction of important Old Master paintings and arts of the Renaissance in New York. At the time, the auction house listed an estimate for the painting at a range of $100,000 to $150,000—a relatively low figure for the work based on the fact that experts consulted by Sotheby’s deemed the painting to be from the circle of Michelangelo Merisi, called Caravaggio. The work was likely simply a copy based on existing Caravaggio works featuring a lute player hanging at the Metropolitan Museum of Art in New York and at the Hermitage in St. Petersburg, Russia.

				When he saw the Sotheby’s auction catalog—which stated that the work might have been created by Carlo Magnone—Whitfield was taken with the image of Apollo. Working on behalf of an anonymous American client, Whitfield went about examining the painting further. He was no novice: in addition to running a London art gallery, Whitfield was educated at both Cambridge and the Courtauld Institute of Art. He would go on to write Caravaggio’s Eye, a detailed study of the artist’s revolutionary approach to painting. Of Apollo he said, “We had an idea that it was something more interesting. When I went to New York to look at the painting and put a lens close to it, I thought it was electrifying.”3 So taken was he that Whitfield advised the American to buy it, and he did so for $110,000. It turned out to be quite a bargain. When Whitfield had it analyzed closely by paintings conservators, they found evidence that the painting was not a copy at all. For instance, X-ray analysis revealed that the artist had made corrections to the picture that indicated he had changed course in the midst of painting it, including changes to the profile of the lute player’s hands. That’s not something an artist would do had he simply been copying an already-completed painting onto another canvas. Further analysis showed that the canvas bore preparatory incisions that were indicative of Caravaggio’s technique.4

				Despite the findings, Sotheby’s remained unmoved. “Were we to take the painting in for sale today, we would definitely not catalogue it as by Caravaggio,” a spokesman said.5 But both Salander and Whitfield were undeterred by Sotheby’s stubborn refusal to budge. After all, no one expected Sotheby’s to suddenly tell the world that they had mistakenly undervalued a piece of art by tens of millions of dollars. And furthermore, the pair had to be buoyed by the approval they received from Sir Denis Mahon, one of the world’s most respected experts in Italian art of the Baroque period, about the painting. With a newly attributed Caravaggio headlining his exhibition, Salander knew he had something the art world could not ignore. Here was a true Old Master who met all the criteria for top billing and a sky-high asking price: previous high prices, a very low number of available paintings, and an important place in art history. And added to this was the emerging information about his fascinating life. Put simply, Caravaggio was a rock star.

				Today, Caravaggio is considered an innovator, described by British artist and photographer David Hockney as having “invented a black world that had not existed before, certainly not in Florence or Rome.” “Caravaggio,” Hockney adds, “invented Hollywood lighting.”6 Perhaps this was because the Milanese artist’s life was filled with a great amount of drama and turmoil, which included a duel over a woman, a purported murder, and imprisonments. Despite such turbulence, he did not want for commissions, and though his first works sold for very little, he eventually captured the eye of collectors, leading his fellow artist Giuseppe Baglione to complain that Caravaggio “was paid more for his individual figures than others for history paintings.”7

				Today, his paintings are worth astronomical figures. In 2006, almost a year to the day before Salander’s planned exhibition, it was announced that the restoration of a Caravaggio that had been found in the attic of an Italian church was complete. The painting’s value was estimated at more than $110 million. A similar value was attached to his painting The Taking of Christ.8

				So Salander, emboldened by these estimates and eager to make a splash with his important shows, attached an ambitious price tag to Caravaggio’s Apollo the Lute Player: $100 million—one thousand times its previous sale price. Salander’s gambit was that the art buyers would—and should—return to putting their big bucks on what he saw as the true greats: the Old Master paintings made by Caravaggio, Rembrandt, El Greco, Tintoretto, and others. In his view, contemporary art—the conceptual and sometimes downright bizarre—had been commanding top dollar for too long, and Salander saw his exhibition as the pivotal moment where it just might turn course, or rather, get back on course. He told the New York Sun that his exhibition would mark the first time a Caravaggio was sold in public and, therefore, “I’m not sure what we’re going to get for it, but $100 million is cheap. It’s the most important painting ever sold.” Apparently believing that the significance of the exhibition to his own career and the art world could not be overstated, he added, “There’s not a lot left to do after a show like this. It’s going to be a hard act to follow.”9

				The man who would reestablish the classical masters as the marquee-grabbers of the art world was born in 1949 and grew up in a respectable but modest middle-class neighborhood on Long Island. His father, the owner of a small gallery himself, died when Salander was a young man, and the tough, tenacious art lover took on the responsibility of providing for his mother and sisters. Though he didn’t finish college, he became a self-taught expert in the world of art, impressing others with his voracious appetite for all things related to his field. In 1976, well before his thirtieth birthday, Salander and a partner opened the Salander-O’Reilly Gallery in Manhattan and built it into one of America’s best known and regarded art galleries. And he himself became a major figure in the world of art, known for an unmistakable passion for his work. His friend and former employee Ron Gerston recalled that Salander “didn’t sleep at night. He ate, drank, and breathed art. When he wasn’t in the gallery selling art, he was in his office reading about art and writing about art.”10

				Salander was somewhat of an anomaly in the art world, as he was successful as both an art dealer and acclaimed as an artist. As a painter, his works were so well regarded that one of them, Crucifixion, painted in 1992, is in the collection of the Smithsonian American Art Museum. Eight feet tall, the painting is executed in the same American Modernist style upon which he first established himself as a dealer. His paintings were the subject of nine solo and ten group exhibitions. According to Gerston, “He was a painter and that’s what he cared about.”11

				His background as an artist may have been the driving force behind his passion for the art he sold, but it was his forceful, dynamic personality that suited him well for wheeling and dealing with the powerful figures who created high-value art and those who could afford it. Salander made no attempt to conceal his background and upbringing as a regular guy, and his gift of gab made him an attractive figure to other powerful men. According to art critic and writer Judd Tully, the stocky, balding, somewhat unrefined yet charming Salander was not what one envisions when they picture a high-profile art dealer in Manhattan. “He was very gruff-speaking and contrary to almost any profile you might think of in terms of what an art dealer might look like, sound like, dress like, and act like.” Yet his status near the top of the New York art world spoke for itself. “When he was in the nice digs, the Wall Street people were able to look past his eccentricity and trust this guy’s success and want to listen to him. The other people didn’t mind the eccentricities; he was an artist like they were.”12 His friend Leon Wieseltier, the literary editor of the New Republic, said Salander is “a very unusual combination of street vitality and aesthetic refinement.”13

				It wasn’t just Wall Street types who gravitated to Salander. He called many celebrities friends, including Robert DeNiro, Liam Neeson, and Bruce Springsteen. And when tennis legend John McEnroe was considering turning his SoHo residential loft into a gallery space, he turned to Salander for guidance. Salander brought him into his Upper East Side gallery in a nonpaying role to study the inner workings of the business. “You can’t learn guitar without learning the basic chords, and you can’t learn the art business without knowing the nuts and bolts,” McEnroe later wrote in his autobiography You Cannot Be Serious.14 The two became so close that McEnroe would eventually become the godfather to Salander’s child.

				Salander’s opulent lifestyle matched that of the company he kept. Wieseltier described him as “a street kid who reads Ruskin. I don’t know anybody else who so naturally recognizes the brutality of the world but lives in such a fine way.”15 He had two homes: one a 60-acre estate in Millbrook, New York, that included not just tennis courts but also a baseball field for his kids to play on; and a three-story brownstone on the Upper East Side of Manhattan that he purchased for nearly $5 million. His propensity for flying only on private jets was such that it left even DeNiro incredulous. When the pair went to Portugal, DeNiro recalled, “I saw I had a plane and Larry had a plane. It just didn’t add up to me.”16 And when his second wife, Julie, turned 40, Salander rented the Frick Collection museum for a $60,000 birthday bash. He also lavished her with a half-million dollars worth of jewels.17

				As his business grew and became more successful, Salander decided to make another major acquisition. He expanded Salander-O’Reilly Galleries to incorporate a new location on East 71st Street in Manhattan, a 45-foot-wide neo-Italian Renaissance mansion that was nothing less than spectacular. Tully described it as “One of these beautiful nineteenth-century buildings with a big staircase, beautiful rooms, beautifully appointed. You walked in and you thought, ‘Oh my god, this place is a palace.’”18 The location featured three stories of exhibition space, a greenhouse roof, and skylight-illuminated upper levels. New York Magazine raved that it was “well worth a visit in itself with its arched front entrance, velvet-walled rooms, and inlaid wood floors.”19 Such space doesn’t come cheap, especially in Manhattan. Rent for the new gallery space exceeded $150,000 per month.

				Despite the sumptuous new gallery space, all was not as it seemed in the world of Larry Salander and Salander-O’Reilly. With six children, an ex-wife, two multimillion-dollar residences, and a lavish lifestyle—not to mention two Manhattan gallery locations—to support, pressure to earn large amounts of money was intense for the art dealer. Furthermore, Salander had now embarked on his quest to bring a rebirth to Renaissance art. This meant acquiring Old Master paintings, which required that he find additional large investments. An acquaintance told the New York Post that Salander “had delusions of becoming the major American dealer in Renaissance art. He would sign any piece of paper, he was buying everything in sight. He just went crazy.”20 While some saw craziness, however, Salander saw a quest for the soul. He wrote an unpublished manuscript titled Soul Wars and told James Panero, “When I’m talking about the soul to people, they look at me like I’m nuts. But there has been a longtime manipulation of people who want to make money to dumb down the American society and rob us of the curiosity of our souls.”21

				While Salander may have seen himself on a mission of salvation, his chosen route to rescue the soul was a curious one. Burdened by intense financial pressures to support his personal and professional lives, he embarked on a number of schemes to stay afloat—which would put all he built at risk.

				One such scheme involved the art of the well-known American artist Stuart Davis, the Philadelphia-born early American Modernist whose paintings ranged from political pieces to street scenes and cafes. Davis was something of a prodigy, leaving high school to study at the Robert Henri School of Art in New York. At just 19 years of age, five of his works were exhibited at the 1913 Armory Show. His most famous work was perhaps his abstract Egg Beater series (1927), one piece of which sold for $254,000 at Christie’s in 2008.22 While Davis also taught at Yale and at New York’s New School for Social Research, he remained a lifelong artist.23 When he died in 1964, Davis left hundreds of works in his estate, the entirety of which he entrusted to his only child, Earl.

				Earl, who devoted much of his life to his father’s art, was a friend of Salander’s, and the gallery owner convinced him that he could promote and sell the collection for him.24 According to Earl, he agreed to entrust his friend with his father’s works, but he didn’t want all of the works to be sold, as they held a great sentimental value to him. Instead, Earl wanted to keep some of his late father’s works in his own private collection, and therefore directed Salander to notify him prior to putting any of them up for sale. He insisted on having a say not only in which pieces could be sold, but also at which price they should be offered. He and Salander entered into an agreement in which the gallery would take a 20 percent commission on the sales of paintings up to $1 million. For sales over $1 million, the commission would be 10 percent. A similar agreement existed for Stuart Davis’s works on paper, with Salander earning a commission of 30 percent of sales up $20,000 and 20 percent of sales in excess of that figure.

				In early 2005, Earl Davis requested that Salander prepare for him a full inventory of his father’s works. Several weeks passed before Salander provided his friend with a response, stating that he had personally verified the location of all of the Davis works and that all was in order. Months later, Earl received the inventory he requested. Nevertheless, Earl instructed Salander to stop selling any of his father’s works and to collect any pieces that were off-site so that they could be returned to him. Despite Earl’s concerns over the collection, Salander convinced him to sell one painting, Punchcard Flutter, for $2,250,000 and 12 other works for $650,000 in two separate sales. Earl recalls Salander telling him the buyers would be paying “cash on the table.”25

				It was to be a profitable sale for the works. But it would also prove too good to be true. First, Salander told Earl that Punchcard Flutter was sold for $2,125,000—$125,000 less than agreed upon. Then he told Earl that although the paintings had been released to the buyers, no payment had been received. In the end, Earl never received payment for the works. Eventually, he learned that 96 of his father’s works had been sold without Salander informing him, and that other pieces may have been “lost.”

				It was a devastating blow for Earl Davis, who considered Salander a friend and confidant whom he truly loved. But Salander’s corrupt dealing with his friend was hardly his only indiscretion. Instead, it was just one anecdote in a massive Ponzi scheme involving paintings that would leave the jaws of art power brokers agape, not only for its scope but for Salander’s willingness to victimize those who considered him a close, trusted friend.

				Like Earl Davis, John and Neelon Crawford were the children of a famous artist, the painter and photographer Ralston Crawford. Crawford’s work was so respected by Salander that his gallery hosted an exhibition of his paintings in 2001 called Ralston Crawford: A Retrospective. The show’s catalog described Crawford as a “major American artist,” and the show exhibited his range, including not just his Abstract pictures, but some of his Precisionist works as well, including Overseas Highway (1939), which was based on the road leading from Key West, Florida, to the mainland. In 2007, Crawford’s sons also asked for an inventory of their father’s works, which had been entrusted to Salander. Unhappy with a lack of response from the art dealer, the men took more immediate action than had Earl Davis. John Crawford, himself an artist, jumped into his old Dodge pickup truck and drove it into the city. He walked into Salander-O’Reilly Gallery and took all of his father’s paintings he could find, packed them into the truck, and left. Meanwhile, his brother Neelon was also being ignored by Salander. Made aware that some of his father’s works were about to be sold, Neelon called the New York Police Department. He was directed to Detective Mark Fishstein, who, as part of his work on the Major Case Squad, serves as the NYPD’s top art cop. Fishstein is one of only a handful of city police officers in the United States with expertise in art theft, forgery, and fraud, and he made a short phone call to Salander in which he minced no words. Salander, apparently aware of Fishstein’s skill as an investigator, sent off the paintings to Neelon Crawford by the end of the week.26

				Salander didn’t limit his fraud to just pilfering from artists’ estates that had been entrusted to him by selling works without notifying or properly compensating his clients. He also preyed on collectors who had come to consider him more than just a kindred spirit; for some, he was like part of the family.

				In 2004, Dr. Alexander Pearlman passed away at the age of 91. A lifelong lover of art, he would visit galleries in Manhattan weekly with his daughters and take in the work of a wide array of artists. After frequent trips to Salander’s galleries, Pearlman, a physician from Queens, formed such a close bond with Salander that the two would regularly embrace upon meeting. The sometimes gruff Salander attended Pearlman’s funeral and cried over the loss of his friend.

				Throughout their lives, the doctor’s daughters were protective of the art collection their father had assembled. It had become so valuable that his daughter Dr. Ellyn Shander remembers being instructed to tell her friends that the paintings were the work of her father in order to keep secret the fact that the artworks—including paintings by Modigliani, Manet, Cézanne, and Picasso—were worth about $2 million. As Pearlman approached the end of his life, he and his daughters discussed the future of his collection. His plan was clear and sensible: the paintings would be entrusted to his close friend Larry Salander for safekeeping.

				After the funeral, Salander saw to it that each and every painting was properly inventoried, crated, and shipped to his establishment. Shander’s mind was at ease; that is, until she heard word in 2007 of problems at Salander-O’Reilly Galleries. She made the trip into the city to see Salander in person, and instead of being greeted by the caring friend she had come to know, she was met with a refusal to see her. She was escorted from the gallery by a security guard. She would later learn that much of the precious collection had been sold, and the works that had not became embroiled in legal proceedings.27

				Not even his celebrity friends were safe from Salander’s scams. Robert DeNiro had entrusted Salander with his late father’s paintings, with an agreement on a 50–50 split on any sales. Salander had hosted exhibitions of Robert DeNiro Sr.’s works and the painter had chosen Salander as his dealer. The younger DeNiro would recall that Salander gave him “the impression he liked my father’s art, he was enthusiastic.”28 While he may have liked it, Salander and his associate Leigh Morse sold $77,000 of it to San Francisco’s Hackett-Freedman Gallery in 2007 without sharing the proceeds with DeNiro as agreed. Morse, a dealer in Salander’s employ, was found to have wired money from the sale into her own personal bank account. Ultimately, DeNiro was able to retrieve the paintings at some expense after complex legal wrangling in U.S. Bankruptcy Court.29 Morse was convicted of scheming to defraud in April 2011.30

				When it came to John McEnroe, Salander had an entirely different scam at work. This one involved selling one piece of art to multiple buyers. In 2004, the dealer convinced his good friend McEnroe to invest $2 million to buy half the interest in two paintings, Pirates I and Pirates II, by the Armenian American Abstract Expressionist artist Arshile Gorky. Salander told McEnroe that he would then flip the paintings and split the proceeds with the tennis great. But Salander only followed through on part of that plan. First, he sold the same half-interest in the paintings that he sold to McEnroe to another investor, a banker named Morton Bender. And then Salander boldly took the fraud a step further, selling Pirates II to yet another buyer and pocketing the $2.5 million proceeds. Manhattan district attorney Robert Morgenthau put it well when he summed up the scheme: “Why sell it once when you can sell it three times?”31 Ironically, Salander had once been quoted as saying that “art is the human attempt to make one plus one equal more than two.”32 Clearly, he had taken his own philosophy too literally.

				While it appears that Salander’s frauds were motivated at least in part by the debts he accumulated while trying to become the father of Renaissance art in the gallery world, he also fleeced the group that was formed to finance his purchases of that dream collection. Renaissance Art Investors was one of the biggest investors in Salander-O’Reilly Galleries and paid out $42 million for about 328 works of art from the Renaissance. RAI then consigned the works back to Salander to be marketed and sold. Yet RAI soon learned that Salander had misrepresented nearly all aspects of the investment, including the cost and source of the artwork. Salander told the investors he was buying the works from private dealers and estates primarily in Europe, when in fact many of the works were obtained from public auction houses in Europe and the United States. He also failed to report or turn over millions in proceeds from the RAI artworks. And finally, in order to cover his fraud, Salander provided RAI with forged and falsified documents ranging from invoices to inventories.33

				News of Salander’s scams spread quickly as more of his clients became aware that their artistic assets might be in jeopardy. Nevertheless, he remained defiant. When Maurice Katz learned that Salander had sold one of his paintings for $125,000 and didn’t pay Katz as agreed, Katz contacted the Maine Antique Digest, a major industry journal read by a large number of important collectors. He also spread the word that he had been cheated by the art dealer. Salander contacted Katz directly by e-mail and was apoplectic. “[You] have referred to me as a ‘crook’ among other things in conversation with a senior officer at my bank. This person and others will testify to your slanderous remarks and your balance due in your Maurer of $15,000 will seem like a pittance to the damages that that will have been caused to my business and for which I will ask for damages as well as the amount of loss actually incurred as a result of your out of bounds, unfounded and outrageous remarks . . . You have made it more difficult to put food in the stomachs of my children and I am extremely angry about it.” Ever portraying himself as the common man, he added, “If you were enough of a person it would be much more rewarding for me and less expensive for you if we settled this matter the way men did in the old days (although it would be much more painful).”34

				When he became aware of the scheme perpetrated by Salander, RAI’s head, Donald Schupak, was a force to be reckoned with—and he was not one to be bullied. In 2007, with Salander’s dream Caravaggio exhibition on the horizon and a steady stream of stories about trouble at Salander-O’Reilly Galleries in the media, Schupak kicked into action. Working to stop the exhibition from happening, he and his attorney filed a motion in the New York State Supreme Court to limit Salander’s control. He even sent a private security firm to videotape all activity at the gallery and to search people as they left.35

				With lawsuits mounting, negative press attention snowballing, and doubts about Salander’s actions and judgment at their high point, Clovis Whitfield, the man who had Caravaggio’s Apollo the Lute Player—the cornerstone of Salander’s plans—was pushed to the brink. In a scene out of a Hollywood movie, Whitfield went to Salander-O’Reilly Gallery on the afternoon of the Caravaggio exhibition and informed Salander that he was pulling his prized painting from the gallery. Salander’s exhibition—and his dreams—were dashed.

				All of this activity caught the watchful eye of district attorney Robert Morgenthau’s office, and on March 26, 2009, he announced the arrest of Larry Salander and a 100-count indictment for stealing $88 million from a bank, art owners, and investors—many of whom were friends and longtime associates—from 1994 through 2007. In all, the district attorney’s office stated that Salander had defrauded 26 victims, stealing from them essentially in two ways: first, he sold artwork he didn’t own and kept the proceeds; and second, he lured clients to invest in fraudulent opportunities. It was discovered that in one case he had sold half interest in one painting to seven people. And through the court battles and prosecution that would ensue, the enormous debts that Salander had accumulated become public. They included a $15 million mortgage on his Manhattan brownstone after racking up nearly $500,000 in costs for a series of unpaid home renovations; a $1.2 million personal loan; $1.7 million in back rent due on his original gallery (which he was forced to close not long after opening the palatial gallery on East 71st Street); and nearly $55 million due for paintings and investments, including the Stuart Davis and RAI paintings.36

				From a criminal prosecution perspective, the D.A.’s office had a mountain of evidence against Salander, and he, like so many scammers, knew he faced an opponent he could not beat. In 2010, with new district attorney Cyrus Vance in office, Salander pleaded guilty to stealing over $120 million from investors and art owners. Photos of Salander were splashed across newspapers and the internet, depicting a ruffled, beaten man. In his long statement to the court, Salander stated, “I’ve lost my life, my business and my reputation.” He sobbed as he apologized to his victims and his family and added, “I’m utterly and completely disgraced.”37 The court, however, was in no mood for his contrition. Judge Michael Obus hit Salander with the maximum sentence allowable under his plea deal: 18 years in jail, with the opportunity for parole after six served. But that wasn’t all Salander faced: he is also responsible for $114.9 million in restitution, and was embroiled in dozens of civil lawsuits as well as complex bankruptcy proceedings. Summing up the Salander affair, Manhattan assistant district attorney Kenn Kern said, “Lawrence Salander is a pathologically self-absorbed con man who betrays friends, investors, heirs and living artists.” He added that Salander was engaged in “a Ponzi scheme that would make Bernie Madoff proud.”38

				Incredibly, RAI head Donald Schupak had also been personally impacted by Madoff’s Ponzi scheme. Schupak’s then 94-year-old mother and blind sister were left penniless by Madoff’s audacious fraud.39

				Rather than rescuing souls, Salander left widespread devastation in his wake. Making matters even messier, a bankruptcy ruling out of federal court in New York related to the case caused yet more consternation for an owner when it was decided that a painting owned by a private interest but in possession of Salander-O’Reilly could be sold by the bankrupt gallery to pay creditors. But the hurt extended far beyond just finances. Decades-long friends were shocked, even crushed, by Salander’s betrayal, in what many have called New York’s biggest-ever art fraud. Onlookers were left astounded that one man could turn on those who considered him not just a friend but a trusted member of their extended family. And he left many wondering how they could have been so wrong about a person. Perhaps the answer is in the words of Dr. Ellyn Shander: “He is a sly, manipulative sociopath, a con man with no soul.”40

			

		

	
		
			
				Four

				The Trusting Artist

				On a February afternoon in 2011 in Washington, D.C., Jasper Johns sat still in his chair on the dais in the East Room of the White House alongside notables such as poet Maya Angelou, basketball legend Bill Russell, cellist Yo-Yo Ma, and billionaire investor and philanthropist Warren Buffett. Barack Obama had just placed the Presidential Medal of Freedom around the neck of one of his predecessors, George Herbert Walker Bush, to thunderous and sustained applause, when the emcee called Johns to the fore. The artist, smartly dressed in a dark suit and matching polka-dotted tie, rose from his seat and stood next to the blue podium bearing the presidential seal as Obama stood behind him holding the white-enamel, star-shaped medal that would soon be presented to him. Johns—the first painter or sculptor to be awarded the medal in 34 years—smiled as the emcee read aloud: “Bold and iconic, the work of Jasper Johns has left lasting impressions on countless Americans. With nontraditional materials and methods, he has explored themes of identity, perception, and patriotism. By asking us to reexamine the familiar, his work has sparked the minds of creative thinkers around the world. Jasper Johns’ innovative creations helped shape the pop, minimal and conceptual art movements, and the United States honors him for his profound influence on generations of artists.”1

				The awarding of the Medal of Freedom to Johns was certainly apt. His influence, especially on American artists, is profound, and his body of work is widely respected. And the reference to his exploration of the theme of patriotism was especially significant. In 1954, he painted his first American flag, and the star-spangled banner became the image with which the artist has become most commonly connected. “One night I dreamed that I painted a large American flag,” he recalls, “and the next morning I got up and I went out and bought the materials to begin it.” He came home with three canvases, plywood for mounting them, newspaper that he cut into strips, and encaustic paint. This choice in pigment gives the painting a texture that, coupled with the barely discernible strips of newsprint, begs for closer inspection by the viewer.2

				The painting was completed at a time in Johns’s career during which he was experimenting with universally recognizable symbols: flags, targets, numbers, and letters.3 As Museum of Modern Art curator Anne Umland pointed out, the subject matter was not a statement of blind patriotism or allegiance, but it did carry political overtones: “Underneath the pigment are strips of collaged newspapers. And when you really begin to look at these you can see that there are dates that are recognizable [and] they allow us to locate this painting, this flag, this timeless symbol of our nation within a very particular context, the 1950s in America, which is right in the midst of the McCarthy era and the beginning of the Cold War, when symbols such as the flag would have had a very particular and potent valence.”4 Johns’s own comment on the work supports Umland’s theory. He has said of the painting’s creation, “Well, it certainly wasn’t out of patriotism. It was about something you see from out of the side of your eye and you recognize it as what it is without really seeing it. It is the thing itself, but there’s also something else there.” However, he remains somewhat coy about the true meaning of the work. “I don’t think I want to describe it. . . . It’s probably shifted its meaning over time.”5 Perhaps most fittingly, the Whitney Museum of American Art describes it as a work that “flatters or honors the nation without genuflection.”6 The price tag for the work is undeniably high: a version of Flag offered at auction by Christie’s in the fall of 2014 was listed with an estimate of $15–$20 million, or about $100,000 per square inch.7

				Another Flag—this time a sculpture made in 1960 by Johns—led to an earlier connection between the artist and the White House in the 1960s, when gallery owner Leo Castelli, who gave Johns his first one-man show, brought then president John F. Kennedy the bronze on Independence Day. From Johns’s view, the gesture wasn’t consistent with his vision. “I thought it was the tackiest thing I’d ever seen,” Johns recalled.8 The misstep by Castelli did not damage the relationship between the pair. In fact, they would go on to forge a decades-long association.

				Clearly, Jasper Johns’s connection to art depicting the American flag is as indelible as Edgar Degas’s connection to ballerinas or Andy Warhol’s to cans of Campbell’s Soup. And regardless of the message of the painting, the image of the most iconic president of the twentieth century posing with one of his sculptures certainly did not hurt the value and importance of Flag.

				The original 1960 sculpted metal version of Flag was given by Johns to his partner Robert Rauschenberg upon completion.9 Then, in the early 1960s, Johns had bronze sculptures of the work made by taking a mold of the surface of his painting, pouring plaster into the mold, and then removing the plaster, leaving him with a positive of the painting’s surface. He gave the positive of the surface to a foundry where a process called sand casting was used to make copies. Johns had the foundry create four bronze sculptures of Flag.

				The four sculptures went very separate ways. There was the one given to President Kennedy by Castelli, which remains in the possession of Caroline Kennedy Schlossberg, and Johns kept one himself. A third was acquired by financier and art collector Joseph Hirshhorn and is currently on display at the Hirshhorn Museum and Sculpture Garden in Washington, D.C.—one of the top modern art museums in the United States. The fourth resides with the Art Institute of Chicago thanks to a bequest of Katharine Kuh, the art critic, curator, and author who also owned the eponymous Chicago gallery where she supported a large number of emerging modern artists.

				In the 1980s, Johns decided to make additional sculptures based on the original sculpted metal work he gave to Rauschenberg, and for this project he turned to Vanessa Hoheb. Hoheb grew up in her father’s sculpture studio, beginning her formal apprenticeship when she was just 16. In those early years she gained experience working on pieces for Johns and other leading artists, including Willem de Kooning, Frederick Hart, and Isamu Noguchi. Perhaps most notably, at around the time Johns approached her, she was leading the five-member team charged with restoring the skin of the Statue of Liberty.10 Hoheb’s approach was “completely different,” said Johns, because she used a negative mold in which metal was poured to make the positive. In the earlier sand casting process, the positive mold was pressed into earth and the earth filled with metal to make the sculpture.11 One other thing about the Hoheb version that made it different from the earlier sculptures was the fact that hers included the frame that was around the original; earlier versions did not.

				Johns’s project was not complete with the Hoheb mold. He then took it to the Polich Tallix fine art foundry in upstate New York around 1987 to make a silver cast of Flag. Polich Tallix has a long tradition of working with the who’s who of artists, including de Kooning, Urs Fischer, Jeff Koons, Roy Lichtenstein, and Alexander Calder—the last sculptor to win the Presidential Medal of Freedom before Johns. Upon completion at Polich Tallix, Johns elected to keep the silver cast in his home in New York.

				In 1990, Johns had more plans for Flag. This time he turned to Brian Ramnarine, an émigré from Guyana and a trusted artisan with whom he had worked a number of times before, to make a wax positive in his silver mold. Ramnarine, who operated Empire Bronze in New York and whose work was considered by Johns to be excellent, had handled casts for numerous of Johns’s small sculptures in the past. Johns’s instructions to Ramnarine were simple: he told him to make only a wax impression—not an actual metal sculpture—of Flag. At the time, Johns thought he might have his sculpture cast in gold, and wanted to investigate how much metal would be needed and how expensive it would be, thus the direction to Ramnarine to make only a wax figure. Ramnarine obliged and produced the 1 × 11⁄2–foot wax sculpture, which Johns refrigerated in his home on upscale East 63rd Street in Manhattan. Though Johns paid him in full, in cash, Ramnarine failed to return the mold from which he made the wax sculpture. Eager to get his important original mold back, Johns directed a longtime member of his staff, James Meyer, to retrieve it from Ramnarine’s foundry. Meyer came back empty-handed.

				Years later, Jasper Johns paid a visit to Paige Tooker at New Foundry New York Inc. and gave her the Ramnarine-made wax mold with a request to make a new cast of Flag in white bronze. While Tooker is certainly a very skilled craftsperson, Johns’s reasons for not returning to Ramnarine with the wax mold he had made were based on ethics rather than aesthetics. In the early 1990s, after Johns had completed his work with Ramnarine, he was approached by an individual claiming to own an original Flag sculpture and requesting that Johns authenticate it. At one point, the collector forwarded to Johns’s office a letter he had received from Ramnarine that read in part: “This is to certify that the following bronze sculpture is the contribution by artist Jasper Johns to Brian Ramnarine Flag bronze by Jasper Johns. I, Brian Ramnarine, is giving [sic] this bronze sculpture to Sewdutt Harpul.12 Please note this bronze sculpture cannot be sold or displayed in any gallery without the authorization of Brian Ramnarine. All profits sold from this sculpture is 50/50 [sic] between Brian Ramnarine and Harpul.”13 Ramnarine, who is alleged to be illiterate,14 was the apparent author of this letter, which claims that Ramnarine was gifted an authentic copy Flag by Johns.

				After numerous increasingly anxious letters from the collector, the sculpture in question was sent to Johns for his review. The artist immediately recognized that the piece’s source was his work, but that he had no hand in completing it. Examining the back of the sculpture, he found that a copy of his signature was affixed to it. He found it much too neat to be his actual signature, which he typically drew into the wax mold and thus was not as smooth as what he observed on this piece. He also found markings on the back that he had ostensibly put there, but which in fact meant nothing to him in relation to this work or any other of his creations. Unhappy with the discovery of a clear forgery, he took it upon himself to cross out the fake signature on the back of the bronze.

				Though the phony signature was enough to prove to Johns that the piece was a fake, there were other telltale signs, lest there be any doubt. “It’s finished in a way that I would not have finished it,” he would later say. “One detail is . . . that the frame is smooth along the outer edges, whereas the original piece . . . more or less imitates wood with a rough grain. That’s been polished off and removed.”15

				As a next step, Johns contacted the Art Dealers Association in New York seeking advice as how to proceed with the work. Finding them “extremely unhelpful,” he sent the work back to the collector after writing in ink on the sculpture that it was not his work. Thus ended Johns’s association with Brian Ramnarine.16

				This wasn’t the first time that Johns had encountered a counterfeit of one of his works. Art dealer Michael Findlay tells of an incident from 1969 when a friend showed him a large charcoal drawing of a coat hanger signed “J.Johns.” Something about the drawing didn’t seem right to Findlay, and he convinced the owner to allow him to show it to Johns. According to Findlay, “Wordlessly, Johns examined the work then asked if he could remove it from the frame. When he did, and turned it over, we could see that the back was softly scored in pencil horizontally and vertically. A soft ‘Ahh’ escaped from Johns. He explained that what we were looking at was the design for a mailer advertising one of his prints.” The artist was puzzled. “What should I do?” he asked aloud. After a few seconds, Johns found a red pen and across the bottom of the drawing wrote “This is not my work” and signed it with a large and distinctive signature. In a way, Findlay said, it became a work signed by the artist.17

				Kenny Scharf is an American modern artist who became a success working in New York in the 1980s. Scharf, a contemporary of Keith Haring and Jean-Michel Basquiat, came east from California inspired by the art of Andy Warhol, whom he would eventually meet and appear alongside in a group exhibition called New York/New Wave.18 A painter and sculptor, his works have consistently sold in a range up to six figures at Christie’s. In around 2000, Scharf created an edition of four sculptures titled Bird in Space, a futuristic bronze piece measuring more than three feet tall by two feet wide and inspired by popular cartoons—a frequent theme for the artist. He chose Brian Ramnarine’s Bronze Foundry and Gallery to cast this work and others because he considered Ramnarine “a great artisan” and had worked with him since 1995.19

				Unfortunately, and unbeknownst to Scharf, Ramnarine took it upon himself to make additional copies of Scharf’s work, each of them unauthorized. He then took the illegitimate sculptures and sold them to unsuspecting collectors for the same prices that Scharf’s originals would fetch. Eventually, Scharf was informed by other artists that they had seen separate copies of his works bearing identical edition numbers. It was then that he began to suspect Ramnarine of forgery and confronted him with the information. Dissatisfied with the response he received from Ramnarine, Scharf directed his lawyer to contact the district attorney’s office.20

				Producing unauthorized sculptures using the methods of Brian Ramnarine presents an especially difficult scenario to the investigation and uncovering of forgery. Whereas in most cases involving forgeries of drawings and paintings the forger has no access to the actual artist’s canvas, brushes, and paints, Ramnarine’s copies involved the use of molds willingly handed over to him by the artist himself. So when he made additional copies of Scharf’s work, the key difference between the real sculptures and the forged sculptures was merely the artist’s authorization to produce the piece.

				Take for example yet another victim of Ramnarine’s during the early 2000s, the Brazilian-born sculptor Saint Clair Cemin. Cemin preferred that his sculptures be made using the lost wax process, in which a mold is made of a sculpture in rubber and plaster. The mold is then filled with wax, which takes the exact shape of the original sculpture. The wax is put into a ceramic that hardens, at which point it is placed into an oven to vaporize the wax, leaving a ceramic shell whose cavity is filled with molten bronze. The ceramic is then broken, and the result is a bronze sculpture.

				Cemin preferred to be very involved in the process of casting his bronze sculptures: inspecting the wax mold, choosing the metals, deciding which items to cast and when, and prescribing the exact number he wanted produced. This last part is key. “The more rare a piece is, the more valuable it is. Also, in my personal case I don’t like to make too many of all a single piece. I don’t think that is necessary or there is any value to it. It devalues the work.”21 As a last step, Cemin would oversee the application of the patina to the final work by the foundry.

				In 1987, Cemin used Brian Ramnarine’s foundry to cast some sculptures for him. Cemin was directly involved in the work, as was typically his wont. Once the work was complete, he had the sculptures made by Ramnarine transported to his studio or directly to galleries. Cemin would sometimes pay Ramnarine for his work by giving him sculptures, including his works Zeno and Homage to Darwin. During this period of collaboration, Cemin worked out of a small studio and lacked adequate space to store his molds, so he left them at Ramnarine’s foundry until 1993, when Cemin moved to a larger studio.

				Two years later, unhappy with the work Ramnarine did for an exhibition in Milan, Italy, Cemin broke ties with him. When he and an assistant went to Ramnarine’s foundry to retrieve the molds that he had stored there, they found that some were missing. He approached Ramnarine, who explained that he was looking for them and might have lost or discarded them. Busy with many other projects, Cemin moved forward and gave the missing molds little further thought.

				A few years later, despite the problems with the Milan exhibition, Cemin could not find a foundry whose work was as high quality as Ramnarine’s, and he reestablished a working relationship with the foundry. Apparently pleased this time with Ramnarine’s work, Cemin gifted him two candleholders from a work he called Tree of Light. It seemed things were going well between Ramnarine and Cemin.

				Meanwhile, things were not so grand for another popular sculptor who had also employed the work of Ramnarine. In the early 1990s, Robert Indiana, the legendary Pop artist, discovered that Ramnarine had sold unauthorized sculptures he falsely attributed to him. Indiana, best known for his widely recognizable and iconic sculpture of the word LOVE (in red with the LO stacked atop the VE), took immediate action, sending associates to Ramnarine’s foundry where they seized any Indiana-related molds, sculptures, and casts.22

				Then in the spring of 2001, Saint Clair Cemin’s secretary received what seemed like troubling news. The two went to the home of collector Dr. Neil Kolsky, where the artist was shown sculptures that resembled his works, including Lady and Lion, II and Chimera. Cemin instantly recognized that these were unauthorized copies. “There was something strange about the patina that I didn’t like,” he recalled. “There was something strange about the finish. It was . . . too shiny. There was something that I wouldn’t like—I didn’t like. It made me very uneasy.”23 Further, he noticed that Dr. Kolsky’s version of Lady and Lion, II bore the same number as the copy he had given to a collector in Mexico who he knew well. Cemin also discovered that Dr. Kolsky’s two candleholders from Tree of Light were also fakes. All of the pieces came from molds that had been in the possession of Brian Ramnarine.

				Clearly disturbed by what he found, Cemin gave Kolsky an original sculpture that he had brought with him in exchange for the forgeries. He packed the bad copies into his car, took them to his studio, and destroyed them. Some months later, Cemin found another unauthorized copy of one of his works—this time a table—in Ramnarine’s foundry. Upset by what he had discovered, he confronted Ramnarine, who, remarkably, told Cemin he could take the table home if he paid for the cost of making it. Cemin responded by smashing the table to pieces right there in the workshop and left.

				As it turned out, Ramnarine had made a large number of unauthorized copies of Cemin’s work, some of which the fraudster dated before Cemin even began sculpting, and this amounted to criminal acts that impacted the artist greatly. “When pieces appear on the market with duplicate numbers, false dates, wrong names, no provenance, completely different finish . . . it is devastating to me, to my career, and to my credibility,” said Cemin. “I think the worst part is the misrepresentation of my work. I work very hard to have . . . pieces that correspond to my vision . . . I am a very well known artist and all of a sudden you have [a] minor gallery that sells the work for a very low price that doesn’t correspond to the reality of my prices with the wrong name, wrong date, and the sculpture is not authorized.” He added, “This is devastating for my profession.”24

				On October 10, 2002, based on information provided by lawyers for Kenny Scharf, Saint Clair Cemin, and others, Brian Ramnarine was indicted by a Queens grand jury and charged with defrauding two art collectors of $140,000 by selling them what were essentially worthless unauthorized copies of sculptures. Five months later he avoided time in jail by pleading guilty to the charges. The 48-year-old artisan was sentenced to five years probation and was ordered to pay $100,000 in restitution.

				Ramnarine’s reputation took another hit after his guilty plea. At the time of his sentencing, the Queens Chronicle reported, a pair of his former foundry employees came forward with claims that Ramnarine hadn’t paid them fully for years and was deeply in debt. Joseph and Miro Krizek, who made mold castings for him for five years, claimed that their paychecks often bounced and that he had borrowed tens of thousands of dollars from them. In all, the Krizeks claimed that Ramnarine owed them more than $80,000. “He’s a tremendously mean person,” Miro said. “He has absolutely no shame.”25 Ramnarine’s subsequent behavior would prove her right.

				A criminal conviction for fraud based on the creation of forgeries should have ended Brian Ramnarine’s career as an owner of a fine art foundry. “It’s a golden rule,” Kenny Scharf said. “If you ever want to work again, you just can’t do that.”26 But Ramnarine went back to work not long after his term of probation had expired. And the work he chose was again the peddling of unauthorized sculptures by famous artists.

				In 2010, with the memory of earning illicit income selling forged works apparently more enticing than the prospect of another indictment and conviction, Ramnarine endeavored to sell an unauthorized version of Flag by Jasper Johns. According to a federal indictment, this time he asked an associate to contact an auction house regarding what he said was a bronze Flag created in 1989. He also utilized several art brokers who were in frequent contact with an art collector who lived in the western United States. Ramnarine, whose motive in his prior frauds was alleged to be an effort to overcome his debts, was looking for a big score. His asking price for the purported bronze Flag: $10 million. With that sort of money on the table, the West Coast collector understandably raised questions about the provenance of the sculpture. In response, Ramnarine provided his broker with a fictitious letter dated August 23, 1989, stating that the sculpture was a gift from Johns to Ramnarine. Ultimately, Ramnarine showed the potential buyer’s representative the sculpture. He even falsely stated that he had an ongoing relationship with Johns and could facilitate a meeting between the two. In fact, Johns stated that at the time he hadn’t been in contact with Ramnarine in 20 years.27

				As a result of his attempt to bilk the West Coast collector out of millions with a forged sculpture, Brian Ramnarine was indicted for fraud on November 14, 2012, this time by a federal grand jury. The next day, FBI agents arrested the foundry owner, now 58 years old, at his home in Queens. At his arraignment, Ramnarine pleaded not guilty to the charges and was granted bail by the federal magistrate. Incredibly, while out on bail, Ramnarine continued his criminal ways, undertaking efforts to defraud an online gallery located in Queens by selling them two fake sculptures—Two and Orb—that he fraudulently claimed were made and authorized by Robert Indiana. He also again sold fakes attributed to Saint Clair Cemin to the gallery. In all, he swindled his victim out of $30,000.28

				In January 2014, his case went to trial in federal criminal court in the Southern District of New York, with the subsequent crimes involving the online gallery added to the charges against him. The trial quickly gained national headlines when it was revealed that Jasper Johns, arguably America’s greatest living artist, was set to testify as a government witness. In a remarkable—if not surreal—day of testimony, Johns and Cemin both took the stand and testified at the Daniel Patrick Moynihan Courthouse in Manhattan. Cemin told of the wide-ranging fraud that Ramnarine had committed involving the unauthorized reproduction of his works. And later in the day, after his secretary Sarah Taggart had testified, Johns took the stand.

				Johns is notoriously terse, and the prospect of hearing the octogenarian artist answer direct and cross-examination was a rare opportunity for those in the courtroom (federal trials are not televised). But if the defense was hoping that Johns’s legendary laconic nature and his status as a contemporary artist might make him difficult to discern for a jury, their hopes were dashed when he took the stand. Johns described the process of making sculptures, his activity surrounding the iconic sculpture, and the way in which Ramnarine had betrayed him in clear and understandable terms. When asked by a prosecutor if he had given Ramnarine the multimillion-dollar painting as a gift, Johns replied with a chuckle, “No.”

				Little more was needed to convince Ramnarine and his attorneys that their prospects were dim. Facing a maximum term of 80 years in prison (including 20 for the crimes he committed after his arrest), he pleaded guilty just days after Johns’s testimony, admitting to three counts of fraud. As part of the plea deal, he also agreed not to challenge any sentence of ten years or less in prison administered by District Court judge John G. Koeltl. In their sentencing recommendation to the judge, prosecutors sought a severe sentence, departing from the opinion of federal probation recommendations and arguing that Ramnarine’s pattern of behavior warranted stiff punishment. “Here, the defendant pled guilty on the fifth day of trial, only after six witnesses had powerfully testified against him,” assistant United States attorney Daniel Tehrani wrote. Arguing against the prospect of Ramnarine receiving a lesser sentence because he pleaded guilty, Tehrani continued, “Because the defendant did not admit to his criminal conduct until after the Government had compellingly begun to prove its case (including presenting virtually all of the evidence of the Cemin fraud), [an] acceptance of responsibility reduction is not merited.”29

				Before his guilty plea, Ramnarine and his attorneys gave indications to Judge Koeltl that they intended to introduce an argument involving one of Jasper Johns’s assistants as part of their defense. That assistant, James Meyer, was the man who had originally and unsuccessfully attempted to retrieve the mold for Flag back in 1990. Incredibly, Meyer had appeared in federal district court related to the theft of Johns’s works within just days of the artist’s testimony in US v. Ramnarine. But Meyer’s appearance was not related to Ramnarine’s crimes. Instead, he was also arrested by federal agents in an unrelated investigation for selling works by Jasper Johns that he claimed were gifts from the artist.

				James Meyer is an artist in his own right, albeit not in the same stratosphere as Johns. He has received some critical acclaim for his work, much of which addresses perceptions of suburban America. His love of creating art extends back to his grade school days, and he has said that school was where he “saw that drawing was the only thing [he] did well.”30 Soon, he would be asked to create murals while still a student and would eventually move to Washington, D.C., as a young man to begin his career as a professional artist. By the early 1980s, however, he had moved back to New York, where he would occasionally see his paintings shown at local galleries.31 At 22, he was earning $6 an hour selling copies of other artists’ masterworks to restaurants.32 But soon he would win praise for his paintings and ultimately saw his works included in the collections of the National Gallery of Art and the Whitney Museum of American Art. By 2014 his work would appear in more than 50 group shows.33 Undoubtedly, his work under Jasper Johns had a great influence on his career and would prove to be the key to his rise in standing as an American artist.

				Meyer describes himself as barely aware of the work of Jasper Johns when he knocked on the door to the artist’s studio looking to apply for a job as an apprentice in July 1985. With the artist unavailable to greet him, he left his resume and slides of his work with an assistant of Johns’s and went home, whereupon he discovered that he had no other copies of his resume to use for other applications. He returned to the studio with a request to make a copy of the materials he had left and, by happenstance, met Johns in person. The artist, apparently intrigued by Meyer, told him he could have the materials back after the two spoke for a bit. “Two hours later, he hired me,” Meyer said. “[He] told me to come back the next day.”34 Meyer went on to serve Johns as one of his small, select group of studio assistants for more than a quarter of a century, becoming so trusted that he was given the responsibility of traveling to St. Martin every year to prepare Johns’s home studio for his annual three-month stay on the French side of the island.35

				Meyer’s skill set benefited greatly from his exposure to the techniques and style of his mentor. But it was Johns’s mental approach to his work that impacted him greatest. “Most important, however, Jasper has taught me to think about what I’m making before I make it.” He has also professed his own love for using encaustic painting—the same technique Johns used in creating Flag—after being taught his mentor’s method. “For a long time I didn’t work in it out of respect for his medium,” Meyer told Matthew Rose in a long interview in 2005.36

				Meyer’s so-called respect for Johns came into question in 2014 when he was arrested by the FBI after being indicted by a federal grand jury for selling 22 works he stole from Johns’s studio. According to the indictment, Meyer perpetrated a six-year scheme to defraud Johns that ultimately netted him $3.4 million. Meyer’s scam, the FBI found, involved a component that was now all-too-familiar to Johns: he claimed that the 22 works he removed from the studio were gifted to him by Johns. He then told both gallery owners and potential buyers this fiction, and produced phony provenance by creating fake pages from the official ledger book of authorized works kept by Jasper Johns to present to buyers. Ultimately, a Manhattan gallery sold the works for about $6.5 million.37 In August 2014, Meyer pleaded guilty to a fraud charge before Judge J. Oetken.38 The gallery, unnamed in the indictment, was not charged with a crime.

				While federal prosecutors did not charge the gallery with a crime in the scheme, at least one party did not see them as innocent dupes of Meyer’s scam. On May 8, 2014, Frank Kolodny filed a civil suit against James Meyer as well as the gallery involved in the sale of Johns’s art—which he named as Dorfman Projects LLC—in federal district court, alleging fraud and seeking compensatory damages. In his civil complaint, Kolodny claimed that Meyer stole the artworks from Jasper Johns’s private studio and, “with the aid and assistance of the Dorfman defendants,” sold him the purloined piece for $400,000. Kolodny’s suit also claimed that the affidavits produced by Meyer authenticating the works were notarized by Fred Dorfman’s wife.39

				Kolodny’s suit alleged that aspects of both Meyer’s story and the art he was selling should have raised red flags to Dorfman, considering that Dorfman Projects had been in business for more than three decades and that proprietor Fred Dorfman is a respected specialist in twentieth-century art. For instance, Kolodny stated that it “defies credulity” that the gallery believed Meyer would have received “gifts” from Johns valued at $6.5 million. (As to why he as the buyer would believe that the works were gifted to Meyer, Kolodny points to information he received that Johns had given his longtime administrative assistant an original work as a wedding gift.) Further, none of the 22 works, created in the 1970s, had an exhibition history, which, Kolodny stated, was simply implausible. But perhaps the greatest concern should have been raised by conditions that Meyer insisted upon, said Kolodny. These included a demand that the sale of the works remain confidential and that they “not be re-sold, loaned, or exhibited during Johns’ lifetime.”40

				The civil case notwithstanding, with the evidence against him overwhelming and indisputable in the criminal case, James Meyer pleaded guilty in federal court to theft charges in relation to the 22 works he stole from Jasper Johns.

				As the chaos surrounding allegations of criminal activity swirled around Jasper Johns, he prepared for a new exhibition at the Museum of Modern Art in New York. The exhibition bore a relevant and poignant title: Jasper Johns: Regrets. The title referred to the words he used to sign most of the pieces in the show, which consisted of two paintings, ten drawings, and two prints he produced—probably not coincidentally—contemporaneous to the height of the Ramnarine and Meyer affairs. According to MoMA, the title of Johns’s exhibition “call[s] to mind a feeling of sadness or disappointment,”41 emotions that undeniably the artist must have experienced firsthand upon learning of the stories of alleged multimillion-dollar gifts that he never really gave, made up by once-trusted associates.

				The show features images based on a photograph of the artist Lucien Freud seated on a disheveled bed, his head in his hand in an image that screams of dejection. Interestingly, Freud too was a victim of art crime when his painting of his friend Francis Bacon was stolen in 1988 and not seen since (Freud himself designed a “Wanted” poster for the painting that was posted around Berlin in 2001). In a 2014 interview with FT Magazine, Johns was asked his thoughts on the apparent betrayal by his longtime assistant Meyer. “Certainly not a pleasure,” he said in his typically understated manner. Referring perhaps to both the ongoing litigation and the distress he had to feel over what had occurred in the past years, he added, “But I can’t talk about it. I don’t want to talk about it. I don’t want to define it in any way.” Apparently closing the book on the matter, he avoided self-pity by alluding to the title of his exhibition and saying, “Regrets belong to everybody, don’t they?”42

			

		

	
		
			
				Five

				The Inheritor

				Many libraries throughout the United States have on their walls and in their archives impressive art collections that are often overlooked by their patrons. And central branches of libraries serving major cities aside, it is often a guessing game as to which boast art that is of great cultural or historical significance and, therefore, high monetary value. Sometimes, wealthy benefactors bequeath prized pieces of their collections to a cherished library. Other times, an artist who is the town’s favorite son or daughter might decide to donate some works to the library in order to make an indelible mark in his or her hometown’s venerable institution. These works can range in value from pieces worth little more than the canvas they are painted on to millions of dollars. In Boston, Massachusetts, the great artist John Singer Sargent didn’t merely donate some of his priceless works to the main branch of the Boston Public Library, he turned a portion of the building into a work of art all its own.

				The main branch of the BPL, designed by noted architects McKim, Mean & White, is one of the last American buildings whose design was an attempt to mirror the great buildings of Europe both architecturally and artistically. And it succeeded, in large measure because of the breathtaking murals contained within, including one of Sargent’s greatest accomplishments, his Triumph of Religion. Though considered perhaps the greatest portrait artist of his era, Sargent embraced the opportunity provided to him by the trustees of the BPL to secure his place among the great artists by embarking on an ambitious project in a genre considered to be superior to portraiture—the mural.1 Temporarily turning his back on portrait painting completely, he chose a challenging time to embark upon this test, starting his project for the BPL shortly after the completion of another work by perhaps the best muralist of his time, Pierre Puvis de Chavannes, whose Muses of Inspiration Acclaim Genius, Messenger of Enlightenment adorns the library’s grand staircase. And another acclaimed artist, Sargent’s friend Edwin Austin Abbey, also contributed to the mural projects at the BPL, completing his most famous painting, The Quest for the Holy Grail, after 11 years of work. Sargent’s decision to dedicate himself to a significant mural made sense—already established as the nineteenth century’s premiere portrait artist, he understood that, especially during his era, murals were the standard by which artists were measured. Monumental wall paintings in public buildings or churches were considered the key to enduring fame as a great artist, continuing a tradition that went back centuries to the time of Michelangelo, Raphael, Giotto, and others whose classic frescoes endure today as landmark artistic accomplishments.

				Sargent’s decision to tackle the BPL commission was a prudent one, and it went a long way toward solidifying his place in the annals of great artists. Of Triumph of Religion, art critic J. Walker McSpadden wrote in 1923 that the “foundation of Sargent’s popular fame was laid in 1890, when he received a commission to decorate a hall in the Boston Public Library.” He added that the work “carried the name of Sargent into every corner of the United States.”2

				Triumph of Religion is regarded as a multimedia masterpiece, enhanced by reliefs consisting of plaster, papier-mâché, metals, stencils, glass jewels, and gilded or painted commercial wall coverings.3 The BPL would later come to describe Sargent Hall as “‘an American Sistine Chapel enshrined within a place of learning’ . . . the object of ‘worship’ here, however, was not the Christian deity of the ‘original’ Sistine Chapel in the Vatican, but rather the informed and enlightened subjectivity that education could produce.”4

				In the concluding phase of Sargent’s work, the hall was at last transformed into what conservators would later describe as “a highly ornate expression of [Sargent’s] distinctive aesthetic vision.”5 Rather than creating frescoes for his murals, Sargent employed the marouflage technique. This allowed him to complete his paintings in his studios in Britain rather than scaling up scaffolding and working in awkward positions. Upon completion, his murals would be rolled and shipped to the United States and affixed to the library’s walls.6

				A key component to this vision was the installation of gilded plaster moldings patterned after flowers, vines, leaves, dolphins, and shells. Just as his painted works were affixed to the walls by craftsmen, Sargent’s motifs were designed and molded by the artist himself, but their casting and installation was entrusted by Sargent to his young assistant, Boston sculptor Joseph Coletti.7

				Coletti was described as a “gifted and personable young man” who hailed from the working-class suburb of Quincy, Massachusetts.8 He soon became a protégé of Sargent’s, who by that time was already established as one of the leading artists of his era. Coletti so impressed Sargent while assisting him on his murals at the BPL that Sargent later not only got Coletti into Harvard, he also paid his tuition.9

				Coletti’s talents are on display throughout greater Boston, and at least one of his works has been viewed by untold millions of people. Since 1934, every driver entering the east end of the Sumner Tunnel, which provides access under the Boston Harbor from Logan International Airport and into downtown, has seen the bronze relief Coletti created to honor the famous Massachusetts abolitionist senator Charles Sumner. More than 75 years later, Coletti’s work still adorns the facade of the tunnel, depicting two angels, each holding an automobile in her hands. His talents are also on display along the famed Charles River Esplanade, where his bronze sculpture of David Ignatius Walsh—the first Irish Catholic to serve as a governor and, later, a senator from Massachusetts—stands in the area adjacent to the Hatch Shell, where each Independence Day the Boston Pops performs the nation’s most venerable birthday concert. To be sure, Coletti’s career was in no small measure launched by the influence, mentoring, and direct assistance he received from the estimable John Singer Sargent.

				On a seasonably warm Florida day in May 2010, David Wilson traveled to Pompano Beach, Florida, to meet Luigi Cugini, 68, an art connoisseur and the president and director of Art Forum, whose collection of paintings would be the envy of a small museum. Wilson, a jewelry broker with an affluent clientele, had become interested in branching out into the world of fine art, and when a few of his clients inquired about his ability to find for them valuable paintings with the same aplomb with which he acquired gems, he was eager to please. Through a mutual friend, Wilson made contact with Cugini and informed him that he was in the market for some high-end art by well-known artists.

				The meeting went as well as Wilson could have hoped. Cugini shared with him a sampling of his art collection, the highlights of which included works by the famed Edwardian era painter John Singer Sargent. The jewelry-broker-cum-art-buyer could hardly believe his eyes. Wilson asked if the works were authentic, and Cugini assured him they were all originals. In order to assuage Wilson’s concerns, Cugini explained the provenance of his collection. Most of the collection, he explained, came from his grandfather, the Boston-area sculptor Joseph Coletti.

				According to Cugini, his grandfather’s relationship with Sargent was a key reason that he was able to accumulate such an impressive array of valuable art. Wilson was duly impressed with the provenance claimed by Cugini and the collection he had amassed. Clearly, here were the sorts of works his wealthy clients had in mind.

				Wilson and Cugini would kick the relationship into high gear soon thereafter, a clear sign that Wilson was serious about making a deal. Just five days after their initial meeting, Wilson phoned Cugini at home to talk more about possible purchases. He wondered: Could these paintings by Sargent and other notable artists, including Picasso, be authentic? This wasn’t like the jewelry business, where a true gem could quickly and easily be distinguished from a fake by an expert with a loupe. Authenticating a painting—especially an older one—is usually an incredibly painstaking process, and in many cases, the validity of works attributed to the likes of even Rembrandt remain in dispute indefinitely. Cugini allayed Wilson’s concerns. Not only are they authentic, Cugini told him, but they came along with paperwork to prove so. Satisfied for the moment by the prospect of proper provenance, Wilson asked about the prices for some of the choice works. Cugini provided prices ranging up to $1,250,000. He told Wilson that a bank wire transfer would be the preferred method of payment for any works he purchased. With all of this amenable to Wilson, the two parties made plans to meet at Cugini’s home the following week.

				On June 8, 2010, Wilson again traveled to Pompano Beach and to the Cugini home. Together they examined some of the more valuable pieces in the collection, and then Cugini put on the hard sell. He presented a painting depicting a portrait of a beautiful young brown-haired woman, her hair accentuated by a red flower that matched her full lips. “This,” Cugini told Wilson, “is A Venetian Woman.” To Wilson’s untrained eye, the painting appeared to be the real deal. And lest Wilson have any remaining doubt, Cugini directed him to the upper left portion of the canvas, where an inscription bearing Sargent’s signature read, “Dedicated to my friend Joseph Coletti.” Cugini explained the close relationship that his grandfather, the famed sculptor Coletti, had with Sargent. Then there was the letter from Sotheby’s, the famous international auction house, dated five years earlier and offering to consign the painting for sale with an asking price of $310,000. Cugini offered A Venetian Woman to Wilson for the bargain price of just $175,000.

				The Sotheby’s letter, dated May 10, 2005, was one of four letters Cugini produced from the fine art auctioneers with offers to consign his Sargents. There was also Conversation (Emily Sargent and Friend), which they would consign for a sale price of $300,000 and which Cugini offered to Wilson for $140,000; Emily Sargent and Eliza Wedgewood in Majorca, painted by Sargent in 1908, which Sotheby’s would offer to the public for $275,000 but could be had by Wilson for $170,000; and finally, Judith Guatier aka A Gust of Wind, which Sotheby’s would sell on consignment for $350,000 but could be Wilson’s for only $250,000. All of the Sotheby’s letters addressed the issue of provenance, stating that the artworks once had been owned by Joseph Coletti. Excited by what Cugini had showed him, Wilson took detailed photographs of the four masterpieces. While snapping pictures, he noticed a number of other pieces that Cugini had stored in cardboard boxes, one of which showed that it had been shipped via UPS from a store in Waltham, Massachusetts: an unusually unsafe way to package and transport such highly valuable art. This caused Wilson to take pause, but Cugini was the art pro. He must have known what he was doing.

				Eager to do business, Wilson called the art dealer later that same day. He informed him that he had written up a sales contract and already mailed it to Cugini. The contract was for the purchase of three of the offered Sargent works: A Venetian Woman, Conversation (Emily Sargent and Friend), and Judith Guatier at the agreed-upon price of $565,000—a savings of nearly $400,000 off the prices that Sotheby’s prescribed for the works. The contract also spelled out the wire transfer method of payment that Cugini desired. Within days, Cugini received the contract in the mail and contacted Wilson to inform him that he had a deal. Cugini told him he would ship the items directly to Wilson and mail back the signed contract.

				As promised, Cugini’s signed contract arrived in David Wilson’s post office box on July 17, 2010. In addition, Cugini included a detailed pamphlet about the art of John Singer Sargent, which displayed a number of the works in the possession of Cugini that were available for purchase. The pamphlet included a biography of Sargent, and incredibly, though Cugini had just earned over a half-million dollars, he failed to add sufficient postage to his mailing. Wilson’s business partner Jason Richards put up the extra 25 cents for the envelope upon receipt.

				With the signed contract in hand, but no money yet transferred, Wilson cautiously went to work seeking experts who could speak to the authenticity of the three paintings Cugini agreed to sell to him. Wilson and Richards brought the photos Wilson had taken of the art when he last visited Cugini’s Pompano Beach home to the Adelson Galleries in New York. There, they met with Elizabeth Oustinoff, the galleries’ director and a renowned expert on John Singer Sargent, in order to get an objective third-party opinion on Cugini’s paintings. A half-million dollars was a big price tag for a first-time foray into fine arts. But Wilson and Richards had good reason to feel some sense of surety, for the photographs of Cugini’s proffered paintings were not the only things with which they were armed when they traveled to New York City for their meeting with Oustinoff. They were also carrying their standard-issue Glock semi-automatic handguns and their Federal Bureau of Investigation badges and credentials, both bearing the title “Special Agent.”

				It is no surprise that Luigi Cugini was on the FBI’s radar, especially as someone who might be dealing in fraudulent art. Cugini, by trade a licensed barber, had a long history of complaints against him for misrepresenting artwork as originals by some of the world’s most esteemed artists. Twenty-five years earlier, in 1985, Cugini was a defendant in a counterfeit art case in New York in which he and a codefendant, Dr. Vilas Likhite, attempted to sell art that they allegedly represented as the works of such luminaries as Willem de Kooning, Jackson Pollock, and Hans Hoffman—artists whose paintings fetch many millions of dollars. Though that case was ultimately dismissed, by 2004 Cugini and Likhite were in hot water again, and the latter was arrested in California for selling art alleged to be counterfeit—a painting falsely attributed to the great Mary Cassatt—for $800,000 to undercover Los Angeles police officers.10 It is believed that Cugini may have had a hand in acquiring the phony Cassatt.

				Together, Cugini and Likhite formed a sort of dream team of art scammers. Likhite had moved to California after being convicted of selling fake art in Massachusetts in 1989, and in that same year he saw his medical license revoked for injecting experimental drugs into two patients.11 According to the Los Angeles Police Department’s Art Theft Detail, headed by legendary art theft detective Don Hrycyk, Likhite—a former Harvard professor—had claimed to be in possession of 700 pieces of art valued at $1 billion. Though Likhite claimed that the works came from the estate of the late artist William Horace Littlefield in Massachusetts, the story proved to be “a fabrication.”12

				Littlefield was a Massachusetts-born, Harvard-educated artist with an eclectic style that favored Abstract Expressionism. However, he painted subjects ranging from pugilists in the boxing ring to classical murals. Of particular note, Littlefield at one time studied under the great Hans Hoffman (whose works Likhite claimed to own). A veteran of World War II, he tried unsuccessfully to join the American Commission for the Protection and Salvage of Artistic and Historic Monuments in Europe, commonly known as the Monuments Men. He returned home to Massachusetts after the war, and in 1946 converted an old barn on Cape Cod into a studio where he worked for most of the rest of his life. After his death in 1969, a Connecticut antiques dealer bought Littlefield’s estate and sold off more than 3,000 of Littlefield’s works, with none of them apparently fetching head-turning prices. A decade later, a large number of Littlefields were auctioned off by the estate of his friend Thomas G. Ratcliffe Jr., and yet another auction of his works was held in 1983 in Cambridge. Littlefield’s paintings brought much less than the estimated values from the sparse crowd of buyers.13 Sources believe that Cugini obtained a number of works from Littlefield’s auctioned paintings and signed the names of famous artists on them. When Likhite was arrested, a number of the works seized from him and falsely attributed by the scammer to famous artists were thought to actually be works by Littlefield.14

				Likhite’s further claim that he also inherited some of the art from his father, who himself had allegedly obtained it from a maharajah in India, also proved to be false. Likhite, the LAPD reported, “used brokers to sell art to private parties and to invest money in his art collection. He avoided major auction houses and art dealers and preyed on people less knowledgeable about fine art. His art was accompanied by official looking paperwork that gave the appearance that the art was professionally authenticated and appraised.”15 The scheme used by Likhite—developing elaborate stories of art obtained through late local artists and the presentation of official-looking documents to accompany the works—was neither unprecedented nor the product of particular ingenuity. But it did take nerve, and lots of it. And Likhite’s level of audacity was so high as to eventually lead the CNBC television series American Greed to devote an entire segment of a February 2008 episode of the show to his bold exploits.16

				In 2005, Luigi Cugini found himself in legal difficulty yet again, this time involving a Picasso drawing. The black-and-white sketch, titled Personage Endormi et Femme Accroupie (Sleeping Person and Squatting Woman), was sold by Cugini through Charles Locke, a Duluth, Georgia, art dealer who first learned of the purported Picasso via an e-mail from San Francisco art broker Henry Hernandez. A payment of $145,000, though, was intended to be held in escrow until a client of the buyer, Manhattan art dealer Chantal Park, accepted the work. That’s where the deal fell apart. The client rejected the drawing based on its condition. Undeterred, Park decided to seek another buyer, but first sought authentication of the drawing by soliciting the opinion of no less than Picasso’s own daughter by Marie-Therese Walter, Maya. Maya’s appraisal allowed for no gray area. “You can be sure,” she wrote, “that this l’oeuvre is not from my father’s hand.”17

				Based on Maya’s definitive thumbs-down, Park sought the return of her $145,000 from Locke and Cugini, but neither was willing to reimburse her (this despite the fact that prior to Maya’s de-attribution, Cugini had offered to return $65,000 of his $110,000 share when the issue was merely the drawing’s condition). Apparently, Cugini was willing to admit that the Picasso was in less-than-perfect condition but not that it wasn’t authentic, even in the face of Maya Picasso’s assessment. As a result, Park filed a $5 million lawsuit in New York State Supreme Court against Cugini and the Duluth dealer, Locke. Park sought punitive damages beyond the original sale price because, as her attorney Malcom S. Taub stated, “it appears as if this is not an accident. When people engage in conduct that is wanton, the court can impose punitive damages to dissuade other parties as well as the particular defendants from engaging in that type of conduct.” Taub added that the matter had been “referred to the FBI” as well.18 In May 2009, the New York State Supreme Court found in favor of Park and against Cugini (and Locke) to the tune of $175,498.84.

				Apparently unfazed by this experience and the complications of dealing in questionable Picassos, Cugini in 2010 entered into a trade with another individual later described by the FBI as a “confidential human source”—or CHS—who would obtain from Cugini a painting by the Dutch Master Peter Paul Rubens, Susanna and the Elders, plus $35,000 in cash in exchange for a watercolor purportedly by Picasso titled Femme Et Arlequin au Bassin de Nenuphards. Unbeknownst to Cugini, the services of Maya Picasso were again sought, and again, she declared Cugini’s Picasso unauthentic.

				The CHS then served as a broker for a buyer in Europe who was seeking to purchase a number of paintings from Cugini, including particularly valuable works by the French impressionist Henri Matisse. The total sale price: $28 million, $23 million of which Cugini wanted wired to a bank account in Italy. The broker obtained images of the Matisse works and sought the opinion of Wanda de Guebriant, who once served as an assistant to Matisse’s daughter, Marguerite Duthuit, before becoming the Matisse family’s official archivist. Small wonder she was described by Forbes magazine as being “designated the expert [on Matisse] by the person who, for years, was indisputably the expert.”19 The expert examined the works and informed the FBI that they were forgeries. Worse yet, they were accompanied by paperwork forged to report that the paintings were authenticated by none other than Wanda de Guebriant herself! Just as incredibly, the very same works had been submitted for review to de Guebriant twice before: once by art collector Damien Roten after he had visited the United States specifically to view Cugini’s purported Matisses, and once prior to that by a Gino Cugini (an alias used by Luigi) of Maynard, Massachusetts. Interestingly, “Gino” did not make reference to his grandfather Joseph Coletti when disclosing the known provenance of the works to the Archives Matisse.

				When Special Agent Richards met with Oustinoff in New York, he clearly had good reason to be deeply suspicious of Cugini’s claims about his collection of valuable Sargent paintings. And as they did by working with Wanda de Guebriant, the FBI made a wise decision in choosing Oustinoff and the Adelson Galleries. Oustinoff is a member of the John Singer Sargent Committee, and the galleries she directs sponsor the John Singer Sargent Catalogue Raisonné, the comprehensive annotated compilation of all of Sargent’s works. Agent Richards presented Oustinoff with photographs taken by Agent David Wilson of the Sargents Cugini was trying to sell to him. Using the catalogue raisonné, Oustinoff quickly identified the status of the actual, authentic paintings by Sargent that Cugini displayed to Agent Wilson. Judith Guatier was found to be number 77 in the catalogue raisonné. The painting depicts a dark-haired woman holding her large hat against the breeze as she walks against a blue sky and was listed as being held in a private collection and not in the possession of Cugini. Another work, Under the Willows, was not in the printed catalogue raisonné of Sargent’s works . . . yet. Instead, the watercolor and pencil work was scheduled to be included in the next publication of the catalogue. And it wasn’t in Cugini’s possession. In fact, it was bequeathed by Raymond J. and Margaret Horowitz to the Museum of Fine Arts in Houston, Texas, where it was hanging at that very moment.

				As if these discrepancies weren’t enough, the final blow to Cugini’s claims about his Sargents was as definitive as the bureau could hope. A Venetian Woman, listed in the catalog under number 635 and the title Head of a Young Woman (with alternate titles including Head of a Lady, A Spanish Gypsy, Marie-Genevieve Duhem, and Head of a Venetian Woman), did include an inscription from Sargent. However, it was not “Dedicated to my friend Joseph Coletti.” Instead, it read “a mon ami M. Van Haanen/John S. Sargent.” To add a nail to the coffin, Oustinoff pointed out that the paintings listed in the Sargent catalogue raisonné had different dimensions than those shown by Cugini.

				Richards showed Oustinoff the pamphlet that had been sent by Cugini to Wilson in the mail along with the signed contract, and she found striking similarities between it and an exhibition catalog prepared by the Tate Gallery in London. Richards then found that the chronology that Cugini prepared was practically identical to that of the book John Singer Sargent by Elaine Kilmurray and Richard Ormond, that is, except for a typo on Cugini’s pamphlet that spelled “Gust” as “Gustl.”20

				Cugini’s story was clearly bogus, and Richards sought to make an airtight case against him. He contacted Sotheby’s and shared with them the May 10, 2005, letters that Cugini presented as Sotheby’s offers to consign the Sargent paintings. Their American Paintings Department easily determined that the letters did not originate with their organization; in fact, the particular letterhead presented had been discontinued four years before the letters were allegedly written.

				With all of the facts pointing to fraud on the part of Luigi Cugini regarding his claims about the Sargent paintings, the inevitable question arose: Was he truly the grandson of sculptor Joseph Coletti? To answer this question, Richards sought out Coletti’s only two children: Donatta Coletti Mechem and Miriam Dow. Mechem and Dow informed the FBI agent that Luigi Cugini was neither a grandson nor an heir to the late sculptor. And not only didn’t Coletti have any Sargent paintings, he didn’t collect paintings at all.

				On August 19, 2010, Luigi Cugini was arrested by the FBI at his home in Pompano Beach without incident. Cugini waived his Miranda rights and provided federal investigators with a complete confession. “He stated that the paintings were reproductions and that he knew that they were not original Sargent artworks,” Agent Richards reported. Along with the arrest, the FBI seized more than 65 pieces of fraudulent art, including 47 fake Picassos, 18 phony Sargents, and single counterfeits falsely attributed to Renaissance master Raphael, Francis Bacon, Robert Henri, and Boldini. And finally, the FBI seized the legitimate Susanna and the Elders by Rubens that was obtained by Cugini in the trade for his fake Picasso.

				Cugini appeared before a federal judge in West Palm Beach on August 23 and was charged with a single count of mail fraud. That single charge carried a maximum term of up to 20 years in prison. But despite a staggering history of involvement with scams and swindles exactly like the one the FBI sting operation exposed, the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of Florida agreed to recommend that Cugini receive a sentence reflecting a two-level reduction from the federal sentencing guidelines that matched his offense, provided that he accept “personal responsibility” for the crime to which he had pleaded guilty. Cugini’s full confession at the time of his arrest had made this a sure thing. So, on January 27, 2011, Federal District Court judge Kenneth L. Ryskamp ordered him committed to the custody of the U.S. Bureau of Prisons for a term of 27 months. Further, in order to allow Cugini to stay in his local area instead of being sent to a distant federal institution, Judge Ryskamp recommended that the Prison Bureau place Cugini in a facility in South Florida, preferably under “maximum home confinement” or in a halfway house—hardly a serious statement by the federal government that Cugini’s pattern of behavior was intolerable.

				Cugini, perhaps heartened by the leniency shown to him by the court, tested the goodwill of the federal government once again. On September 21, 2012, he filed a pro se motion for the government for the return of the art seized from his home at the time of his arrest. “The government,” he complained, “returned only some of the property that was seized from me whereas, I want the remaining items returned as well. Below is the list of the items the government has failed to return to me.”21 In an attachment to his motion, Cugini clarified that “only” 60 paintings had been returned to him. He signed his filing, “God Bless You, Luigi Cugini.”22 His list of paintings that he wanted returned was voluminous, and even included a few photographs of works by Henri, Bacon, and Boldini that included Cugini’s handwritten notation “Important Artist.” The court would hear none of it, with Judge Ryskamp ruling less than a month later that the “motion for return of seized property is denied as moot. The government has returned the property that the defendant is entitled to receive.”23 Judge Ryskamp agreed with the prosecution’s assertion that the rest of the art had been used as instrumentalities of Cugini’s criminal activity.

				On September 9, 2013, Luigi Cugini filed a motion with the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida seeking an early termination of his supervised release. Apparently forgetting his long involvement in the trafficking of fraudulent art, he cited Title 18 of the U.S. Code, Section 3553, which refers to the conduct of the defendant and the “nature and circumstances of the offense and the history and characteristics of the defendant.” He argued, “Petitioner behavior since release has generally been productive and positive . . . and he has not been in any incidents/violations of the law.”24 How long Cugini will go before he tries to sell another misattributed work of art is anyone’s guess. But it’s safe to say that the FBI will be watching closely.

			

		

	
		
			
				Six

				The Captor

				As young postdoctoral students in Europe, Harry and Ruth Bakwin were as devoted to their studies and to each other as their colleagues were to the quaint restaurants and pubs of their neighborhood—and it showed. The pair would go on to become accomplished and well-published pediatricians, and thanks to the time they spent together visiting galleries and museums viewing and learning about art, they amassed one of the most respected collections of paintings in the United States.

				In 1929, the Drs. Bakwin traveled with their four children on their annual trip to Europe and ultimately made their way to Switzerland. The couple, still in the nascent stages of their lifelong love of collecting, visited the Galerie Thannhauser in Lucerne, where they made a significant purchase: Vincent van Gogh’s L’Arlésienne, Madame Ginoux.1 The painting is an essential work in the Dutch painter’s oeuvre, completed as Van Gogh convalesced from one of his many struggles with mental illness at the asylum in Saint-Remy, near Arles, during a period considered to be the zenith of the artist’s creativity.2 It was one of the six existing Van Gogh portraits of the cafe-owning Ginoux that was privately held, with the others hanging in some of the world’s most notable museums, including the Metropolitan Museum of Art in New York and the Musée d’Orsay in Paris. L’Arlésienne, Madame Ginoux was one of the more important pieces of the more than 100 paintings and sculptures collected throughout the Bakwins’ lifetimes, in what would become one of America’s best collections of Impressionist and Post-Impressionist art.

				Throughout their lives, the Bakwins’ children would each develop an affinity for certain pieces of their parents’ collection, and Harry and Ruth saw to it that at the time of their respective deaths, each child would inherit a painting of their choice. For the couple’s eldest son the decision was easy. In 1987, upon his beloved mother’s passing, Edward Bakwin chose the Van Gogh from the collection that had come to include works by Picasso, Cézanne, Matisse, Gaugin, and many others. Less than 20 years later, however, Edward would make a decision that came with much more difficulty. He chose to sell the Van Gogh at an auction on May 2, 2006, through the famed auction house Christie’s in New York City. Though the painting would fetch Edward more than $40 million, it wasn’t money that motivated him, it was fear. “It was a very major decision of mine to sell it,” he said. “The risk of damage of any kind or robbery just felt a little too high. Much as I would have loved to continue holding it, it seemed to me too important to have hanging in a modest apartment in Chicago.”3

				This fear was grounded in personal experience. Edward Bakwin had only to look to his own family to find good reason to worry that his painting could be targeted by thieves. In 1976, Edward’s younger brother Michael made his own selection from his parents’ collection. He, too, made what he felt was an easy choice, selecting Paul Cézanne’s Bouilloire et Fruits (Pitcher and Fruit). Michael Bakwin was not alone in his appreciation of the Cubist masterpiece. No less an expert on the medium than Pablo Picasso himself (whom the Bakwins met during their travels) called the painting one of the greatest pictures ever painted.4 Michael proudly and lovingly displayed the painting in the dining room in his home in Stockbridge, Massachusetts. There it hung, the crowning piece of his collection of paintings that made for one of the greatest displays of art in all the Berkshires, a region rich in great art and scenic majesty. That’s no small claim: the pastoral area lays claim to some of the nation’s best college museums and was the home of the great sculptor Daniel Chester French (whose most notable work was the Lincoln Memorial) and the twentieth-century American master Norman Rockwell. Rockwell, whose museum is located in Stockbridge, moved to the region in 1953 and left an indelible mark on the Berkshires, just as the Berkshires left its own on his works. His famous images bear the region’s unmistakable New England essence, and the people of Stockbridge and the surrounding area served as models for many of his works.

				So to say that Cézanne’s Bouilloire et Fruits was perhaps the most valuable painting in Stockbridge truly meant something. That distinction came with good reason, for it is one of the great examples of his play with dimension and planes that so influenced the Cubist movement. At any moment, it seems, the fruit on the table in Cézanne’s painting might roll off. Yet it transfixes the viewer, just as the artist knew it would. “I will astonish Paris with an apple!” Cézanne famously foretold, and that he did. Though in his own lifetime he was denied the acceptance from the Salon in Paris—the official art exhibition of the Fine Arts Academy—that he deeply craved, his legacy is that of the leading forefather of Impressionism. The English literary master D. H. Lawrence called Cézanne “the most interesting figure in modern art, and the only really interesting figure.” For Lawrence, it was Cézanne’s constant struggle with the establishment that made him such an important figure, and he pointed to Cézanne’s portrayal of fruit—as in Michael Bakwin’s painting—as the key to his victory. “Cézanne’s apple is a great deal,” he wrote, “more than Plato’s Idea. Cézanne’s apple rolled the stone from the mouth of the tomb.”5 Of his influence on the movement that he would inspire, the great Pablo Picasso called Cézanne “the father of us all.”6 And here in tiny Stockbridge, Massachusetts, this seminal work hung along with others in Michael Bakwin’s multimillion-dollar collection, secured only by a rarely locked door.

				In May 1978, Michael Bakwin, his wife Doris, and her two children packed their car and traveled to Ossining, New York, for a Memorial Day visit to his parents’ home. Though they were known to travel often and at a moment’s notice, this particular trip was a welcome getaway for rest and relaxation before the busy summer months would bring tourists to the Avalock Inn, a small resort bought and operated by Michael Bakwin after a number of years working in the world of hotel and restaurant consulting.

				When the Bakwins returned home at about 5:30 p.m. Monday night, they weren’t looking for any signs of trouble. After all, Stockbridge was a place where people rarely bothered to lock their doors and where crime was something folks could read about if they chose to peruse the Boston Herald American, the tabloid in the big city to the east; but it was rarely found in the Berkshire Eagle. Michael and Doris noticed nothing unusual when they turned in for the night after the long drive home. There was no mess, nothing ransacked, nothing broken. There were no signs that anyone had forced their way into the home. The next day, the couple set about making their appointed rounds, with Doris returning home first that Tuesday afternoon. Opening a sliding door that led into the dining room, she found the walls bare. Seven of her husband’s treasured paintings were gone, and the only evidence they had ever been there was a lonely, empty frame on the floor that had held the famous Cézanne. This was long before the era of the cell phone, and Doris frantically tried to reach her husband. Unable to locate him, she phoned the local chief of police and reported the crime. Upon arrival at the scene, the officers also noted an absence of signs of forced entry. The Bakwins could not recall whether or not they had locked the house when they left. They did note, however, that the spare key they often left beneath a ceramic frog in the yard was not present.7

				Michael Bakwin remembers that he “sort of went into shock” upon arriving home. Virtually incapacitated by what he saw, Doris took control of the scene, dealing with the Stockbridge police, who were eventually joined by the Massachusetts State Police and, later, the Federal Bureau of Investigation.8 This show of force at the crime scene was fully warranted: the haul by the thieves from the Bakwin home amounted to the largest-scale home break-in in the history of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. In addition to the Cézanne, six other works were taken: Portrait of a Young Man and Girl in a Red Robe, both by Chaim Soutine; Flowers by Maurice Vlaminck; The Red House by Maurice Utrillo; and Boy in the Red Shirt and Head of a Woman by Jean Jansem. Of the lot, only the two Soutines and the Vlaminck were insured by Bakwin, and for a meager $47,000 at that. “Unfortunately, insuring paintings is extremely expensive,” he would later say, “and I was just a little bit too cheap to do so, and didn’t think anything would happen to them.”9

				When an art theft occurs, motives are frequently either missed or misconstrued. Often, investigators tell the media that the crime was surely the work of professional art thieves, especially when police learn that the pieces stolen are of extraordinarily high values. In fact, high-value paintings are rarely stolen by crooks that can be characterized as professional art thieves. The reason for this is simple: highly valuable and recognizable masterpieces—like Cézanne’s Bouilloire et Fruits—are exceptionally difficult to fence. As a result, thieves who pilfer such works eventually learn the folly of their ways and turn their nefarious inclinations toward targets that are easier to unload. Masterworks are most often stolen by shortsighted first-timers who are certain they can sell their ill-gotten gains, only to learn that there are no buyers willing to fork over hundreds of thousands of dollars—or more—for something they can never show anyone. History is bereft of the oft-imagined evil billionaire sitting in his private viewing room with a stolen piece of art meant never to be shown to another living person. Such is the fodder of Hollywood scripts, not true crime. In reality, it’s almost impossible to find a buyer for highly valuable stolen art. And for thieves that’s a hard thing to accept. After all, if you’re holding a few million in stolen art (or at least that’s what the newspapers are saying) and you are accustomed to getting ten cents on the dollar for your stolen goods, it’s got to be difficult to walk away empty-handed with dreams of riches dancing in your mind.

				So despite the strong interest in the crime from investigators at the local, state, and federal levels, the prospects of capturing the thief or thieves and returning Michael Bakwin’s treasured paintings to him were anyone’s guess. To be sure, Bakwin took his own steps to try to recover his art: he hired a lawyer and together they decided to post a reward of $25,000 for the return of the paintings in local newspapers; he contacted the International Foundation for Art Research in New York to provide them with records of the theft in case the paintings surfaced in a sale; he worked to spread the word of the theft by contacting auction houses and art galleries; and, later, he hired a private investigator to help recover his items. All of his efforts were to no avail.

				Sometime after the theft, there was a glimmer of hope for a recovery. The Bakwins received three phone calls from an individual who spoke of recovering the Cézanne for a fee. While it’s not uncommon for a person posting a large reward to be contacted by cranks and con men, the caller was able to provide bona fides, describing stickers from Europe on the reverse of the Cézanne that appeared to be accurate. However, there was a problem. “The trouble was that the people who stole the paintings didn’t know what they had stolen. They got a little bit nervous,” Michael Bakwin said.10 Though the caller eventually produced nothing, a mention was made of an individual identified only as “David.” This would prove important when a suspect in the crime emerged by that same first name.11

				David T. Colvin was no stranger to trouble, and he was in it again—deep. He had lost $1,500 in a card game to an associate named Arthur Samson, who, after waiting a year and a half for Colvin to pay up, had run out of patience. Late in the evening of February 12, 1979, Samson, accompanied by Brian Matchett, a local legend with martial arts expertise and a license to carry a firearm, traveled to Colvin’s home in Pittsfield, Massachusetts, to collect his long-awaited winnings. The next morning, the pair met with Colvin in his home. Shortly after entering, an altercation ensued in which Matchett shot the hulking six foot four, 300-pound Colvin with the two .38 caliber hollow-point bullets that would ultimately kill him. According to the shooter, as Colvin lay bleeding he told him, “It doesn’t matter, I want to die anyways.”12

				Some time after Colvin met his violent end, his attorney, Robert M. Mardirosian of Watertown, was in the attic of a property he owned across the street from his law offices. There he found a treasure worth millions: Michael Bakwin’s paintings. Mardirosian must have known what they were immediately. Shortly before his death, Colvin visited Mardirosian to discuss federal firearms charges he was facing, and during that meeting Colvin showed his lawyer the paintings he had taken. Mardirosian talked Colvin out of taking the art to Florida where he thought he could fence it, and the thief held on to the works. Rather than make the trek all the way back to Pittsfield, which was closer to Albany than it was to Boston, Colvin asked Mardirosian if he had a place he could crash for the night. Mardirosian offered him his attic next door. And it was there that Colvin left his bounty.

				There’s a pattern that seems to emerge when highly valuable, highly recognizable art is stolen: hot masterpieces are either recovered very quickly because of snitches, hard-working investigators, and lucky breaks, or they turn up after a generation or so has passed, after the scariest member of the thieving gang has passed on or lost his fearsomeness and all involved have finally come to the realization that despite their best efforts, they simply cannot monetize their stolen art. Left with no options, the art is eventually returned. Here, in the hands of attorney Robert Mardirosian, Michael Bakwin’s paintings were at the crossroads of a quick recovery or being unseen for decades.

				Mardirosian clearly understood the importance of what he had found. In fact, he was uniquely positioned to understand the paintings’ value both in terms of money and culture. Like Cézanne, Mardirosian’s avocation in the law could not suppress his love for art, and Impressionism in particular. In fact, in 1989 the attorney would eventually leave his law practice to become a full-time artist, using the name “Romard” to sign his works. “I understand color. I can make it sing for me . . . I’m not painting the subject, I’m painting the emotion that the subject evokes in me,” he would say of his technique. He counted among his influences Picasso, Van Gogh, Miró, and, of course, Cézanne.13

				But despite his close familiarity with the sort of art he had found in his attic and exactly how it was procured, Mardirosian failed to return the paintings to their rightful owner in Stockbridge, betraying his responsibility as an attorney and officer of the court. Instead, he worked diligently to find a way to do the impossible: take well-known, high-priced, and stolen paintings and turn a profit with them. Thus, his was a unique sort of art scam: the art was legitimate, but his decades-long, illicit affair with it was anything but.

				Clearly, this was an unethical and unconventional choice, but Mardirosian was no stranger to unorthodox ploys. In what was probably his most newsworthy criminal defense argument, he attempted to get a client—a gardener—cleared of a first-degree murder charge by arguing that the murderer was under the influence of the pesticides he had been mixing. It was the mixture that led the man to strangle his victim, Mardirosian argued in court. The jury saw past his claims and returned a guilty verdict.14

				While that argument might have been outlandish, making a desperate argument in order to clear a client is nothing new for a defense attorney. Attempting to monetize a deceased criminal client’s stolen goods, however, is. But off went Robert Mardirosian on a trek that would span more than a quarter century and two continents.

				Two decades would pass without Michael Bakwin hearing a word about his stolen treasures. With no new leads, no signs of life, no reason for hope, the idea that he’d ever again see his paintings, especially his precious Cézanne, had faded from his daily thoughts. Then, in 1999, things took a sudden and dramatic turn. On the other side of the Atlantic, Lloyds Insurance Company, the underwriter for the storied insurer Lloyds of London, rang the offices of the Art Loss Register with an inquiry about a number of paintings that were set to be shipped to London from Russia. Intrigued by the inquiry, the staff went to work researching the paintings to determine whether or not they were stolen. This was the work Julian Radcliffe, the organization’s founder, formed the ALR to do.

				Radcliffe, himself a former Lloyds employee who had worked for Britain’s security service MI5, started a firm called Control Risks in 1975 to provide guidance to governments, corporations, and families dealing with extortion attempts and negotiations related to kidnappings throughout the world. Then, in 1986, Radcliffe was asked to examine the feasibility of forming a separate company to deal with the problem of stolen art. There certainly exists a bustling market: the Federal Bureau of Investigation calls art theft “a looming criminal enterprise with estimated losses in the billions of dollars annually.”15 Radcliffe worked with the major auction houses, art dealers, and police from a number of countries and identified a need for a database of stolen art that could be used to vet art sales and auctions. To start such a database, Radcliffe turned to the International Foundation for Art Research in New York—the very same organization to whom Michael Bakwin had reported his stolen paintings in 1978. IFAR had already started a database of its own years earlier, but lacked the resources to grow the database and staff it to the point that it could serve the international market. Radcliffe cut a deal: IFAR would turn over its database to the ALR in return for a share holding of the new company. And thus a powerhouse in the fight against the illicit trade in stolen art was born. By 2008, the ALR would grow to 30 employees working with a database holding nearly 200,000 stolen works of art from around the world and conducting around 400,000 searches per year.16

				Radcliffe’s team quickly came back with its findings: the paintings submitted by Lloyds were indeed stolen, and they were taken from the home of Michael Bakwin in 1978. This wasn’t the ALR’s first encounter with Bakwin: in the early 1990s, a Cézanne similar to the one stolen from Bakwin was put up for auction, and while performing its due diligence, the ALR contacted him to ensure that they had not come upon his Bouilloire et Fruits. But now, in 1999, it was certain that Bakwin’s Cézanne and his other paintings were on the market.

				Radcliffe asked his associates to put him in touch with the man seeking insurance on the paintings that were awaiting transport, and then notified the FBI and British authorities. Next, the ALR contacted Michael Bakwin to advise him of this much stronger lead. Seeing an opportunity to recover his beloved paintings, Bakwin entered into what Radcliffe described as a “standard recovery contract” and chose to pay the ALR on a contingency basis. The ALR didn’t come cheap: the contingency plan called for Bakwin to pay the firm 15 percent of the first $75,000 of value of the art plus 10 percent of any value above that figure. Such an agreement would mean, for instance, that if the ALR returned, say, just $1 million worth of art to Bakwin, he would in turn owe the ALR $103,750. This, of course, far exceeded the $25,000 reward Bakwin had offered for a brief period shortly after the theft more than 20 years earlier. But he figured the gambit was worth it.

				With a signed agreement in hand, the ALR went right to work. ALR contacted Scotland Yard, but because it didn’t appear that a crime had occurred on British soil, they referred the ALR to the FBI. After being briefed on what the ALR had found to date, the bureau recommended that they try to learn more about the individual who sought to insure the stolen paintings through Lloyds. Lloyds obliged and provided the ALR with the individual’s identity: Tony Westbrook. Soon enough, Radcliffe and a trusted deputy, Sarah Jackson, arranged to meet with Westbrook near the offices of Lloyds.

				The trio sat in the London restaurant, discussing the art in question, where Westbrook revealed that he had been asked to sell the paintings in question and thus sought to bring them to London from Russia to have them appraised. Westbrook provided Radcliffe and Jackson with an odd story as to how he became involved with the paintings—he had registered in a hotel listing himself as an “architect,” which was somehow translated to mean “art expert,” and based on this, he alleged, he was asked to help with the sale of highly valuable paintings.

				Radcliffe informed Westbrook that the paintings were run through the ALR database and determined to be stolen. This led to a series of meetings and telephone conversations between the parties. Westbrook inquired about a reward or payment for the stolen art. “I explained that no payment or reward could be made unless we were told who was holding the pictures and how they got them,” Radcliffe said, “and I explained my reasons for our position on that.”17 Radcliffe went on to inform Westbrook that the ALR, the insurance industry, and victims of crime are hesitant to pay what amounts to a ransom for stolen property lest they encourage such schemes. So, Radcliffe told Westbrook, a number of conditions would have to be met before any payments would be made to those currently holding the paintings. “The conditions included the fact that we must know the identity of the person to whom the payment was going to be made and have some understanding or assurance that they would not pass that payment on to any criminal. We also needed to know how the pictures had come into the possession of the person holding them. We needed to inform the police, and we needed to make certain that no payment was excessive and that the maximum intelligence for the police was obtained at the same time,” said Radcliffe.18

				Perhaps seeing the writing on the wall, Westbrook inquired about the possibility of payments to him for his help. Seizing the opportunity to get Westbrook on his side, Radcliffe agreed to some payments dependent on his assistance. In other words, he co-opted Westbrook.

				It proved to be a wise move. Westbrook opened up to the ALR with more insight into exactly who it was behind the operation. He reported that he was contacted only via telephone by an unknown person who was using him as a conduit for information. He could only confirm that the caller had a “mid-Atlantic accent” and called him in the evening, a fact that led the Londoner to believe his calls were coming from the United States because of the time difference. The only thing that Westbrook was sure of, though, was that the caller was insistent in his expectation that he receive “substantial payment” for any paintings he might turn over.19

				Seeking to determine whether the anonymous party in the States was truly in possession of the Bakwin paintings, the ALR team requested proof of life. That’s when the holding party did something that proved it beyond any doubt: he provided photos of all seven works. Ordinarily, this wouldn’t be absolute proof, but unbeknownst to everyone but Bakwin, no photos of the stolen Utrillo existed. Not even the artist himself had photographed the painting. In fact, when Bakwin posted a notice of his stolen art back in 1978, he could produce only an image of a similar Utrillo painting. So when Westbrook produced the ALR with an image of Bakwin’s Utrillo, it was obvious the photo was taken post-theft, and thus it became clear that the man with the mid-Atlantic accent was for real.

				Following the proof of life, Radcliffe received a proposal from the shadowy figure through Westbrook. According to Radcliffe, the party holding Bakwin’s art notified him that “if we brought the pictures in to a neutral location, a bank in Switzerland, and they were inspected by an expert and proved to be the pictures stolen from Mr. Bakwin, then they would release those pictures, provided we pay $15 million.”20 So there it was: a price tag, and a rather exorbitant one at that.

				Radcliffe immediately dismissed the proposal. He told Westbrook that his side needed someone—preferably an attorney—with whom the ALR could negotiate face-to-face. In mid-1999, Westbrook informed Radcliffe that a Swiss lawyer, Dr. Bernhard Vischer, would be entering the negotiations on behalf of the party holding the paintings, and within weeks the first of many meetings was held in Geneva at the offices of an attorney for the ALR. Vischer revealed to Radcliffe that the involvement of Russians, which had been cited during the initial overtures made through Westbrook, were false. He also let it be known that the party he represented—and refused to identify—expected payment for the return of the paintings. In response, Radcliffe spelled out again the ethical argument against paying what was essentially a ransom demand, since he had no way of knowing whether the party holding the paintings was one of the thieves or closely connected to them.

				Bakwin’s team continued to work feverishly to determine who had possession of his art. Radcliffe submitted a number of questions to Vischer toward that end, but the answers provided were of little value. Finally, Radcliffe told Vischer that he would have to produce a statement stating to whom any payment would go. For instance, Vischer’s boss would have to attest to the fact that he was not the thief, nor a criminal, nor a member of the Bakwin family, and so on. This would provide Bakwin and the ALR with some assurance that they were not making unethical payments. Absent such a statement, Vischer would have to identify the individual who was controlling the stolen paintings. Finally, after further discussion, Vischer agreed to the latter demand.

				With the promise of the statement from Vischer in hand, Radcliffe and his team came up with an idea that would nevertheless keep Michael Bakwin’s money out of the hands of this unscrupulous anonymous figure. Radcliffe successfully negotiated with Vischer a trade of sorts: in return for the Cézanne, ownership of the other six paintings would be signed over to Vischer’s client. Upon hearing of the deal, Bakwin told Radcliffe, “I think that’s extortion, but if we can get the painting back that way, I can’t believe that we could not also get the other six paintings.”21

				The deal was to be consummated at the same Geneva offices of the ALR’s lawyer where Radcliffe and Vischer first met. The date was set for October 25, 1999. Radcliffe and a pair of art experts from Sotheby’s—Michel Strauss and Caroline Lang—arrived on time, eager to see if the proposal would go as planned and to inspect the Cézanne should it be delivered as agreed. Tensions were high as hours passed before Vischer finally arrived, looking “hot and bothered,” according to Strauss.22 The parties got right to work and reviewed the pertinent paperwork; seeing everything in order, Vischer made a brief phone call to an unknown party saying that he would be retrieving the painting to bring back to the offices.

				Though Vischer instructed everyone to wait inside as he left the office to get the painting, Radcliffe followed at a distance and watched the goings-on. He witnessed Vischer proceed from the grounds of the office to a street corner where he waited beneath a tree. Suddenly, in a scene straight out of a John le Carré novel, a white car drove toward Vischer and stopped at the corner. An object wrapped in a black trash bag was passed through the car door. Once Vischer took possession, he headed back upstairs to the lawyer’s office as the mysterious white car sped away from the scene.

				Paul Cézanne could never have imagined such a scene, and he likely never dreamed his precious Bouilloire et Fruits would be subject to such cloak-and-dagger intrigue, never mind ending up in a trash bag. But there it was as the bagged package was unwrapped and the painting inspected by experts in Impressionist paintings from Sotheby’s, both of whom confirmed that the painting was authentic. “Nervously impatient,” Strauss would later write, “I tore a small hole in the bin-bag with my right index finger, pushed aside the layers of soft padding and revealed about six square centimeters of paint. I was instantly in no doubt that this was the Cézanne in question, recognizing the patches of colour and the artist’s distinctive brushwork. Impatiently, I finished unwrapping the package and brought to light the stunning still life, unframed and in fine condition.”23

				With that, Radcliffe agreed to sign a bill of sale on Bakwin’s behalf that read, “For value received, the undersigned transfers and assigns to Erie International Trading Company Panama (the company) all of the undersigned’s right, title and interest to the paintings described on schedule A.” Schedule A was merely a one-page document on an Art Loss Register letterhead listing the seven paintings stolen from Bakwin’s Stockbridge home in 1978, with a line scratched through the Cézanne and initialed by Vischer. A sealed envelope containing the identity of the anonymous individual behind both the Erie International Trading Company and the negotiations themselves was presented and, as agreed, given to the multinational law firm Herbert Smith for safekeeping.

				Radcliffe instructed Strauss to transport the Cézanne to London immediately, and after insuring the piece for transit for nearly $20 million, the team left that evening on a London-bound flight with the painting still wrapped in the trash bag and on the aircraft floor at Strauss’s feet.24

				Soon thereafter, Michael Bakwin was reunited with his prized Bouilloire et Fruits, the painting that he had not only urged his parents to buy, but had described as the most beautiful thing in the world.25 The reunion, however, was bittersweet. Faced with an enormous bill from the ALR, whose fee was based on the value of the painting, and concerned about his ability to safeguard a painting of such historic and monetary value, Bakwin came to the sad realization that he would have to sell his beloved Cézanne at auction. He instructed Sotheby’s to sell the painting as soon as convenient. The famed auction house was able to include it in its December 1999 sale, where it brought Bakwin more than $28 million. In an affidavit, Bakwin stated that he then paid the ALR approximately $2.6 million.26

				The recovery of the Cézanne in 1999 was a major victory for Radcliffe. Indeed, it was the biggest and most important recovery of a stolen painting that the ALR had ever accomplished. But Radcliffe and Bakwin did not intend to rest on the laurels of the Cézanne return and went back to work to regain ownership of the six paintings signed over to whomever was behind Panama’s Erie International Trading Company. In fact, on the very night of the Cézanne recovery, with the painting safely en route to London, Radcliffe joined Vischer for a drink and posited to him that the agreement he had signed earlier that same day might not stand up in court. He told Vischer, “They should never try to sell the pictures, they should come back to us, and . . . we should negotiate now to get those pictures returned” before law enforcement began putting pressure on Vischer and his principals at Erie International.27 Within months, with Swiss authorities allegedly stirring over his involvement in the case, Vischer withdrew from further negotiations.

				For the next six years, the ALR continued to pursue the remaining six Bakwin paintings. Negotiations with Tony Westbrook, who had resumed his role as intermediary with the unnamed holder of the paintings, continued but moved glacially. Meanwhile, the anonymous holder of the paintings approached a prominent Massachusetts businessman, Paul Palandjian, seeking his help in selling the six remaining Bakwin paintings. Palandjian was told that though the paintings were once stolen, title for them had been subsequently cleared. In January 2005, Palandjian traveled to Geneva, Switzerland, and met with an affluent Swiss banker, Henri Klein, and took delivery of the paintings. With the help of Klein, Palandjian stored the paintings in a Swiss bank vault while he approached Sotheby’s about selling the artwork. Sotheby’s informed Palandjian that they were interested in selling four of the works—the two Soutines, the Vlaminck, and the Utrillo.28

				Then, in the spring of 2005, Julian Radcliffe received a call from Sotheby’s in London about four paintings they planned to include in an upcoming auction. This was hardly unusual: running checks through the ALR prior to sale was by then accepted as a key step in performing due diligence on an artwork’s provenance. But Radcliffe’s interest was piqued when he was asked if title was clear on four of the six stolen Bakwin paintings. For the second time, Michael Bakwin’s paintings were at a critical crossroads. If Radcliffe told the Sotheby’s representative that the pictures could not be legally sold, they’d likely disappear again for untold years. So he made a key decision: he told Sotheby’s the paintings were clear for sale. A month later, with the paintings’ whereabouts—London—now known, Radcliffe and Bakwin filed suit in a British court to stop the sale, arguing that the 1999 agreement to, in essence, trade ownership of six of the paintings for the return of the Cézanne was made under duress. The High Court of London agreed with Bakwin’s argument and not only awarded ownership of all of the paintings to him but ordered that the identity of the man behind Erie International Trading Company be revealed. On January 23, 2006, Bakwin was given the elaborately sealed envelope that had previously been entrusted to the law firm Herbert Smith. Within, he finally learned the name of his tormenter: Robert Mardirosian, the attorney who had found the stolen paintings in his attic decades earlier. There was another key component to the High Court’s judgment: Mardirosian was ordered to pay Bakwin $3 million to recoup his costs.29

				In response to the judgment, Mardirosian embarked on a curious public relations mission in the United States. He granted an extensive interview to the Boston Globe in which he made no qualms about what amounted to his criminal behavior. And he went to the airwaves to tell his side of the story on Boston’s National Public Radio station, WBUR, in an interview with host Bob Oakes. It was the latter that proved most damaging to Mardirosian. Oakes asked Mardirosian, “You knew they [the paintings] were stolen; your client [Colvin] told you that.” Mardirosian answered, “That’s right.” Mardirosian went on to state that he had held onto the paintings so he could get a reward or finder’s fee and had moved them overseas years earlier for safekeeping.30

				FBI Special Agent Geoff Kelly of the agency’s Boston Field Office received a call from Julian Radcliffe some time after the British High Court had issued the injunction halting the sale of Bakwin’s paintings. Radcliffe requested a meeting with Kelly to discuss the latest developments in the case, which the bureau had been monitoring for years. Agent Kelly is everything you’d expect from an FBI agent and more. A SWAT team operator assigned to the Violent Crimes Task Force who can sit at a piano and play Rachmaninoff, Kelly was particularly qualified to deal with the Mardirosian art-related matter. He had spent years investigating complex fraud cases with the economic crimes unit and was a member of the FBI’s exclusive Art Crime Team. Perhaps most notably, Kelly was the FBI’s lead special agent investigating the infamous 1990 heist at the Isabella Stewart Gardner Museum—by far the largest art theft in history. He was just the man to work in pursuit of stolen masterpieces.

				Radcliffe laid out what he knew of the saga to the savvy street agent, and Kelly went to work investigating the matter. After reviewing evidence including a shipping invoice produced by Radcliffe listing the consignor of four of the paintings in question as Palandjian (who described himself as an “agent of an undisclosed owner”), and the document naming Mardirosian as the owner of Erie International, Kelly was confident he had enough to establish probable cause for the arrest of Mardirosian. Still, the agent recalls being shocked when he heard the Mardirosian radio interview in real time during his commute to work one morning: “I was listening to NPR, as is usual, and I almost drove off the road when I started to listen to Bob Oakes’ interview with Mr. Mardirosian. As I was listening, my cell phone started to go off from a number of my colleagues who were listening to NPR as well.” Kelly recalls that during the radio interview, Mardirosian helped make the FBI’s case against him. “One of the issues I anticipated with regard to a prosecution was proving intent relating to the substantive charge of possessing stolen property,” Kelly later recalled. “It was incredible that Mr. Mardirosian, a defense attorney, was speaking to a reporter on live radio acknowledging that he was aware that the artwork was stolen.”31

				Armed with his findings, Kelly made the short trip from his office in Boston’s Government Center over to the John J. Moakley Courthouse for a meeting with assistant U.S. attorney Jonathan Mitchell, the federal prosecutor assigned to look into the Mardirosian matter.

				Mitchell, a graduate of Harvard and Georgetown Law School who would go on to become the mayor of New Bedford, Massachusetts, had himself heard Mardirosian’s interview with Oakes on WBUR and could hardly believe his ears. “Here was a criminal defense counsel who has told innumerable clients to keep their mouths shut,” Mitchell said, “yet he went on the air and admitted knowing the paintings he held for decades were, in fact, stolen.”32 Like Kelly, Mitchell believed that a crime had been committed and he sent the agent out to interview Mardirosian. When Kelly tried to interview him at his home in Cohasset, he was told that Mardirosian had obtained a lawyer, Jeanne Kempthorne, a one-time federal prosecutor who had served the District of Massachusetts alongside Mitchell years earlier.

				Mitchell contacted his former colleague and arranged a meeting to discuss her client’s plight. Mitchell and Kelly met with the defense counsel at the Moakley Courthouse, and the feds asked Kempthorne if her client was interested in disposing of the case mounting against him. Perhaps, Mitchell posited, a deal could be reached between the government and her client against whom there appeared to be an open-and-shut case. Kempthorne, however, surprised the feds by replying that there was no case to be had against her client. Aware that Mardirosian’s home on the French Riviera made him a serious flight risk, Mitchell asked Kempthorne to have her client turn over his passport as the meeting came to a close. When about a week had passed with no word from Kempthorne about the passport, Mitchell told Kelly to arrest Mardirosian. That’s when the other shoe dropped: Kelly found that, just two days after the meeting between the feds and his lawyer, Robert Mardirosian had departed the United States for France.33

				Nine months passed before Mardirosian finally agreed to come back to the United States. While his return would later be depicted as a voluntary return at the request of the federal authorities from an innocent sojourn, it’s arguable that Mardirosian came home because his passport and visa had expired and he risked running afoul of the French. On February 13, 2007, upon his arrival at Logan International Airport in Boston, Mardirosian was arrested by FBI agents waiting for him in the U.S. Customs and Border Protection inspections hall.

				Less than a week before his return and arrest, FBI agents and Falmouth Police led by Special Agent Kelly went to Mardirosian’s home in Falmouth with a warrant to search the premises. Finding no one within and hoping to avoid unnecessary damage to the home, Kelly contacted Mitchell before making a forcible entry. Mitchell reached out to defense attorneys, who contacted Mardirosian’s 51-year-old son Marc. They called back Mitchell with a curious message: Marc was at Wood’s Hole (about a ten-minute drive) and wouldn’t be back for two hours, so the agents could go ahead and make a forcible entry. One would think that he’d have come straight home given the fact that federal agents with a search warrant were prepared to knock down the door to get inside, but the message from Mardirosian’s son was that it was fine for them to do just that.

				Rather than bust down the door, Kelly popped out a window adjacent to the door, which allowed the team entry. Once inside, they found good reason, one could speculate, for Mardirosian’s son to wish to avoid driving home to unlock the premises. Agents discovered weapons, including two shotguns, a vial of cocaine, and three trash bags containing more than 50 pounds of marijuana—one of the biggest pot seizures in Falmouth history. Like his father, Marc Mardirosian remained at large until authorities were able to track him down.34 But he was not convicted of any wrongdoing.

				The federal trial of Robert Mardirosian began on August 12, 2008. Assistant U.S. attorney Ryan DiSantis provided the direct examination of Michael Bakwin, and the man who was victimized for the better part of three decades by Mardirosian served the prosecution well by coming across as a sympathetic figure. This was no small feat. Yes, Bakwin had been robbed and kept from his prized possessions, but at the same time he also testified that he had sold the Cézanne at auction and walked away with more than $28 million. That’s a figure that could easily alienate some jurors. DiSantis recalls that in order to show the jury that Bakwin, despite his wealth, was a person not so unlike themselves, he had him “describe his early work history at the outset of his direct examination, which included a five-year period in which he worked his way up in the hotel and restaurant business. His jobs during that time included work as a waiter, steward, and chief steward.” In addition, DiSantis spent considerable time doing extensive preparation for the trial with his subject, a fact that left Bakwin more relaxed on the witness stand. “His personality also came through,” DiSantis said, “which I believe allowed him to connect with the jurors.”35

				On the cross-examination of Bakwin, Mardirosian’s defense attorney Kempthorne attempted to put the focus of the case on the victim, but it was for naught. Mitchell called Radcliffe to the stand, and, through the director of the Art Loss Register, Mitchell was able to keep the focus of the trial on Mardirosian and the intricate scam he clumsily constructed to try to squeeze money out of Bakwin. Mitchell skillfully led Radcliffe through a recounting of the underhanded behavior of Mardirosian and the subsequent epic negotiations that had begun back in 1999. The defense had worked hard to characterize Radcliffe as a greedy, unethical opportunist, and only Mitchell’s deft handling of the witness kept them from succeeding.

				The centerpiece of the case, as Mitchell saw it, was established when Mardirosian made his damning statements in his radio interview. WBUR readily handed over the recording to the prosecution without a subpoena, a key development in the case. “Subpoenaing a media outlet requires the approval of the United States Attorney General, which is rarely granted,” Mitchell said, “but WBUR rightly provided it to us.” Why a seasoned defense attorney would make such admissions on air is difficult to understand, but Mitchell has a theory. “At some level and at some point, he had deluded himself with the belief that what he had done was just fine, that he broke no law, and that the entire transaction was lawful. He would have been better off throwing himself on the mercy of the court” than going to trial, the prosecutor believes.36

				In the government’s closing argument, DiSantis delivered a riveting narrative that had the jury on the edge of their seats. At 4:45 p.m. on August 18, 2008, the trial ended with the court in recess for the jury. At 5 p.m. that same day, the jury returned its unanimous verdict: guilty. DiSantis described his feeling when the verdict was read as “satisfying.” He added, “Having a hand in righting a wrong that had persisted for over a generation was a very rewarding experience.”37

				Four months later, Mardirosian was back before the court for sentencing. Judge Mark Wolf sentenced the 74-year-old—who was by now claiming to be suffering from the beginning stages of dementia—to seven years in federal prison for his crime, a substantial penalty that surprised even Michael Bakwin. “He’s my age,” he told journalist Gretchen Voss. “He shouldn’t be in jail. I feel awful. An old guy my age in jail? He should have to pay some other way.”38

				But pay he would. In 2011, a Massachusetts state court ordered Mardirosian to pay Bakwin $3.1 million in damages for the whole sordid affair. It was a final justice for Bakwin, who was finally able to recoup the costs of recovering his possessions. But a question remains in the case: Could Bakwin have circumvented all of the intrigue by going straight to the FBI with a plea for help when the paintings had first surfaced back in 1999? An FBI sting operation, after all, would have cost him nothing at all, and that might have been the best route from the very start for Bakwin. As Kelly said, “I cannot speak for Mr. Bakwin and why he chose to go through [Mardirosian’s] extortionate deal for the Cézanne; however, I’m confident that if the FBI had been allowed to work the investigation to its logical conclusion when it was first brought to our attention [when the Cézanne resurfaced], quite likely, all of the pieces would have been recovered and Mr. Mardirosian would have been identified much earlier as the subject behind the illegal deal.”39 Indeed, the case might have ended much sooner—and at a far lesser cost.

			

		

	
		
			
				Seven

				The Double Dealer

				In the heart of Roslyn Heights, New York, between a psychic reading center and a sports rehabilitation complex sits a newly constructed pale-brick building belonging to the Chabad of Roslyn. The cube-like structure features a prominent Modernist rendering of a menorah extending above the building’s roofline. The impressive menorah is functional, lit each year to celebrate Chanukah. It’s also billed by the Chabad of Roslyn to be one of the tallest menorahs in the world (without exceeding the 30-foot height limit set forth by Jewish law). The Roslyn Chabad movement is the beneficiary of the Ely Sakhai Torah Center at that location, where the faithful may visit for a variety of services, ranging from lectures to Jewish services to adult education. The Torah Center is named for its benefactor, a Jewish émigré from Iran committed to his faith and heritage who was eager to make a mark among his people in his adopted homeland.

				Ely Sakhai1 moved to the United States in 1962 at the age of ten and would go on to donate millions of dollars to Jewish charities. Prone to loud attire and flashy jewelry, the pot-bellied antiques dealer with a thin mustache and dark, receding hair became well known for his philanthropy in Long Island, where he made his home.2 And in addition to his generosity in providing money to support his fellow Jews, in 2009 Sakhai helped to right a wrong committed by the Nazis during World War II.

				In 1940, Adolf Hitler’s forces invaded the previously neutral nation of Belgium. It took the Germans less than three weeks to force the Belgians to surrender, leading to more than four years of Nazi occupation. Finally, in 1944, Canadian and Allied forces liberated Belgium, but not before Nazis had looted art from many families, including one Belgian family that was forced to flee its Ohain apartment in order to seek refuge in the countryside. After the liberation they returned home to find that five oil paintings had been taken by the Nazis, the same fate as so much art throughout Europe. They were left with no other recourse but to file a claim for their missing paintings with the Belgian office for looted art, and the works were listed in the Répertoire d’oeuvres d’art dont la Belgique a été spoliée durant la guerre 1939–1945, a listing of Belgian war losses.3 Among the paintings that were taken was a portrait of their young daughter with her pet rabbit, which they had commissioned to be painted by the famed Belgian artist Anto Carte.

				Carte was a leading Belgian artist who rose to prominence after the First World War. The son of a carpenter, Carte was drawn to decorating at a young age and started evening painting classes before he even reached his teenage years at the Academy of Bergen. He then attended the Royal Academy of Brussels after winning a scholarship and studied under Jean Delville and Constant Montald. While studying theater decoration in Paris, he encountered the work of the great French and Italian painters at the Louvre; he then moved to Italy to paint frescoes. The influence of Italian painters extended to the work of his contemporary, the great Amadeo Modigliani, whose portraiture greatly influenced Carte’s work.4 Carte would come to be considered among the best of what was called the Belgian “new primitive school,” and today his paintings can fetch prices up to the hundreds of thousands of dollars.

				Carte’s rendering of the young daughter, titled Jeune Fille a la Robe Bleue (Young Girl in the Blue Dress) and painted in 1932, depicts the blond, pig-tailed girl holding a small group of flowers and seated on a bench aside her small pet rabbit, the Belgian countryside in the distance. Sadly, the painting was seemingly lost to the world and, perhaps more importantly, to the family—yet another victim of Nazi derangement. Decades passed without as much as a whisper about the location of the precious family heirloom.

				In 1990, Jeune Fille was sold at Christie’s auction in London to an American buyer. Unfortunately, it changed hands without the buyer or the auction house being made aware that the painting had emerged from the dark world of Nazi looted art. Years later, Julian Radcliffe’s London-based Art Loss Register entered the painting into its database of lost and stolen works from the database of Belgian war losses. Then, in November 2008, there was a break: Christopher A. Marinello, then of the ALR and now the director of Art Recovery International, traced the location of the Carte painting to the Long Island gallery owned by Ely Sakhai and his son Andre. Marinello is among the world’s leading experts in the recovery of lost and stolen art. An attorney by trade with decades of experience as both a litigator and recovery specialist, he had already negotiated the return of hundreds of millions of dollars worth of art by the time he took on the challenge of helping to recover Carte’s Jeune Fille. Among these were many important pieces looted by the Nazis, including an El Greco, a Picasso hanging in a Washington, D.C. museum, a Monet being sold by one billionaire to another, and a major work by the British Impressionist Alfred Sisley.

				In order to get Jeune Fille back into the hands of its rightful owners, Marinello reached out to the Department of Homeland Security’s Immigration and Customs Enforcement team at their New York Office of Investigations. ICE was created as part of the reorganization of law enforcement and security agencies after 9/11 and the subsequent creation of DHS. The agency then formed a dedicated unit of special agents under the umbrella of the Cultural Property, Art, and Antiquities program to coordinate investigations related to looted cultural heritage or stolen artwork. Agents assigned to this unit undergo special training to better understand the unique needs inherent to a criminal investigation involving art and cultural property. ICE even brings in the Smithsonian Institution’s Museum Conservation Institute to provide on-site training in the handling, storage, and authentication of art, antiquities, and artifacts. This training program was developed thanks to the work of Senior Special Agent Bonnie Goldblatt, an investigator who had begun her career as a customs agent in 1983 and had spent years working art theft cases for the agency. Goldblatt had experience working investigations relating to the recovery and return of art stolen from museums and individuals during World War II. Based on this experience, she would become ICE’s regional subject matter expert in the field of art and antiquities investigations, working closely with the State Department’s Office of Holocaust Issues.

				Goldblatt’s work involving Nazi looted art began in 1995 when she attended a conference in New York at which the ownership rights of art stolen during World War II was debated. Soon, she would develop many of the participants into sources of her own for work in repatriation. Her first such recovery took place in 2003 and involved the Sefer Yetzira, a rare fourteenth-century kabbalistic manuscript that had been looted by the Nazis from Vienna’s Jewish library. When the manuscript was found listed in the auction catalog of Kestenbaum and Company, Goldblatt jumped into action, and ultimately the auction house voluntarily turned the item over to the authorities.5 So when it came to working to recover the Carte painting, Goldblatt and Marinello were an ideal pair for the mission.

				Though Marinello had traced Jeune Fille to Sakhai’s Long Island gallery, there was a slight problem: the Belgian war losses registry that listed the painting did not, unfortunately, include a photo of Carte’s creation. So he contacted the Belgians directly, and though they couldn’t provide a photo of the painting, they did provide the art recovery specialist with a photo of the young blond girl who was depicted in the painting, seated with her rabbit. The similarity between the photo and the painting was undeniable. He provided the documentation to Goldblatt, who contacted Sakhai and informed him that the painting he had in his possession had been confiscated by the Nazis 65 years earlier and reported as an official war loss by its rightful owners. Sakhai forfeited the painting to its rightful owner—the very same girl whose portrait Carte had painted. Still frightened by the whole experience many decades later, however, the now elderly woman in the painting could not bring herself to come to the ceremony marking its return at the handover ceremony at the Jewish Museum of Belgium on December 1, 2009. Goldblatt told the Jerusalem Post, “The Holocaust left her with such a scar that she was scared if she came out with the painting it would be stolen again.”6

				The recovery of Jeune Fille was far more important for its historic significance than for a big-dollar value. The return of the painting, estimated at a relatively low $15,000, marked an important closing of a sad chapter in one innocent woman’s life. But it would hardly be the last intersection between Nazi looted art and the careers of Marinello and Goldblatt. Rather, the two would continue to work steadfastly to repatriate art stolen during World War II. Marinello, through Art Recovery International, continues to work to recover looted art and is deeply involved with the huge cache of so-called “degenerate art,” including a Matisse, found in the home of the reclusive Cornelius Gerlitt in Munich. (For more on this “degenerate art,” see Chapter 1.) As for Goldblatt, Marinello called her “unlike any civil servant I have ever encountered. . . . She is extremely dedicated and passionate about her work.” And her passion was evident when she said, “Every time I return a Holocaust painting I just get teary-eyed. . . . I’d like to get it all back.”7

				Clearly, art affected the tough, seasoned federal agent in a way perhaps money laundering or drug interdiction might not, inspiring intense commitment and even heroic efforts. Surely, too, the willingness of the art dealer Sakhai to turn over the painting should be ranked as, at the least, magnanimous, if not heroic. After all, he was a victim in a sense too. He had purchased a fine work of art in good faith, believing that its provenance was solid and title clear; yet he parted with his expensive possession voluntarily so that it could be returned to a woman whose life was so adversely affected by the Nazis, just like so many of Sakhai’s Jewish brethren during the Second World War.

				But there was another side to Ely Sakhai, a separate portrait of a dealer who proved not so altruistic. Despite the injustice suffered by the Belgian family at the hands of the most evil anti-Semites in history, Sakhai wasn’t going to walk away from his Anto Carte empty-handed, happy simply to have righted a historic wrong. Instead, Sakhai wanted something in return, ranting about how he, too, was Jewish and suffered as well. Plus, he wanted his purchase price for the painting.8

				That Sakhai would be less than generous in his art dealings is of no surprise, as this restitution affair came on the heels of an elaborate and clever confidence game he created, taking forgery to a whole new level and scamming art collectors living far from his home in Old Westbury, New York.

				Sakhai entered the art market first by working at his brother’s antiques shop in Manhattan. Eventually, he would branch out on his own, opening a shop in which he sold furniture, antiques, and art. But the art Sakhai peddled was not in the league of the storied art galleries of New York, where prices could easily escalate into the tens of millions. Instead, he dabbled in relatively inexpensive items. He did, however, occasionally have an authentic Tiffany lamp for sale. Such lamps can be a rarity in antiques stores: many copies have flooded the market over the past few decades; some copies can be excellent, with the same level of exacting detail forgers put into paintings. Indeed, Tiffany lamps are considered true works of art and can fetch anywhere from a few thousand to over a million dollars. Sakhai made an intriguing observation about the authentic Tiffany lamp he had for sale in his shop—it was identical to a fake he had on a nearby shelf. He considered the two lamps and found them similar in every respect except for the presence of an authenticating label affixed to the base of the true Tiffany. Then he had a thought: if he could duplicate that label and adhere it to the base of much cheaper Tiffany copies, he could sell them as originals at a steep profit. And that he did, making hundreds of thousands of dollars off his crooked scheme.9

				It would have been bad enough had he stopped there. But Ely Sakhai had grander plans. Flush with the earnings he made selling lamps, Sakhai decided to morph from a moderately successful antiques shop owner to a successful art dealer, opening a gallery he named Exclusive Art Ltd. He also began dating and eventually married an affluent Japanese woman with whom he made trips to Japan and learned the practices of art collectors there. Soon he had another brainstorm.

				Sakhai had begun attending art auctions at Sotheby’s and Christie’s around 1990 looking to buy Impressionist and Post-Impressionist works. Some took note of his unusual style of dress, but few noticed him for his purchases. That’s because he focused his efforts on lesser-known, midrange value paintings by renowned artists. Among those popular nineteenth- and twentieth-century figures whose works he bought were Marc Chagall, Claude Monet, Pierre-Auguste Renoir, and the man who had so influenced Anto Carte, Amadeo Modigliani.

				For an artist whose life was cut so tragically short—he died at only 36 years of age of tubercular meningitis—and therefore produced a somewhat limited body of work, Modigliani’s work has been the subject of a great deal of fraud. The famous and prolific forgers Elmyr de Hory and, later, John Myatt, made numerous counterfeit paintings attributed to him, and the problem of tracking Modiglianis is complicated by the fact that he was destitute and often resorted to trading his paintings for food. Furthermore, his mistress, Jeanne Hebuterne, committed suicide just days after his death. Thus, little information about his works remains. Perhaps most startling was the 2012 arrest of Christian Gregori Parisot, the man who headed the Archives Legales Amadeo Modigliani and was once considered one of the world’s most reliable authenticators of the artist’s works. Parisot was nabbed by Italian police after a raid of an exhibition resulted in authorities finding 22 fakes. They would go on to seize 59 fakes from Parisot and his suspected accomplice, art dealer Matteo Vignapiano. In all, it is thought that Parisot had put more than 100 bogus Modiglianis on the art market. Incredibly, Parisot was arrested a few years earlier for fakes he offered for sale as drawings made by Modigliani’s mistress, Hebuterne.10 For that crime, Parisot was convicted and sentenced to two years in jail as well as ordered to pay a fine.11

				Acquiring midpriced masterworks by the likes of Modigliani was only the start of Sakhai’s plan. Just as he cunningly converted cheap copies into authentic Tiffany lamps by affixing counterfeit authentication labels to them, he would substitute copies of master paintings for originals in a heretofore untested scam. Now that he had obtained originals from reputable auction houses like Christie’s and Sotheby’s, he needed to find a way to produce exact duplicates of them. This would be much more difficult than finding a lamp that was similar to a true Tiffany, and would garner much closer inspection than that made by a casual shopper happening into his old antiques store. Now he needed artists with great skill and an equal amount of discretion to work for him.

				In order to obtain talented labor at bargain prices, Sakhai turned to a group often exploited by con men: immigrants to the United States. Aware that Chinese artists receive a great amount of practice copying works as art students, he created a workforce of talented Chinese immigrants. As James Wynne, a highly regarded FBI special agent with vast expertise in the investigation of art crimes, said, “These individuals were professionally trained artists. They all received formal training in oil painting and part of that training involved copying masters.”12 Working for Sakhai was not the break these artists probably hoped for in their quest for a new life in the United States. Instead, he exploited their desperation for money by paying them paltry sums for their works. In a number of cases, Sakhai even sponsored Chinese artists to come to the United States with work visas, and then used their immigration status and economic situation as leverage over them.13 And to keep a close eye on their work and their activities, he set them up in a studio located directly above his art gallery. It was virtually a case of indentured servitude meets high art.

				Sakhai’s plan was criminal genius in its simplicity. Because he was indeed the true owner of the paintings he bought, he held the actual certificates of authenticity. And because he bought them from reputable institutions, his ownership was a true part of each painting’s provenance. Therefore, he could provide a credible authenticating document to potential buyers, giving them the confidence that they were buying the original painting when, in fact, Sakhai was selling them a copy.

				Assistant United States attorney Jane Levine said, “Mr. Sakhai . . . took a number of steps to make the forgeries look like they were actually created in the time period when that artist lived.”14 Committed to making sure his copies were beyond reproach, Sakhai hunted down era-appropriate canvases on which his artists could re-create his paintings, visiting antiques shops around the area to find cheap old paintings. His purchases did not go unnoticed by antiques dealers, leading them to grow suspicious of his intentions. One dealer told New York Magazine, “Everybody who was selling them to him would know what he was doing with them. He wouldn’t care what the painting was.”15 Clearly, he wasn’t buying them for any particular aesthetic appeal, nor was he making an investment. It was as if he were purchasing supplies for some illicit enterprise.

				Another advantage to Sakhai’s scheme was that many of his copies were made from the actual masterwork, not from a printed image, thus resulting in a more believable painting. According to Sharon Flescher, the executive director of the International Foundation for Art Research: “What was so clever in Sakhai’s scheme was that he in fact did own the authentic work. If the fakes were based simply on photographs, you’re always likely to trip yourself up.”16 The copies had to be meticulous, including each and every mark, scar, and abrasion on the painting—and not just on the front of the canvas. He ensured that even the backs of the copies matched the backs of the authentic paintings, an important way to fool someone who has seen the authentic painting or has some expert information about it. He even had his team of artists re-create the frames holding the paintings, paying careful attention to accuracy in terms of appearance and age. As a final step, and in order to keep his copies from appearing to be freshly painted, Sakhai would have a coating applied to some of the forgeries in order to give the paintings a passable patina.

				While he was no artist himself, Sakhai’s eye for a good scam gave him the requisite attention to detail to pull off the multimillion-dollar scheme. Once he was satisfied that his replica would pass muster, he set his sights on what he believed would be the perfect place for his dupes: his wife’s homeland. On trips to Japan, Sakhai noted at the time a surge in interest in Impressionist paintings, and it was no coincidence that Sakhai had bought a number of them. So, in the Land of the Rising Sun he had a market hungry for his art. Further, selling his wares in Japan presented him with a certain level of assurance that if his counterfeit paintings were found out, no fuss would be raised because of the cultural tendency to avoid public embarrassment at all costs. And finally, he would be doing his business quite far from New York, giving him the luxury of distance from his victims. As Special Agent Wynne put it, “I think the Japanese market was a convenient and safe place for him to place these paintings, in fact it was the other side of the world.”17

				While Sakhai’s scheme is thought to have involved hundreds of paintings, some of the most significant involve four Chagalls (La Nappe Mauve; Vase de Fleurs avec Coq et Lune; Les Maries au Bouquet de Fleurs; and Le Roi David Dans Le Paysage Vert), Renoir’s Jeune Femme S’Essuyant, Gauguin’s Vase de Fleurs (Lilas), Monet’s Le Mont Kolsas, and Palaste by Paul Klee. Of course, there was a Modigliani, La Blonde Aux Boucles D’Orielle. But most surprisingly, there was a Rembrandt—The Apostle James.

				While Rembrandt’s paintings have very often throughout history been the subject of thievery, in the modern world of art scams, forged and faked Rembrandts are quite rare. Indeed, such illicit activity is rare when it comes to any classical painting by an Old Master. As the stories of this book illustrate, artists such as Chagall, Dalí, Picasso, Miró, and their contemporaries are far more likely to be used in a widespread, ongoing scam than the likes of Rubens, Botticelli, or Valazquez. That’s not to say that people looking to get rich quick don’t ever attempt to present a never-before-seen Da Vinci of questionable provenance; rather, when con men set their sights on running an ongoing scam while attempting to maintain an air of legitimacy, they often turn to the Impressionists or Abstract Expressionists. The reason is practical rather than aesthetic: it’s easier to paint like an Impressionist or Abstract Expressionist than like Raphael or Vermeer, because it’s a very difficult thing to render, say, the human form or a landscape using different tones and values of paint to create that form. It is far easier to dab different colors of paint on a canvas than to apply it in a smooth, seamless sort of way. Thus, Sakhai’s introduction of Rembrandt’s The Apostle James into his mix of imposter paintings is surprising and somewhat unique, at least since the exposure of Han van Meegeren as a fraud after the Second World War. (For more on van Meegeren, see the Introduction.)

				The reasons are many why Sakhai’s use of a Rembrandt was risky. First, only about a dozen or so Rembrandts come up for sale every decade. As a result, offering up a Rembrandt for sale in Japan, the United States, or indeed anywhere in the world is newsworthy, and attention to a deal is anathema to a con man’s playbook. Second, Rembrandt’s paintings are extremely well known and studied, right down to every last brushstroke. The Rembrandt Research Project, a group that has been putting every work attributed to the great master under the microscope—and more—for more than 40 years works to ascertain whether a painting is, is not, or might be a Rembrandt. They can rather quickly and easily expose a fake, and that’s not the sort of nemesis the con man wants. That august group consists of the world’s best experts in the subject of Rembrandt, and that makes trying to traffic in counterfeits of his paintings especially risky if not downright fatuous. The Rembrandt Research Project—or any skilled paintings conservator or conservation scientist—could quickly determine if a Rembrandt was a fake or forgery by conducting a scientific analysis of the chemical composition and structure of the paint used in the work. Rembrandt’s paints have been analyzed in great detail, and the materials he used are well known, yet not easily replicated. While Sakhai was committed to giving his artists period-appropriate frames and canvases, he did not attempt to re-create Rembrandt’s paints. Furthermore, the craquelure, or cracking pattern, of the centuries-old paint is impossible to copy for any artist, and the appearance and paths of the fissures in the paint serves a purpose for authenticators in a way not dissimilar to how a human fingerprint helps crime investigators identify people.

				Contrast this with the number and frequency with which more contemporary artists have seen their works counterfeited. The works of Jackson Pollock—or those attributed to him—have consistently been the subject of attempts to scam buyers out of millions of dollars. Art such as that produced by Pollock is more difficult to quickly dismiss as a fake or forgery. For one, the materials he used are far more readily available on the market, usually manufactured rather than created in his workshop, as was the case with the Old Masters. Additionally, aged only over decades as opposed to centuries, there is less chance that his works would show a craquelure, as is the case with many classical works such as those by Rembrandt. And of course, it is much easier to replicate a seemingly random series of splatters than the hand skills of a master painter whose brush-stroke technique has mesmerized art historians and connoisseurs for hundreds of years. Said one successful recent forger, a self-taught amateur artist: “I love Monet. The Impressionists are quite easy to do.”18 One would be hard-pressed to find a forger who would say the same about Rembrandt.

				Take for instance the controversy surrounding the so-called Matter paintings. In 2005, filmmaker Alex Matter, whose parents knew Jackson Pollock, unveiled 32 works he claimed were painted by the famous Abstract Expressionist. Though Matter could show that his paintings were authenticated by a Pollock art historian, contrarian views on the authenticity were raised just as suddenly as the works appeared. And in another case, a truck driver by the name of Teri Horton bought a painting for five dollars at a flea market that she believes to be a lost Pollock work. To this day, the debate still rages unresolved regarding whether any of these paintings are Pollocks or cheap knockoffs.

				None of this is to say that Rembrandts are easy to identify. The aforementioned Rembrandt Research Project has labeled a number of works attributed to him as only possibly done by the master himself, with the group unable to come to a consensus. Since many famous Old Masters taught talented students, paintings exist that were executed by understudies and followers that are quite similar in terms of age, technique, materials, and subject matter. Confusing the matter further is the fact that it was not altogether unusual for the master to put just the finishing touches on a picture painted in almost its entirety by an apprentice.

				Still, and without question, attempting to pass off a counterfeit Rembrandt was an incredibly brazen move on Sakhai’s part. But brazen he was, and he did have a certain advantage in his scheme: the legitimate ownership of the authentic painting that he had his artists copy. The authenticity of his Rembrandt, The Apostle James, was not questioned. Nor was the fact that it was purchased by Ely Sakhai from a reputable source. So when he would offer what he purported to be the painting for sale, it didn’t raise questions about authenticity, if only because those interested in the painting perhaps failed to imagine the nefarious scheme of the seller. Thanks in large measure to his travels in the Far East with his wife, Sakhai made it his mission to establish a steady clientele in Tokyo and Taiwan too. And in June 1997, he sold his Rembrandt to the Japanese businessman and art collector Yoichi Takeuchi.

				Takeuchi had been a customer of Sakhai’s since 1992, when he started buying art from him in a complicated deal involving a third party who would later allegedly renege on their part in the purchase of the artwork, leaving Takeuchi with paintings he didn’t want. When Takeuchi accused Sakhai of a “fraudulent plot” against him, Sakhai replied that he, too, was the victim and had filed suit against the third party. Of course, he had not. The summons he showed Takeuchi was bogus.19 With a loan balance still due to Takeuchi, Sakhai made him an offer: he’d sell him The Apostle James for forgiveness of the loan plus $350,000. Takeuchi believed that the painting was authentic, and he would go on to say that he was influenced in his decision to purchase the painting at a dinner in New York with a person who claimed to be a branch manager for Citibank. The Citibank representative, said Takeuchi, certified that the Rembrandt was exhibited in the Metropolitan Museum. So the businessman accepted Sakhai’s offer and made the deal for the Rembrandt.20

				It stands as a testament to an art lover’s desire to believe that he has made a great find and executed a great deal that Takeuchi purchased The Apostle James from Sakhai. In 1992, near the beginning of their business relationship, Takeuchi was furious with Sakhai over another major purchase. Writing in November of that year, he said, “You have delivered about 500 paintings to us with the condition you provide a provenance and certificate for each painting. . . . We feel we cannot do business in trust with you anymore. . . . This case will become a court case in Japan soon. But we feel very sorry that our trust and friendship will end this way. We also point out that you have to provide provenances and certificates regardless of the situation. If you break your promises, you will be prosecuted as an international criminal.”21 Given this inauspicious start to the relationship, it is surprising that Takeuchi would continue to conduct business with a person he so described. Nevertheless, he would go on to make the Rembrandt purchase.

				Shortly after the transaction was made, Takeuchi turned to two experts to examine his prized Rembrandt for the sake of appraising its value. The pair inspected The Apostle James and came to a clear conclusion: the painting was not what it was promised to be. Takeuchi contacted Sakhai to inform him of the news, but the con man remained steadfast: the experts were mistaken, he told his client. As he had done in 1992, Takeuchi wrote to Sakhai accusing him of selling a “forged Rembrandt piece” to him, threatening to contact the authorities and to file a lawsuit against the dealer. “As it was exactly like before,” Takeuchi wrote, “I was tricked again by your performance. . . . Prof. Tanaka has looked closely to examine the painting, and he concluded this painting is totally different from the one . . . Citibank certified.” Takeuchi added that he had “gotten the report of examination by IR [infrared] and X-ray from the world famous restoration authority, Prof. Kuroe. The result . . . also conflicts from what you said.”22

				Perhaps banking on the possibility that Takeuchi was bluffing and would not want to suffer the stigma of being played for a fool, Sakhai did not back down. Instead, he continued to deny that the painting was a fake. As Takeuchi would later describe, Sakhai “remained unruffled.”23 Remarkably, Sakhai played his dupe perfectly. Swayed by Sakhai’s stubborn denial of both Takeuchi’s accusations and the experts’ findings, and the fact that other well-known Japanese buyers had done business with the dealer, he backed down and held on to the Rembrandt. Takeuchi was also buttressed by the fact that Tanaka told him the painting was nonetheless worth about $4.75 million—a curiously high figure for a copy. After all, in 1997, Tanaka wrote to Sakhai, stating that the painting he had sold to Takeuchi was not the authentic The Apostle James and that “the differences between the two” were “easily” detected.24 So despite being exposed by experts and confronted by a powerful buyer, Sakhai was able to walk away from his sale of a copy unscathed. Tanaka’s unusually high valuation of the painting, perhaps a gesture intended to save his client any further embarrassment, also spared Sakhai an earlier comeuppance. But he was far from done, duping an untold number of buyers in Asia and elsewhere. Federal prosecutor Jane Levine would later write that “Sakhai interjected hundreds of forgeries into the international art market.”25

				Call it karma or serendipity, but Sakhai would be undone by circumstances as simple as his scheme was complex. Not content to simply make enormous profits on the fakes he sold to unsuspecting buyers, Sakhai’s greed led him to sell the original authentic works too. When a few years had passed after he sold his fraudulent works, Sakhai would move to sell the real painting. Because he had used the original certificate of authenticity to sell the copies, he would need to have a new certificate issued. Armed with the real painting and clear title and provenance to support him, obtaining authenticating documents was relatively easy.

				One of the originals he decided to sell was Paul Gauguin’s Vase de Fleurs (Lilas). In order to do so he approached Sotheby’s in New York, which promptly listed the painting in their catalog for their spring auction in May 2000. Sotheby’s main competitor, Christie’s, also had a Gauguin for sale in their spring auction catalog: an identical Vase de Fleurs (Lilas). It wasn’t long before the two auction houses communicated with each other and agreed to submit the paintings to an expert to determine whose was the fake. For authentication they turned to Sylvie Crussard of the Wildenstein Institute in Paris.

				Crussard is the coauthor of Gauguin: A Savage in the Making: Catalogue Raisonne of the Paintings (1873–1888) and one of the world’s leading experts on the works of the great French Post-Impressionist. The painting created by Sakhai’s Chinese copyist was considered by the expert to be “so similar in the detail of brush strokes that one would not notice any differences from photographs if one did not suspect the existence of two versions,” and said it would be “impossible to tell which version should be catalogued” from photographs.26 However, Crussard knew that Gauguin would never have copied one of his paintings without making changes, and when the two actual works were put side by side, “all doubts were quickly removed.” Crussard examined not only the brush strokes, but the sides and reverses of the paintings and easily found that despite Sakhai’s best attempts to artificially age the copy, they were vastly different. “One looked old and the other new,” she said. “And no one hesitated” in identifying the authentic painting from the fake.27 The Christie’s version was pulled from its catalog and Sotheby’s sold Sakhai’s original at auction. Unlike the better-known works by Gauguin, which can sell for tens of millions of dollars, Vase de Fleurs brought Sakhai more than $300,000.

				FBI agent James Wynne worked to find the provenance of the fake, which had been sold to a Japanese collector before making its way to Gallery Muse in Tokyo.28 Based on his decades-long experience in investigating art crimes, he was able to determine that the ownership of both the fake and the authentic paintings intersected at one person: Ely Sakhai. Later, more such cases would become known to the bureau. One buyer who purchased a work by the Swiss painter Paul Klee later found that the identical painting was being offered by Sotheby’s. Alarmed, the collector alerted investigators, who tracked those paintings back to Sakhai as well. Soon, thanks to the dogged efforts of Agent Wynne, feds were able to track a dozen such incidents involving Sakhai, beginning 14 years earlier when he bought Marc Chagall’s La Nappe Mauve at Christie’s in London for about $300,000. He fraudulently sold a copy of the painting three years later for nearly a half-million dollars; five years after that, he sold the authentic work for over $30,000 more than he paid for it.29

				Wynne’s work on the case was nothing short of painstaking. In addition to the intense provenance research he completed, he also set about doing stakeouts of Sakhai’s establishment to find who was painting the copies. Said prosecutor Jane Levine, “Jim Wynne was able to identify, locate, and speak to many of the artists that had actually created the forgeries.”30 Once he had interrogated the Chinese artists, Wynne was able to convince them to provide evidence of Sakhai’s scheme. The artists gave Wynne photographs documenting the copies they had made. Said Wynne, “To me this was the most significant event in the history of the case, because we now had Mr. Sakhai commissioning, ordering, orchestrating the entire scheme.”31

				On March 9, 2004, Ely Sakhai was arrested in his gallery in New York on federal mail and wire fraud charges by James Wynne and a number of his fellow FBI agents. Three months later, a Southern District of New York grand jury indicted Sakhai on those charges as well as the related conspiracy. A September 2004 statement to stockholders of another of Sakhai’s business ventures, Australian-Canadian Oil Royalties, declared that Sakhai had been indicted but that he, as the company’s president and director, “vigorously” denied the charges.32 That vigorous denial didn’t last long. As happens with so many art fraud con men, Sakhai realized the government’s case against him was rock solid and pleaded guilty on November 29, 2004, to the conspiracy and mail fraud charges. He also agreed to an enormous restitution agreement that would require him to repay $12.5 million to his victims in addition to the forfeiture of 11 paintings.

				At his sentencing, Judge Loretta A. Preska sentenced Sakhai to 41 months in a federal penitentiary. Yoichi Takeuchi attempted to sue Sakhai in a New York federal court for damages related to the sale of the phony Rembrandt painting, but he was unsuccessful due to the statute of limitations on his case. He is not alone in his loss. As Sakhai’s prosecutor Jane Levine has written, despite a six-year intensive investigation into Sakhai’s wide-ranging fraud, “we do not know and may never know the full scope of the crime and the damage caused.” She added that the damage done by Sakhai “will reverberate in the art world for many years to come,” because Sakhai’s copyists made hundreds of copies for him that are still out there in the hands of unsuspecting dupes, all wanting to believe they have the real thing.33

			

		

	
		
			
				Eight

				The Bait and Switch

				The late publisher Malcolm Forbes was one of the great collectors in American history. His was an eclectic taste: he amassed toy soldiers, autographs, and, most famously, Fabergé eggs, for which he had a fascination that began in his youth. He also collected historic documents, purchasing the expense account that Paul Revere submitted after alerting the townspeople of the coming of the “Regulars,” as well as a note handwritten by Abraham Lincoln. While Forbes was also a collector of art and favored military depictions while eschewing abstract art, perhaps the art he loved most was the art of collecting. “If anyone should seek my advice about collecting,” he said, “I’d quickly point out the old truth—buy only what you like. Measure a work by the joy and satisfaction it will bring.”1

				After Forbes’s death, most of his collection was sold over time, and little today remains of what he so passionately collected. Even his treasured Fabergé eggs would eventually be auctioned off, along with his paintings. While his art collection was certainly valuable, it did not rival that of other families known for their wealth. “My interest is not that of an academic collector,” Forbes said. “I didn’t grow up exposed to old masters. My father didn’t found the Mellon museum.” Instead, his artistic tastes veered toward trompe l’oeil, or “trick the eye” works—artistry so meticulously detailed that it made the two-dimensional appear three-dimensional.2

				Forbes, then, would likely have appreciated the work of the Los Angeles–area artist Maria Apelo Cruz, a trompe l’oeil artist whose ability to create classic reproductions has garnered her elite clients from LA and Beverly Hills who are looking to restore intricate works of art on items ranging from antique furniture to large murals. Elements of Living magazine reported in 2005 that Cruz, classically trained as a painter, kept herself busy by copying the styles of long-dead painters. “I love to recreate what I find most beautiful. Luckily for me enough people have a need for my particular skill.”3

				One such person was Tatiana Khan, the owner of the Los Angeles art gallery Chateau Allegré. The then 65-year-old Khan had spent over four decades in the business of buying and selling art and approached the talented artist with a commission. She showed Cruz a photograph of a pastel drawing by Pablo Picasso and offered her $1,000 to make an exact replica of the work. The drawing was needed for a noble cause, explained Khan, whose appearance was that of a much older woman. A client of hers had owned the original, she said, until it was stolen from the client’s home along with some jewelry. In order to catch the thief, the police needed an exact copy to use as a prop, so Khan was willing to provide the artist the exact dimensions of the original. Understanding that she’d be helping the authorities to recover a work by a true master, Cruz accepted the job and went to work duplicating the work.4

				As a first step, Cruz took the photo Khan provided her to a copy store in Van Nuys and enlarged the image in the photo to the size prescribed by the art dealer (30.5 × 23 cm). Then, back in her Sherman Oaks studio, she merely traced the image in the photo onto paper and used pastels to add the appropriate color. The original work consisted of varying shades of blue with touches of yellow, gray, and rouge, and it took Cruz only two weeks to copy. When she was done, Cruz had a dilemma: as an ethical artist, her practice upon completion of a copy of such a work would be to sign it with her own name followed by “after” and the artist’s name, in this case “after Picasso.” But since it was her belief that the piece was to be used as a prop in a ruse conducted by the police, she contacted Khan and sought her guidance. Cruz was told to sign Picasso’s name only, and she did as she was instructed.

				There was no reason that Cruz should not trust Khan. The two had a preexisting positive relationship, and Khan had her admirers in the community. A professional associate spoke of her practice of putting concern for her clients over any desire for a “quick sale.” Members of her family spoke of her big-hearted nature, calling her “the family angel” who provided an unemployed sister living out of state with large sums of money for her cancer treatment. Even former Nevada attorney general George Chanos attested to her character, describing Khan’s actions as a businesswoman as “evidencing a caring and compassionate soul, someone who cared more about doing the right thing than making a sale.”5

				Perhaps it was this reputation that led buyers to Tatiana Khan. One buyer from Beverly Hills had been purchasing “collectibles and other decorative items” from Khan for years. Most of these items were those that Khan told the buyer she was selling from Malcolm Forbes’s collection. This was nothing new, according to Khan, who said that most of the items she had for sale were obtained from a London dealer involved in moving Forbes’s collection. Another customer bought four items from Khan for about $4,000, all of which were let go at a great deal in order to clear space in Chateau Allegré for the entire Forbes collection, which Khan said she had purchased. Clearly, Khan’s connection to the collectibles from Malcolm Forbes’s estate was a key selling point for her business.

				It was this sort of cachet that led Jack K. to bring his business associate, Vic S., to Khan’s gallery on La Cienega Boulevard in Los Angeles in July 2006.6 Vic, who had been making investments with Jack for around a decade, was in the market for Impressionist paintings, and since some of his investments with Jack had included art purchases through Chateau Allegré, he met with Khan in person to discuss the sort of items he was seeking. Khan told the investors she might be able to accommodate their needs since she was in possession of artwork from the Forbes estates for sale. Because of a conflict within their family, Khan explained, the Forbeses were desirous of handling the sale of their works privately. As a result, the works from the Forbes Collection were available below market value. As proof of her connection to the Forbes family, Khan opened a book in her shop and showed Vic the signature of Malcolm Forbes inside. It was a strong sales pitch by an experienced dealer.

				Aware that there was money to be made selling Impressionist works to the pair, Khan began to seek some high-value pieces and contacted Frederick Hudson of Frederick Hudson Fine Art in New York City. Hudson is a reputable art broker capable of connecting buyers and sellers of art, and Khan was seeking to be connected to people looking to sell Impressionist works that she could then sell to Jack and Vic. Hudson went to work reaching out to his contacts to get photos of art that met the needs of the two investors. He sent what he had to Khan.

				Included in the pile of photos that Hudson delivered to Khan was a painting by the esteemed Jewish Modernist Marc Chagall titled Le Bouquet Sur le Toit, an untitled work by the Dutch American master Willem de Kooning, and a drawing by Picasso called La Femme au Chapeau Bleu (The Woman in the Blue Hat). Of the three, Hudson was only able to provide certificates of authenticity for the Chagall and de Kooning. She took special notice of these as good prospects for her client-investors, and asked Hudson to seek the certificate of authenticity for the Picasso.

				The asking price from the private European owner of La Femme au Chapeau Bleu was $1.35 million, but the absence of provenance was a sticking point for Khan. Hudson contacted his counterpart who represented the Picasso’s owner but was unable to obtain an authenticating document. Though Khan said she had a buyer lined up for the Picasso, she and Hudson spoke no further about the drawing. Khan came up with a solution of her own: she visited her trompe l’oeil artist, Maria Apelo Cruz, with her story about the theft and the need for the pastel drawing for a police operation.

				Weeks later, Khan called Hudson with “something to tell him that he wouldn’t believe.”7 Incredibly, she said that during a visit to a client’s home she saw the exact Picasso pastel about which she had previously inquired, and she intended to get it to show to him. Soon thereafter, Khan again called Hudson, this time inviting him to come to Chateau Allegré to see the Picasso. When he arrived, he saw that Khan had not only miraculously acquired the pastel, but she also was able to get the provenance she needed. She explained that on a trip to Palm Springs she was able to obtain La Femme au Chapeau Bleu, along with its certificate of authenticity, which the former owner had kept in her safe deposit box after inheriting an art collection from her father. In addition, Khan told Hudson that she obtained the work in a trade, giving the Palm Springs woman a large-scale European sculpture that had been in her garden.

				Something about the pastel apparently didn’t seem exactly right to Hudson. The experienced art broker, unaware of Khan’s scheme, advised her to contact Sotheby’s to discuss the Picasso because of the similarity between the work she had and the one that the auction house had previously sold for $900,000. Thinking that this could not be one and the same as the image he had sent her in a photograph, Hudson posited to Khan that perhaps Picasso made two versions of the work. If this was the case, her work could draw attention in the art world—and that attention could conceivably increase its value. Curiously, Khan was not only uninterested in pursuing such information, she told Hudson “not to say anything about it and to leave the matter alone.”

				While Khan’s Picasso only raised questions in the mind of Frederick Hudson, Jack and Vic were impressed with the pastel, which they believed had been created by the storied artist in 1902. They entered into an agreement to purchase it from Khan in 2006 for $2 million. Just a few days later, Khan provided the investors with an appraisal listing the value of La Femme au Chapeau Bleu at $5 million. Vic saw an opportunity to profit from investments in art through Khan’s access to the Forbes Collection, and he set out to form a collective of investors with whom he could gather up valuable Forbes pieces at bargain prices. As part of this venture, Vic gave Khan deposits on the untitled de Kooning and a Renoir from Chateau Allegré, but those deals later fell through.

				In 2007, nearly eight months after buying the phony Picasso, Vic decided that it was time to sell it and realize some profit from his investment. He called Jack and informed him of his decision to sell the piece. Jack brought the pastel to Khan’s gallery, where it sat for 17 months unsold. From time to time, the art dealer would contact the owners to say that she had received offers on the purported Picasso, but these were merely creations of her imagination, devised in order to keep the investors at bay.

				Soon the pressure on the owners to sell the pastel intensified. The financial crisis of 2007–08 forced Vic’s hand, and he met with a financial adviser to discuss his investment portfolio. As a first step, the financial adviser told Vic to compile a complete inventory of his assets and their itemized values. Apparently not content with a June 2008 appraisal produced by Khan placing the value of the pastel at $5 million, he brought his version of La Femme au Chapeau Bleu to the Silverman Gallery in Beverly Hills. After examining the piece, the Silvermans were concerned about its authenticity and referred Vic to Dr. Enrique Mallen, a professor of Spanish and art history at Sam Houston State University.8 Mallen is a respected expert on the subject of Pablo Picasso and is the general editor of the On-line Picasso Project. The site boasts more than 24,000 artworks in its digital catalogue raisonné and bills itself as “the most comprehensive, authoritative resource on the life and works of Pablo Picasso.”9 Mallen examined what he described as “substantial photographic and textual evidence”10 to compare the Khan Picasso with the pastel that in 1990 had been sold at auction by Sotheby’s in New York. “I immediately knew where to look for comparison since the original artwork is a known pastel, which some identify as a portrait of Jane Avril,” Mallen recalled. “After comparing the two artworks closely, it did not take long to see the similarities and discrepancies.”11 Connoisseurship was undoing the scheme. Mallen’s conclusions were nothing short of damning: not only wasn’t the Khan pastel the same work auctioned by Sotheby’s, it was “not by the hand of Pablo Picasso.” The professor had also found troubling the fact that the signatures on the two works were “to all intents and purposes, identical,” explaining that Picasso’s signatures during the time the original piece was produced “varied considerably.”12 Thus, the Khan pastel could not even have been a separate version created by the master, since the signatures would not have been identical. Instead, their similarity pointed toward a copy.13 Further, as Mallen later stated, “Picasso has never copied himself. He was even quoted as saying that the worst thing an artist can ever do is copy himself.”14

				Picasso himself once said that “it is not enough to know an artist’s works. One must also know when he did them, why, how, in what circumstances . . . I attempt to leave as complete a documentation as possible for posterity.”15 Clearly, in this instance, his signing technique at the turn of the twentieth century left documentation that protected his legacy. He once refused to sign one of his paintings for a woman, telling her, “If I sign it now, I’ll be putting my 1943 signature on a canvas painted in 1922. No, I cannot sign it, madam, I’m sorry.”16

				Despite this apparent attention to detailing authenticity, however, Picasso’s works have been the subject of rampant art crimes. According to Claudia Andreiu, the legal counsel for the Picasso Administration—the organization responsible for handling permissions and rights for the artist’s works—“Authenticity is a huge issue and is more and more complex, especially with all the fakes and forgeries and all the undocumented works coming into the market in the last few years.”17 This cache of questionable works can often be difficult for experts to authenticate. One of the complicating factors is the absence of an exhaustive catalogue raisonné, due in part to the fact that the artist was so remarkably prolific. While the On-line Picasso Project’s catalogue size is impressive, it accounts for less than half of his more than 50,000 works.

				Moreover, in 2012 the Art Loss Register announced that according to its stolen art database, Picasso’s works have been stolen more than those of any other artist. The ALR reported that there are 1,147 stolen Picassos, outpacing the second-most-stolen artist—American painter Nick Lawrence—by more than 2 to 1.18

				Picasso’s link to art crime is not only as victim. In 1911, when arguably the most famous painting in the world, Leonardo Da Vinci’s Mona Lisa, was stolen from the Louvre, a young Pablo Picasso was considered a prime suspect, along with his associate, the poet Guillaume Apollinaire. As it turned out, Picasso’s connection to a roguish character named Honoré Joseph Géry Pieret—who himself had pilfered some objects from the Louvre—was the cause for the suspicion cast upon him and he was, of course, eventually removed from the list of suspects.19

				Stolen paintings were on the mind of Canadian journalist Joshua Knelman when he was tagging along with legendary LAPD art crime detective Don Hrycyk and his partner as Knelman did research for his book Hot Art: Chasing Thieves and Detectives through the Secret World of Stolen Art. Coincidentally, the author and Hrycyk encountered Tatiana Khan in her home in Los Angeles. Knelman described the scene:

				The detectives walked around to the rear of the house. They found a door in the fence and slipped into the back garden, which was full of statues and plants packed tightly together. A narrow path led to a back door. They knocked. A Hispanic caregiver answered and invited them inside. The back hallway opened into a yawning room, two floors high. The room was packed full of antiques and paintings. It was chaotic; it looked like the piled-up remains of what once was a thriving antiques business. An old woman sat in a chair near a row of television screens filled with images from cameras. . . . Before they left, both Hrycyk and [his partner] had noticed what looked like a Picasso perched carelessly on a cluttered sofa. They inquired about it, and the woman told them it was a genuine Picasso worth a huge sum of money. Hrycyk surreptitiously took a photo of the painting with his cell.20

				That Hrycyk would have a sixth sense about the work is not unusual. For more than 20 years, he has investigated art theft and forgeries for the Los Angeles police and is arguably the best investigator ever to work art crime cases. While most cops would probably have believed they had stumbled upon some sort of eccentric—or deluded—Miss Havisham character, Hrycyk knew something was amiss with the work. But it wasn’t until another law enforcement officer with a strong background in investigating fraud was on the case that Khan’s scheme would fall apart.

				Because of Dr. Mallen’s findings declaring the Picasso pastel La Femme au Chapeau Bleu sold by Tatiana Khan a fake, the matter was referred to the Federal Bureau of Investigation and placed in the able hands of Special Agent Linda English. English had spent nearly 20 years with the FBI when she was assigned the case. With an expertise in fraud and financial crimes investigations, she was well equipped to look into a forgery scam involving millions of dollars in investments. Earlier, she had been the lead agent whose dogged investigative work cracked a major financial fraud scam involving a real estate investor who concocted an elaborate Ponzi scheme through which she convinced 600 people to invest $18 million in foreclosed properties. She also brought down an even larger Ponzi scheme—second only to that of Bernie Madoff—when her work led to the arrest of Reed Slatkin, one of the cofounders of EarthLink. Slatkin had left his ministry in the Church of Scientology to prey upon investors, including some members of his former flock and Hollywood celebrities, ultimately bringing in nearly $600 million from his dupes. English’s work on these cases was noteworthy enough to warrant two segments on the CNBC television show American Greed.

				English went to work scouring Khan’s financial records, and she contacted former customers who told of their experiences buying from Chateau Allegré under the impression that they were buying items from the Forbes Collection. She examined wire transfers to confirm payments from Vic and Jack for the pastel, and then twice met with Tatiana Khan herself at her home and gallery in Los Angeles.

				The investigator found Khan to be “sickly,” with an oxygen machine and severe scoliosis, and her gallery “packed full with antiques and furniture.” English—who had interviewed countless scam artists in her career—was quickly onto Khan’s scheme, though she did think Khan “was a good liar,” as she recalled, “and used her frailties to her benefit.”21 Also aware that Khan had used the Forbes Collection provenance to establish her bona fides when selling Vic and Jack the fake Picasso, English asked Khan how she came to acquire the piece. The art dealer told the FBI agent an entirely different story than the one she used to make the sale to the pair of investors. This time, Khan stated that she obtained the pastel from a woman named Rusica Sakic Porter around 2005. According to Khan, Porter was an aesthetician she had met when one of her gallery employees visited Porter for a facial across the street from Chateau Allegré. As is the case in many provenance scams, Khan used war to explain the artwork’s dicey history, saying that Porter’s family purchased the work before the Bosnian War. Khan told English that Porter borrowed $40,000 from her and gave her the Picasso as collateral for the loan.

				Khan developed the story even further, telling the FBI agent that she had a document she obtained from Porter. She retrieved it and handed it to the investigator, and explained that she had cut the top of the page off because it had the price paid by Porter’s family—$300,000—on it. In order to get a current market value for the work, Khan claimed she contacted Christie’s and Sotheby’s and received values ranging from $2 million to $5 million. Nevertheless, she sold it to Jack and Vic at the low end of that range in order to move it quickly.

				Khan’s story became more elaborate still. She told English that after she sold the Picasso, she told Porter that she would determine how much money she owed to her from the sale. Because she was soon departing for a trip to Bosnia, Porter told Khan to pay her bills for her while she was away and upon her return they would make arrangements to settle their finances. However, about a year after her return from Bosnia, Porter died, according to Khan.

				English discussed with Khan her claims about selling items from the Forbes Collection. Khan admitted that she was being sued by two former clients about falsely representing that the items she had sold them came from the Forbes Collection. In a departure from what she had told others, Khan told English that she had merely sold a cabinet and some books with Forbes’s stamp in them.

				Now Khan had provided two completely disparate provenances for the pastel, neither of which was based in the truth. But the truth was known by English, who described the dealer as “the consummate con.”22 On October 8, 2009, English interviewed Frederick Hudson, the art broker who had originally supplied the photo of the available—and authentic—Picasso La Femme au Chapeau Bleu. During his meeting with the FBI agent, Hudson was forthcoming about his interactions with Khan related to the Picasso, from the moment he sent her the images of available art to her seemingly serendipitous stumble upon the pastel at the home of a woman in Palm Springs. While meeting with Hudson, English reviewed provenance information held by Hudson for the works he was dealing. She noticed that the record Khan produced, which had allegedly belonged to the Porter family from prewar Bosnia, matched Hudson’s records perfectly but for Hudson’s letterhead graphic at the top—the portion that was ostensibly cut off by Khan to remove the original price. English clearly had damning evidence in the case: an apparently forged record of ownership and the third provenance story that Khan had used. This, combined with the findings made by Mallen of the On-line Picasso Project, made it clear that Khan knowingly was shopping a fraudulent piece of art. English now had all she needed to make her case against Khan. But one question remained: Where did it come from?

				Special Agent English didn’t have to wait long to find the answer to that question. The very next day after she interviewed him in person, Frederick Hudson telephoned her with a piece of information that he recalled in the hours since their meeting. Once, he recounted, when he was at Chateau Allegré, he was introduced to an art restorer named “Maria,” a trompe l’oeil artist who had regularly worked with Khan. Hudson told the investigator he was shown a book of her work and that he found Maria’s work was “remarkable.”23

				English tracked down Maria Apelo Cruz based on Hudson’s information, and because her years of investigating complex fraud schemes had taught her the value of meticulously examining all of the data before her. After she had gone through the larger entries in Khan’s financial records and ledgers, she moved to the smaller expenditures and followed up with the individuals with whom Khan had dealt. She came across a $1,000 payment to Cruz and paid her a visit. After discussing some furniture that Cruz had restored for Khan, English had a question for the artist: “Have you ever seen the painting The Woman in the Blue Hat?” Cruz’s response took the seasoned agent aback: “I painted that.”24

				English said she was in “complete shock” when she learned that Cruz had been the artist of the phony Picasso, especially because of the paltry sum she had been paid for creating a work that sold for well over a million dollars. While the FBI agent had been involved in cases involving many millions of dollars, this was her first art case, and the nuances of the art world—both legitimate and illicit—were new to her. Now she was studying up on details like provenance and the authentication of paintings. So while an agent from the bureau’s Art Crime Team might not be surprised to hear that an unwitting forger was paid only $1,000 for a painting, it was news to English. And that’s not to say that the fake wasn’t well done: English would later recall that the prosecutor on the case, an art aficionado herself, considered Cruz’s copy to be “beautiful.”25

				The artist, who English found to be “very credible,”26 went on to tell of Khan’s visit and commission to reproduce the pastel in order to help the police trick a thief. And then Cruz described a later visit from Khan in which the dealer predicted the FBI agent’s visit on the topic of the pastel. Cruz informed English that Khan instructed her to lie to the FBI—a federal crime—by stating that she hadn’t copied any art for her. Instead, Khan said, Cruz should simply say that she had restored art for her. She then went a step further and told Cruz to falsify her invoice for the work by indicating that the $1,000 fee was for retouching work on a primitive painting. Cruz told Khan that the request made her feel uncomfortable and refused to take the invoice back in order to make changes. Concerned about what she was hearing, and unwilling to run afoul of the law, Cruz asked where her copy was and Khan was cryptic, saying that she had given it to a friend.

				In order to cover all of her bases, English continued to hunt down possible leads she found in Khan’s financial records. Though the majority of the items Khan sold were antiques and furniture, she had bought and sold enough paintings to lead the investigator to create a spreadsheet listing them and their provenance in order to ensure that this affair was not part of a larger scheme.27 After English had tracked each of them down and completed her work examining Khan’s finances, it was time for the bureau to move on Tatiana Khan.

				Khan’s attempt to get Cruz to falsify the invoice and mislead the FBI constituted witness tampering, and the false provenance story she gave to English during the interview constituted providing false statements to the FBI. Further, the electronic financial transactions she conducted with Vic and Jack constituted wire fraud. So, on the morning of January 8, 2010, federal agents visited the home of Tatiana Khan and presented her with a summons directing her to appear in federal court for an initial appearance nearly three weeks later. During a search of her home, investigators came upon a de Kooning painting that she purchased with the ill-gotten gains from the counterfeit Picasso. As a result, the feds seized the $720,000 painting from the home.28

				The charges against Khan brought with them a maximum sentence of 45 years in federal prison. Now approaching 70 and in ill health, Khan and her attorneys decided to accept responsibility for her crime in what would have been a slam-dunk case for prosecutors. It was a wise move: federal probation officers responsible for compiling a pre-sentence recommendation to the judge cited her extremely poor health as a reason for a downward departure in the sentencing guidelines for her crimes. Sparing the government a trial would also spare Khan a long sentence.

				Khan’s attorneys, James Spertus and Amanda Touchton, described her extensive cardiac and respiratory problems as not only cause for a sentence of probation, but as the reason for her crime. “Ms. Khan will not survive any sentence of imprisonment. Ms. Khan committed the crimes of conviction while suffering from extreme financial pressures that resulted from overwhelmingly large medical bills. Ms. Khan has no medical insurance, she turned 70 this year, and she [is] under a crushing debt from staggeringly high medical bills.”29 Federal prosecutors did not put up much of a fight to put Khan away for a substantial amount of time, and she was sentenced to five years’ probation. There was, however, an additional component of the sentence: $2 million in restitution. Toward that end, Khan agreed that the de Kooning painting, which had been seized by federal agents under asset forfeiture rules, should be turned over to Vic, who would inform the court of her cooperation with regard to restitution.30

				Less than a year after sentencing, Khan filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy. It was an unceremonious end for an art dealer who once moved paintings valued in the hundreds of thousands. In her Bankruptcy Schedule B, Khan listed her antiques inventory as being valued at more than $6 million. The U.S. Trustee assigned to the case, Jason Rund, aware of her conviction and fearing that her information might be unreliable, decided to investigate this appraisal further. He contacted two reputable appraisers who informed him of the actual value of the inventory: $750,000. With her business gone, it would prove to be the last exaggerated appraisal Tatiana Khan would ever make.

				
			

		

	
		
			
				Nine

				The Printmaker

				The famed art critic Robert Hughes once declared Modernist painter Marc Chagall to be “the quintessential Jewish artist of the twentieth century.”1 Born Moishe Shagal in Russia in 1887, Chagall’s Jewish heritage is evident in many of his creations. He produced a large number of works inspired by the Bible, and while he didn’t shy away from Christianity—his White Crucifixion was said to be a favorite of Pope Francis—the emphasis of his religious oeuvre was certainly the Jewish experience.2 He describes the intersection between his religion and art in his autobiography, My Life: “In short, this is painting. Every Saturday Uncle Neuch put on a talis, any talis, and read the Bible aloud. He played the violin like a cobbler. Grandfather listened to him dreamily. Rembrandt alone could have fathomed the thoughts of the old grandfather, butcher, tradesman and cantor, while his son played the violin . . .”3

				While perhaps best known for his paintings, Chagall worked in a wide array of mediums, including sculptures, tapestries, and ceramics. His skill with stained glass was such that his windows adorn synagogues, a number of cathedrals, and the United Nations building in New York, where he created a window titled Peace dedicated to the memory of the late UN secretary-general Dag Hammarskjöld. After 1966, Chagall did very little painting and instead concentrated on making stained glass. He also turned to the creation of engravings on copper, but despite these efforts, this period of his career would become best known for his lithographs, a skill for which he is widely admired. Chagall learned the art of lithography at the atelier of Fernand Mourlot, a printmaker who was the key force behind the rebirth of lithographs after World War II. Charles Sorlier, who had been one of his teachers at Mourlot’s studio, would soon describe Chagall as “an absolute master of the technique,” and the artist spent years practicing his craft.4

				At about this time, Chagall produced The Story of Exodus, a book consisting of 24 vividly colored lithographs measuring about 19.5 × 14.5 inches. Two hundred eighty-five signed portfolios were produced, with 250 of them numbered and printed on Velin d’Arches. Copies of The Story of Exodus are today quite valuable, with one realizing a price of $40,000 at a Christie’s auction in October 2011.5 Chagall’s publisher was Leon Amiel, a successful New York publisher with strong ties to the Modernist art community. Though he published dozens of books on art covering artists like Paul Klee, Joan Miró, and Wassily Kandinsky, as well as works on Judaism and the Holy Land, his involvement with Chagall’s The Story of Exodus was more than just that of a businessman selling a product. Like Chagall, Amiel was dedicated to his Jewish roots and published a wide array of works on Judaica, from tomes on Hebrew manuscripts to books on Jewish cuisine. The two collaborated on an illustrated Haggadah—a prayer book for the Passover service, and according to Amiel, it was during this work that he inspired Chagall to create his Exodus series of paintings.6

				Leon Amiel’s connection to legendary Modernists is impressive. In addition to his close relationship with Chagall (he would later write a book titled Homage to Chagall), the New Jersey–based publisher with a mansion in Long Island was friends with a number of other well-known artists. Picasso created a work in red, green, yellow, and purple pencil titled Visage de faune (Pour Leon Amiel) in 1957. Similarly, Salvador Dalí produced his own Pour Leon Amiel, a work in black and blue and including the Surrealist’s trademark melting clock. Amiel was also a friend of the innovative and influential Joan Miró and published many volumes on the artist.

				Amiel, a heavyset man with large plastic-framed glasses and an even larger smile, has been described as “a major force in the art world,” hobnobbing with a veritable who’s who of artists from his period and rising to the upper echelon in the world of fine art publishing.7 By the mid-1980s, it was estimated that he was worth upward of $40 million. And a great deal of the fortune he was amassing was earned through the sale of the art prints he was producing at his publishing enterprise in Secaucus, New Jersey. Perhaps the key to his success was the modern and efficient printing presses he imported in the 1970s that utilized photography and color separation. These machines allowed him to produce thousands of lithographs per hour, while the traditional method of using lithographic stone produced just 30 in the same time.8

				The creation of lithographs and serigraphs can be divided into three categories. First, lithographic and serigraphic prints are most valuable when they are produced as part of an original limited edition print. This category of prints must be created under the artist’s supervision in order to meet the standard of ethics of the art industry. These prints are then signed and numbered by the artist as proof of their acceptance of the edition, and the artist sometimes reserves a small percentage of them for his own use or for use by a publisher. Referred to as “artist’s proofs,” these are identified by the designations H.C. (hors de commerce, or “not for sale”), or E.A. (épreuve d’artiste, or “artist’s proof”) or A.P. (also meaning “artist’s proof”), usually in place of the edition number. Second, “afters” are copies of an original work made by others with the artist’s permission. These copies have only nominal value in the decorative art market. And third, there are unauthorized reproductions of an artist’s works, or works made to resemble what an artist might have created, made without the consent or involvement of the artist. If these works carry the artist’s signature, they are considered forgeries.9

				While things were going well for Leon Amiel’s business, associates of his in the world of print dealing, Carol Convertine and her husband Martin Fleischman, had reason to worry. In 1986, their business, Carol Convertine Galleries, was raided by New York state authorities investigating them for using misleading sales tactics to peddle counterfeit art to investors via a telephone marketing scheme. Although Convertine Galleries boasted a Madison Avenue address that situated it near Museum Row, all of the Convertine sales were made by telephone through scripted salespeople who could reap 25 percent commissions for each sale. The script used by the print pushers made the claim to potential investors that art historically appreciated in value at a rate better than stocks, oil, diamonds, or rare stamps.10 The climate was ripe for convincing potential buyers that they could expect their investments to appreciate dramatically and quickly. Before Convertine and Fleischman would be brought to trial, Van Gogh’s Sunflowers would sell for $39.9 million—a then record auction price for a single painting. The prior high-water mark for a painting at auction was nearly $30 million less.11 This market, combined with the ever-present desire for investors to believe they have found the opportunity of a lifetime, ensured that the Convertine operation didn’t disappoint its principals, grossing $1.2 million from the sale of about 2,000 poster-quality prints that they had bought for as little as $30 and sold for up to $3,000 by falsely portraying them as original lithographs by Dalí, Chagall, and Picasso. However, the scam also ultimately brought prison sentences for Convertine and Fleischman, who were charged with securities fraud because they sold the prints as investments.12

				The Convertine prosecution was unique in that it amounted to the nation’s first felony convictions against what was described as a “telephone boiler-room gallery.”13 At the heart of the case was an exploding trade in questionable fine art prints, and it would soon lead to investigations that would rock the art world.

				Leon Amiel’s name would surface as a result of the Convertine case when he acknowledged that “some of” the fake lithographs had come from him. Speaking to the New York Times, Amiel explained that the Dalí lithographs he had provided were not fakes at all; rather, they were “lithographic interpretations” of Dalí’s original works.14

				Provenance for Dalí’s works has been the subject of great scrutiny, and the ways in which his prints have become among the most faked in the world are as bizarre and difficult to believe as some of the surreal pieces he created. For instance, in the late 1970s, Dalí was paid $400,000 by a publisher named Lyle Stewart to produce illustrations for a series to be called Tarot Cards. When Dalí gave Stewart his completed illustrations, the publisher was unimpressed with the works and decided not to produce Tarot Cards and demanded a refund. When Dalí refused to give back the $400,000, Stewart filed a lawsuit. In an unusual resolution to the case, the judge ordered Dalí to sign 17,000 blank sheets of paper on which Tarot Cards would have been printed so that Stewart could sell the package and recover his losses. Dalí, following the judge’s orders, signed all 17,000 sheets under the watchful eye of an attorney.15 There were now thousands of sheets of printing paper bearing the signature of the artist without also including his artwork. Anything could have been printed on it.

				Incredibly, the situation got even worse. Stewart sold the blank sheets to Peter J. “Captain” Moore, a former assistant to Dalí whose relationship with the artist had soured. Moore sold the cache of signed blank sheets to three publishers in Paris. Then, according to A. Reynolds Morse, the founder of the Salvador Dalí Museum in St. Petersburg, Florida, Moore realized “if he could sell 17,000 sheets, he could sell 40,000.” Soon, Moore began forging a large but untold number of signed blank sheets and selling them for $40 apiece to French publishers. The scam was finally discovered by French customs officials who nabbed a truck carrying 40,000 signed blanks. “Since that time, we have no idea how many [Dalí] sheets were forged, but it’s in the millions,” Morse said.16

				Though it’s still unknown how many Dalí frauds are in circulation, it’s certain that the pieces pushed by Amiel through the ill-fated Carol Convertine Galleries were among them. Amiel further explained his dubious defense that the pieces were “lithographic interpretations” by saying, “I don’t know how these people sell to the public. What they claim and how they sell it is something I don’t get involved with.”17 In other words, his operating philosophy was that he merely produced prints; how dealers described them was up to them. And this credo would be an inspiration for generations of Amiels to come.

				Though realizing outstanding profits from his business, the late 1980s would soon become a devastating period for the family of the publishing magnate. First, federal agents—apparently unimpressed by the statements Leon gave to the New York Times and spurred by numerous accounts to the Federal Trade Commission about what appeared to be an art print fraud ring—turned their attention to his operation. And second, Leon Amiel was diagnosed with liver cancer that would take his life in October 1988.

				Saddened but undeterred by the death of their powerful patriarch, the Amiel family forged ahead. First, Leon’s brother Sam took over the business, but he was soon fired by Leon’s widow, Hilda, when she discovered he had been stealing paintings.18 Hilda then assumed the helm of the business herself with her daughters Kathryn and Joanne, and even her granddaughter Sarina, helping her run the business. The women met with Marc Kniebihler, Leon’s trusted chromist—the person who had actually created the fraudulent artwork since 1983.19 The Amiel women made it clear to him that they wanted to continue Leon’s business. Kniebihler told the women that he would be willing to continue his work with them, but no longer wanted to be paid with the prints that were created at the Amiel workshop. Instead, the chromist said he “wanted to be paid with prints preferably made by the artist and signed by the artist.” He told his new bosses that if they ran a “clean business” that, in time, they could be legitimately profitable. However, the Amiel women would have none of that.

				Like Kniebihler, other associates wanted to discuss how work would proceed under the new Amiel leadership. One such person was art dealer Philip Coffaro, who had been dealing with Leon as far back as 1979. Though Coffaro initially believed he was obtaining legitimate art from Amiel, it took just a couple of years for him to realize that the works he was purchasing were, in his words, “no good.” The prints were too plentiful, and the color and paper just not right. But it wasn’t just connoisseurship that told Coffaro that the prints were frauds. He had witnessed Leon boldly sign and number “limited edition” works in other artists’ names at his Secaucus facility. Leon even taught Coffaro how to place fraudulent edition numbers on prints in a manner by which he could avoid detection. Nevertheless, Coffaro was pleased with the profits he was turning and continued to deal with Amiel. But now Leon was gone, and Coffaro wanted to talk to the women to discuss what he felt was a “downgrading” in the quality of the prints they produced.

				Hilda assured Coffaro that the prints would be better and that they had already “taken care of most of that in Secaucus, and the material was looked at and everything that looked bad was thrown out.” She even promised letters of authenticity for future prints he bought from them. But Coffaro found that Hilda didn’t make good on her assurances, and he remained dissatisfied with the quality of the prints he was receiving. According to Coffaro, the signatures that the Amiels were putting on their prints were problematic and appeared “child like.” Since the days when Leon was running the operation, the practice was to leave the prints unsigned until the last moment in case law enforcement officers visited the facility, at which time they could simply say they were selling posters as opposed to authentic, authorized fine art prints. Coffaro eventually confronted Hilda and Kathryn about the poor quality of signatures he was receiving. Coffaro recalled that Kathryn explained, “Look, I know [they] are terrible, my mother had my uncle signing them, but Sarina will be coming home soon and they will be better.” Sarina was away at college in Boston and was the best signature-forger on the team. Her return would improve matters.

				In around 1990, Hilda and Kathryn approached the chromist Kniebihler again to discuss some financial problems they were experiencing. What they needed, they told Kniebihler, was an inventory of the facility in Island Park to determine the value of the pieces they had on hand. He agreed, telling the Amiels that any fake prints he discovered would be considered worthless and not part of the inventory. Soon, Kniebihler found that the Amiels had sold a set of Miró reproductions that he had made—portraying them as original, pencil-signed prints—to Flemming Hall, a major customer of theirs. His inventory also showed that all of the prints the Amiels were creating in Secaucus were fake. Kniebihler gave the Amiel women an ultimatum: they could either clean up their act right away or “forget the whole thing.”20 He also told them that Coffaro was a “crook.”21 The women responded by denying Kniebihler further access to the inventory at the Island Park facility.22

				The United States Postal Inspection Service (USPIS) dates back to Benjamin Franklin, who created the position of surveyor—a title changed to special agent in 1801—to help him regulate and audit the postal system. Today, postal inspectors work to protect the integrity of the nation’s mail service by investigating those who, among other things, use it to defraud the public. Given the use of the mail to receive and distribute counterfeit fine art prints, the agency was a natural to join into the investigation of the Amiel family operation. USPIS utilized two undercover postal inspectors—Waiman Leung and Raymond Hang—to get to the bottom of the Amiel scheme.

				Leung approached the Amiels, posing as an art dealer from Asia interested in purchasing genuine pieces of art, preferably by Dalí, Miró, Chagall, and Picasso—precisely the artists in which the Amiels specialized. After just one meeting, the undercover agent purchased 22 prints attributed by the Amiels to this group of artists and bearing signatures in pencil. When Leung inquired about authenticity, Kathryn Amiel informed him that she had no documentation for some of the artworks nor information about their provenance outside of what was in her father’s documents. Instead, she insisted that the sale was on an “as is” basis.

				Postal Inspector Leung and his undercover partner, Raymond Hang, continued pressing Kathryn for some documentation proving provenance. Kathryn and Sarina finally relented and rewrote, on company letterhead, information from Leon’s documents and mailed it to the undercover investigators. Armed with the forged prints and the phony documentation, the feds executed a search warrant at the Island Park facility in July 1991. Postal inspectors uncovered and seized stacks of prints, the first few signed and the rest unsigned, which was consistent with the practice of the late patriarch. In all, federal agents found and confiscated 50,000 prints supposedly by Dalí; 20,000 Mirós; 2,200 Picassos; and 650 Chagalls. They also took print reproduction equipment and seized over $1.3 million in cash, $1.5 million in properties, and three cars.23

				During the search investigators found a copy of a fax that had been sent to the European distributor Flemming Hall by Sarina. On the top, Sarina wrote, “I was rummaging through a drawer and came across this quote! I hope you enjoy it as much as we did!” It matched copies of the same quote that had been posted on the wall of the Island Park facility under the heading “words to live by.” It was the statement that Leon Amiel had made to the New York Times years earlier when the Carol Convertine Galleries had been closed: “I don’t know how these people sell to the public, what they claim and how they sell it is something I don’t get involved with.”

				The Amiels were arrested for charges related to conspiracy to commit mail fraud, and federal trade officials estimated that customers may have been conned out of more than $11 million.24 The U.S. Justice Department filed the charges against the Amiels while the Federal Trade Commission froze their assets. Criminal charges were also announced in Denmark and Sweden against the Amiels’ European distributor Flemming Hall. The investigation, dubbed Operation Bogart for “bogus art,” led to what the FTC described as an “industry-wide investigation of art dealers,” and included the issuance of subpoenas for a number of galleries, auctioneers, and distributors in several major cities.25

				In January 1993, before the Amiels’ trial could begin, Hilda succumbed to cancer. Before she died, she left a deposition in which she denied any wrongdoing. Her daughter Kathryn’s defense lawyer told the press she didn’t know what Leon’s business practices were. “I’m not denying the stuff is bad,” attorney Adrian DiLuzio said. “I don’t know whether he was getting duped himself or he was doing the duping.” But as for his wife, daughters, and granddaughter, “They were naive in the extreme.”26 However, the witnesses against the Amiel women painted a different picture. The chromist Marc Kniebihler, not a defendant, told his story, as did Philip Coffaro, who had been named as a defendant alongside the Amiels in an FTC civil complaint.

				Another art dealer, former New York City police officer Thomas Wallace—who the Amiels alleged was deeply involved in organized crime—testified against the family. Like his father-in-law Coffaro, Wallace had met with the Amiel women to discuss operations in the post-Leon era and had been in the practice of purchasing pieces he knew to be counterfeit from their operation. The Amiels told him they would continue to sell him prints, but according to Joanne, they would not provide certificates of authenticity and would sell only on an “as is” basis. Wallace also assisted the Amiels in an inventory of their facility, and he testified that he saw large quantities of prints, some signed and some not. Again, each stack consisted of just one or two pencil-signed copies at the top with the rest unsigned, just as Leon had preferred. Wallace also purchased 20 pieces from the Amiels. When two were found to be unsigned, he returned them to Sarina, apparently the team’s best forger, who took care of it for him.

				Yet another art dealer was called to the stand to testify to the Amiels’ illicit operation. Lawrence Groeger had begun purchasing prints from Leon in 1988 and knew they were fraudulent based on the number available. During his meeting with the women in early 1989, he informed them that he was having a problem with galleries in California. “[A]lot of the galleries were aware of the fact that there were multiple copies of Miró prints available for sale.” This, he said, “created a lot of suspicion regarding the authenticity of the prints.” Though the Amiels told Groeger that they would protect him in the California market, his largest customer, the Upstairs Gallery, was raided by the Los Angeles Police Department later that year, with many of the prints that were seized having come through him from the Amiels. Groeger met again with the Amiels seeking documentation for the works, and though Joanne promised to help, it never came. Soon thereafter, Groeger himself was raided by police who confiscated 60 pieces of inventory and a set of prints that he had intended to return to the Amiels. All of it was found to be counterfeit.

				The evidence presented at trial was overwhelming, and all of the Amiel women were found guilty by the jury. Kathryn, Joanne, and Sarina Amiel were given sentences of 78, 46, and 33 months in prison, respectively. And Operation Bogart continued with gusto, having placed Leon Amiel at the center of the large-scale international scheme that authorities believed resulted in more than $500 million in counterfeit art sales.

				Operation Bogart netted another crooked dealer in 1993, putting Chicago art dealer Donald Austin behind the defendant’s table in federal court. At his high point, Austin, a former barber, had opened nearly 30 art galleries in Chicago, Michigan, and California. By the 1980s, his chain was bringing in about $34 million per year in sales of art priced from the hundreds to a few thousand dollars.27 But during a raid of Austin’s headquarters by the FTC in 1988, they found questionable works attributed to Dalí, Picasso, Chagall, and Miró—the hallmarks of the Amiels’ involvement. Austin had once allegedly said, “One day we’ll all be sitting in jail because of Leon Amiel.”28 And he was correct: he was convicted of fraud charges and sentenced to 102 months in a federal prison.

				Austin’s involvement with prints obtained through Amiel was described in court from the witness stand by an art wholesaler from Northbrook, Illinois, named Michael Zabrin. Zabrin’s involvement in art fraud first emerged in 1989, not as a con man, but as a victim, when the Los Angeles County district attorney’s office charged self-described art “emulator” Tony Tetro with 45 felony counts for fabricating and distributing watercolors and lithographs. In addition to Miró and Chagall, Tetro—described at the time as “one of the largest art forgers on the West Coast”—forged 29 watercolors by Hiro Yamagata. Tetro and his accomplice, art dealer Mark Sawicki, defrauded four gallery owners including Zabrin.29

				But Zabrin was anything but a victim when it came to peddling counterfeit art. A college graduate from a middle-class background, he turned an affinity for collecting prints into a lucrative career selling and consigning them. Eager to ensure a constant flow of art, he found a reliable source in none other than Philip Coffaro, the Long Island art dealer who had become a pipeline for Leon Amiel’s operation. Short and curly haired with a bushy mustache, Zabrin was eager to meet the legendary publisher, and when he discovered that a close friend was a distant relative of Amiel’s, an audience was granted. Soon, Zabrin had access to the Amiel mother lode of counterfeit art. He was no innocent dupe. He later recounted that when he would choose prints that bore no signature for purchase, Amiel’s daughter “taught me to leave the room.” Upon his return, the prints would all bear the autographs of the artists.30

				Postal Inspector Jack Ellis would later recall that Zabrin “seemed like the cog” in the Amiel operation. Together with another postal inspector, James Tendick, and David Spiegel of the FTC, Ellis formed a plan to squeeze Zabrin for information. Using an art dealer as a cooperating witness and an undercover postal inspector as her assistant, the feds purchased two Miró prints for which Zabrin provided signed certificates of authenticity. The prints were fakes. When the undercover officer later visited Zabrin’s home, she took notice of a large number of Miró, Picasso, and Andy Warhol prints. In October 1990, federal agents raided Zabrin’s business and seized his records. Then came the squeeze: the feds told Zabrin that he could face 20 years in prison for his crimes or he could cooperate with the authorities in hope of being granted some leniency. He quickly opted for the latter.31

				Zabrin immediately became a key figure in the successful prosecution of the Amiels. Postal inspectors were able to gather damning evidence against Philip Coffaro thanks to Zabrin’s work and then turned him into a government witness against the Amiel women as well as Groeger, Austin, and Ted Robertson of California, who had been identified as an active member of the counterfeit Dalí ring by Jack Ellis’s predecessor, Postal Inspector Robert DeMuro. Robertson was not only dealing Dalís; he had broadened his counterfeiting horizons to include Erté, Picasso, Miró, and Chagall. To demonstrate his bona fides, Robertson even gave one prospective buyer a copy of a videotape showing him at Erté’s birthday party. Unaware of the raids that had been carried out and of Coffaro’s status as a government cooperator, Robertson approached Coffaro’s business with a number of fake Picasso prints and Erté gouaches. He was ultimately arrested in his apartment in France in March 1992.32 He pleaded guilty to two counts of fraud in federal court in New York.

				For his efforts assisting the federal investigation into the enormous counterfeit lithograph ring, prosecutors recommended that the court be lenient toward Zabrin and the judge complied, sentencing him to just one year and a day in prison, which the con man served at a low-security prison camp just hours from his home in Illinois. Except for the separation from his wife and two young daughters, his time in prison didn’t provide the sort of punishment that was perhaps necessary to scare him straight. Zabrin told Chicago magazine, “I had no idea what to expect, but after I got acclimated and realized I could get along with everybody, it actually turned out to be fun. It was like a camp for bad boys.”33

				After his release from federal prison, Zabrin returned to what he knew best: selling fine art prints. His time away was brief enough—only ten months at the camp and a short stint at a halfway house—to ensure that some of his connections were still active. Zabrin would soon form a new network, bringing on a business associate who could handle internet sales for him, a venture that would bring him hundreds of thousands of dollars. And though his prior pipeline of counterfeit prints were now serving long prison sentences, Zabrin found new sources to funnel fraudulent fine art to him. These included Jerome Bengis and an Italian national named Elio Bonfiglioli, whose counterfeit prints were considered to be of high quality. There was also James Kennedy, a man described as “a virtual caricature of the dealer con artist” who was fond of partying, alcohol, and drugs.34

				There was one other individual who provided prints to Zabrin, and the name was all too familiar: Leon Amiel Jr. Despite his name, he was actually Leon’s grandson, and he had access to a cache of his grandfather’s prints that had not been seized by federal agents years earlier in the raids that resulted in the arrest of his grandmother, mother, aunts, and sister. Leon Jr. was eager to follow in the footsteps of his famous namesake and jumped feetfirst into the world of trafficking in counterfeit prints, using the online auction site eBay and other means to sell his illicit goods.35 Meanwhile, his coconspirator Kennedy would forge the signatures of artists such as Alexander Calder, Chagall, Miró, and Picasso on the prints he received from Leon Jr. Eventually, however, eBay caught on to the scheme used by Leon Jr., which included a system of placing bids for his own items in order to artificially inflate their prices. The massive auction site suspended Leon Jr.’s account and his activities, as well as those of Zabrin, Kennedy, and others who came to the attention—once again—of federal investigators.

				Zabrin didn’t confine his criminal activities to just art scams. In 2001, Zabrin was arrested and convicted for shoplifting a handbag off a display rack at Neiman Marcus. Four years later he would also be arrested for shoplifting a crystal figurine from Saks Fifth Avenue. But it wasn’t until May 6, 2006, when postal inspectors and FBI agents executed a search warrant at Zabrin’s home, that he was again facing serious prison time. This time, agents discovered a number of counterfeit prints and records regarding the sale of other pieces via art galleries and the internet. In one instance, investigators discovered that a customer returned a piece that was found to be counterfeit and was issued a refund by Zabrin, who in turn resold the same piece as authentic. The investigators also determined that Zabrin was receiving the bad prints from Bonfiglioli, Bengis, Kennedy, and Amiel’s grandson.

				Zabrin knew the routine and quickly agreed to again enter into what was perhaps his second-best role after con man—government informant. Zabrin wore a wire and made a number of recordings for the feds that helped them to bring criminal fraud charges, still apparently pending, against the other members of the ring. According to assistant U.S. attorneys Nancy DePodesta and Stephen Heinze, “[Zabrin], unlike many criminal defendants, readily admitted the scope of his criminal conduct and was forthcoming when asked questions regarding other subjects and aspects of the investigation.”36 However, all was not well with Zabrin’s performance: federal investigators discovered that Zabrin’s addiction to pulling off scams was so strong that he had perpetrated a new one even while being handled as a federal informant.

				Agents running the investigation orchestrated calls from Zabrin to a particular target. In an astonishingly risky and bold scheme, Zabrin made additional calls to the target unbeknownst to his federal agent handlers. In these unauthorized calls, Zabrin negotiated two separate purchases for a total of eight Chagall lithographs that would be financed by his business partner. However, Zabrin told his partner that he had only purchased six, with the intent to sell the remaining two for his own profit behind his partner’s back.

				Federal agents and prosecutors were irate, as they realized that this sort of unscrupulous behavior seriously jeopardized Zabrin’s usefulness as a cooperator and eventual witness at trial. Zabrin’s ploy proved self-destructive. This time, prosecutors made no pleas to the sentencing judge for leniency. Instead, the assistant U.S. attorneys assigned to the case were harsh in their recommendation to federal judge Robert Dow. Dismissing the defense attorney’s excuses of mental illness for his behavior, they described Zabrin as “a very cunning individual who is able to effectively lie and manipulate others for personal gain.” Zabrin, they argued, “poses a serious risk of recidivism”; they added that his crimes “constitute a thoroughly planned-out scheme to defraud hundreds of people over a period of several years.”37

				Despite his cooperation and assistance, Judge Dow agreed with prosecutors and dealt with Zabrin severely, sentencing him to nine years in federal prison. Meanwhile, the grandson of the man who reigned over this enormous counterfeit lithograph scam like a mafia don also pleaded guilty in federal court for his role in feeding fraudulent fine art to unsuspecting buyers. On June 15, 2011, U.S. District Court judge Joan Gottschall heard Leon Amiel Jr. ask for mercy, choking up as he told her “my children are my life.” Judge Gottschall, who could have sent Leon Jr. away for nine years in prison, was sympathetic to his request and sentenced him to only two. She cited his commitment to his family, his mental problems, and a family history of emotional and physical abuse in her ruling. “He (was) being raised by criminals,” she said.38

			

		

	
		
			
				Ten

				The Telescam

				Forged and faked paintings are completely different things from their stolen counterparts. Stolen paintings are hidden away, banished from human contact, and stashed in attics, basements, storage units, and drug hides. But phony paintings live a different life. They hang on walls in homes, galleries, and even museums. They are like amateur boxers, jutting out their glass jaws and daring the observer to punch. However, the scam that moves the painting from knowing forger to unsuspecting buyer is ideally and most commonly pulled off in private, in a one-on-one meeting between the con artist and the buyer, who wants to believe they’ve found something special at a price that is even more special. And that’s what makes the scam pulled off by Kristine Eubanks so audacious.

				Eubanks, assisted by her husband Gerald Sullivan, was the brains behind an enterprise called Fine Art Treasures Gallery, which broadcasted a televised art auction for six hours every Friday and Saturday night on Dish Network and DirecTV. As her website advertised, her “auction show offers the best in fine art, original paintings, museum quality prints, bronze statues and other great art that will accent your home or office or make a beautiful gift.”1 Eubanks, a Chicago native, had an unusually diverse professional background for a founder of a television art auction. She followed her dreams of working in Hollywood, and eventually moved to California where she served as executive vice president and partner at Elixer Entertainment, a film production company out of Los Angeles. After a successful stint at Elixer, Eubanks embarked on a career in marketing with Iwerks Entertainment in Burbank, a firm that developed special-format movie theaters. A driven, competitive businesswoman, she also studied fine art photography, an endeavor that served as a primer on the high-value prints and lithographs. And in the early 2000s, she discovered a burgeoning new form of art print called a giclée, which would open up new possibilities for her.

				On her website for the television show, Eubanks provided a list of useful art-related terms for the novice art buyer. Posting the definitions made sense: part of the business model of Fine Art Treasures Gallery was clearly the marketing of high-end art to middle-class consumers who otherwise would not have access to the works of famous artists and who might be making their first foray into the purchase of art. Everything from “Artist Proof” to “Watercolor” was defined. The definition she supplied for giclée, however, was equal parts explanation and sales pitch. It read: “A giclée is a fine art print produced from state-of-the-art digital print-making and intuitive artistic treatment on archival watercolor paper or canvas that lasts for at least 75 years. Because of its archival quality, giclée fine art prints, [sic] are increasingly sought after by major galleries, museums, and private collections to help preserve fine art for generations to come.”2

				Interestingly, the folk rock musician Graham Nash was at the forefront of the creation of giclée prints. Nash, an accomplished digital photographer, was credited with the first use of inkjet printing in a fine art application, when in 1991 he made samples of his work using the giclée process on a high-tech—and very expensive—IRIS 3047 commercial graphics printer. In fact, Nash coined the term digigraph for this new form, but it didn’t stick. It was an associate of his in the field of high-quality print production, Jack Duganne, who assigned the term giclée to the process in order to give the product a bit more panache when an artist for whom he had made some of the prints asked him what she should call them. “I was looking for a French or Italian word, because so many art techniques have foreign names,” he said. Adopting the French word for a jet nozzle—gicleur—because of the way the inkjet printer sprays color onto the paper, he opted for the word giclée, meaning something that was sprayed.3

				The rapid and continuous improvement in the quality of commercially available high-end printers, combined with the fact that they are becoming more and more affordable, has led to an increase in the production of giclée works by popular artists. Today, giclée prints can be of such great quality that they appear in museums, both as digital copies of works being stored for preservation and as original works in exhibitions. Even noteworthy artists such as Frank Stella, Robert Rauschenberg, and David Hockney have been known to create giclée works.

				Kristine Eubanks saw the potential that giclée held from an entrepreneurial perspective, and she placed an advertisement in the trade publication Art Business News, offering high-quality printing on canvas under the company name Finer Image. Martha O’Brien, whose husband John was an up-and-coming, well-regarded California artist, happened upon the ad. John O’Brien painted works best described as Contemporary Romantic Realism, creating images influenced by the Impressionists but in a style uniquely his own. His paintings included Parisian settings, landscapes, Irish life, Art Deco, and street scenes. He had studied his craft abroad and at the Art Students League of New York, alumni of which include Frederic Remington, Norman Rockwell, Roy Lichtenstein, Georgia O’Keeffe, and Jackson Pollock, just to name a very few.4 With giclées still relatively unknown to many artists, O’Brien was initially apprehensive. “He didn’t like the idea of his work being cheapened,” Martha, a ballet teacher, recalled. But Finer Image provided him with a sample giclée and O’Brien was floored.5 “He couldn’t believe the color jumped out so brilliantly,” Martha said. The O’Briens began ordering custom printing for John’s artwork by sending Eubanks’s company high-resolution images of the work via photographic slides, and sometimes even sent originals for Finer Image to sell to a client. Then Eubanks made them a great offer: if O’Brien entered into an exclusive printing arrangement with Finer Image, they would realize a substantial income using their mass-marketing abilities—Eubanks’s forte. O’Brien’s works would get more exposure, be sold on a greater scale, and be of very high quality, all without sacrificing control because he’d be signing every piece. He was all in.6

				The O’Briens were excited over the promise that the Eubanks plan held. The giclée-making dealer told John and Martha that they could make six figures with their art, and things were looking up. The money from Eubanks arrived steadily as John continued to send paintings to her print shop. It was an important break in the life of the young artist, his wife, and their two young daughters. With visions of Thomas Kincaid–like success in their minds, the O’Briens were ready for John’s talent to take him to the next level of fame for American artists. “Okay, here’s our ticket into that circle,” Martha said. The deal with Eubanks was sure to “get his name out there big time and get full page ads at Art Business News and attract the collector who would pay $50,000 for one of John’s paintings.”7

				Just as with all innocent victims, the O’Briens found that the Eubanks plan wasn’t all that they had hoped. John soon found that the television auction show wasn’t the only venue through which his works were being sold as authentic signed works. A friend of O’Brien’s informed him that he had seen one of the artist’s signed works on eBay, the online auction site. The O’Briens had already decided that perhaps the site would be a good place for them to sell John’s works to make some additional income. But when they went onto eBay to post some pieces for sale, they were shocked to find that the site had already been flooded with John’s works for auction. Worse yet, many of the artworks were knockoffs—pieces he never actually signed.

				This was O’Brien’s worst fear come true. Indeed, any artist would be dismayed to lose control of their works in such a fashion, for this was a twofold problem: not only were there lesser-quality prints that he would not have—and never had—signed now on the market, but they were in such number as to drive the value of his art down. And soon, even more bad news poured in: the O’Briens learned that his works were being sold on Princess Cruises.8

				Art auctions at sea aboard cruise ships are a big business. The biggest player in the game is Park West Gallery, a Michigan-based company that describes its “Park West at Sea” branch as a group of “onboard art galleries” on more than 70 luxury cruise ships around the world, including ships in the Carnival, Celebrity, Holland America, Norwegian, Regent Seven Seas, and Royal Caribbean lines.9 The business is incredibly lucrative—the New York Times reported that Park West Gallery was bringing in $300 million in revenue annually as of 2008.10 Though Park West was embroiled in a series of civil lawsuits filed against the firm by parties alleging the sale of fakes and forgeries—including suits involving works by, of course, Salvador Dalí—Park West’s chief executive, Albert Scaglione, has stated publicly that “in Park West’s 40-year history, we have never sold a nonauthentic work of art.”11 Indeed, neither Scaglione nor Park West has ever been the subject of criminal charges.

				Princess Cruise Lines, which has never used Park West Gallery,12 has itself been mixed up with fraud allegations. Two retired women—Terrie Kifer and Joyce Sexton, both of Delaware—saw ads for an art auction aboard the Princess cruise ship they had boarded. Taken by the art available at steep discounts, the pair spent $86,000 on art. Princess noticed their purchases and invited them back for another cruise and membership in their Art Connoisseurs Program free of charge, an attractive offer for two women with dreams of opening their own art gallery. The pair was wined and dined by Princess aboard a ten-day cruise in the Mediterranean and even met some of the artists whose works might draw their interest. The sales pitch worked: Kifer and Sexton spent an additional $250,000 on art onboard the ship, purchasing works by Picasso, Chagall, Miró, and Erté. A year later, the women flew to Copenhagen to board another complimentary cruise, again with an art auction onboard. This time they met the Soviet-émigré artist Martiros Manoukian, a Surrealist painter whose painting, Tranquil Remorse, caught the attention of the women. Bidding against another passenger, the pair won the Manoukian for $71,640. On a later cruise, Sexton and Kifer saw Tranquil Remorse again available for sale. Shocked, they approached the artist and the ship’s representative, only to be told that the piece was not exactly the same as the one they purchased. Worse yet, this time Tranquil Remorse sold for $20,000 less than they paid. Though Princess offered to buy their painting back, the pair filed suit against the cruise line and the artist in state court in Florida.13 The parties reached a confidential settlement with Princess admitting no wrongdoing.14

				Kristine Eubanks was a source for Princess Cruises, and not only were John O’Brien’s works being sold onboard their ships, but another artist, Charlene Mitchell, would find that her prints were for sale at sea without her knowledge. Eubanks’s pitch to Mitchell was not unlike the one she made to O’Brien: you provide the paintings, I’ll copy and sell them. Mitchell, who had already achieved some modicum of success with her paintings on her own, was shocked one day when a person contacted her looking to commission a portrait of his fiancée. The caller told Mitchell that he had come to know her work from a piece he bought aboard a Princess cruise. Mitchell was taken aback: to her knowledge, none of her works were being sold in auctions on cruises. Worse yet, the pieces were fakes and, like O’Brien’s, never authorized or signed by Mitchell. It turned out that thousands of Princess passengers had bought unauthorized prints sold in bulk to the cruise line by Kristine Eubanks.15 Indeed, their works had flooded the market, with a deleterious effect on their value.

				To make matters even worse, though the televised auctions were initially profitable (Mitchell says that she made up to $10,000 some weeks16), soon neither Mitchell nor O’Brien was seeing any money from Eubanks, despite the sales on the televised auctions, eBay, and on the cruises. In 2002, the O’Briens didn’t see a penny, but Eubanks did.17 “It was such easy money [for Eubanks]. It was just like counterfeiting money,” Martha O’Brien would say of Eubanks’s giclée business. “I mean you’ve got a printer. You type in 100 and push the button print and you’ve got 100 images.”18 John O’Brien was furious over his loss of control and the nonpayment for his work. And when Charlene Mitchell began questioning the lack of compensation for her work, Eubanks’s personality changed from that of a pleasant marketing professional to that of an adversary.

				Of course, it wasn’t just artists who were victimized by Kristine Eubanks and Fine Art Treasures Gallery. The unauthorized works were sold to unknowing dupes who wanted badly to believe that they had come across a special deal, and Eubanks found plenty of them. By 2007 it was estimated that the operation had brought in more than $20 million from over 10,000 victims across the country.19 The vast majority of them were unaware they had fallen victim to a scam. But one who caught on to Eubanks’s scheme was Myron Temchin.

				As Temchin recalls,20 he and his wife, Mary, were flipping the channels on the television in a hotel in San Rafael, California, one evening in 2005 when they came across the Fine Art Treasures Gallery auction. When Picasso-signed lithographs came on the screen, they were intrigued. The auction show stated that the prints were originals, signed by Picasso himself, and valued at between $50,000 and $58,000. Further, each came with a certificate of authenticity from the Manchester Gallery, David Smith Authentication Service. The deals were too good to pass up, and the Temchins bid on two Picasso lithographs, The Bullfight and Trois Femmes, winning them both for a total of just over $4,000.

				The Temchins were neither art novices nor the typical suckers born every minute. Myron specifically questioned the telephone representative for Fine Art Treasures Gallery and asked if the pieces were original lithographs bearing original signatures. Informed that they were indeed completely original, Myron provided his credit card information and completed the sale. This was no greedy attempt to make a killing on a couple of art pieces. Instead, the Temchins saw the purchases as a gift to their family. “I think we were excited to think that we could have a lithograph from Picasso and then it would be something we could pass down through the family,” Myron said.21 In about a week, the first of their treasures arrived in a carton at the Temchin home via FedEx. Upon opening the box and examining her new Picasso, Trois Femmes, Mary instantly identified a problem. To her it was clear that this was not a lithograph, but instead was much more similar to a color photocopy and did not bear an original signature by Picasso. She called her husband and told him that the piece was not what it was purported to be. The certificate of authenticity was inauthentic as well; it was a “cheap black and white Xerox copy on colored paper.”22 Not even the signature on that appeared to be real.

				The next day, the second Picasso purchase, The Bullfight, arrived in the same manner. Again, it appeared to the couple to be a photocopy without an original signature. The pair, concerned that they might have been conned, researched the authentication service and found that though there was a famous David Smith who collected art, he had no connection at all to art authentication for Fine Art Treasures Gallery. They then went to the auctioneer’s website at www.finearttreasures.net and found that it advertised “fine art, original paintings, museum quality prints.” At that moment, the Temchins realized that they “had been swindled.”23 What they had were museum-quality prints, not original signed lithographs. After some research, they found that what they had was most likely “some kind of copy of one side of a print in a book.”

				The Temchins were not about to be anyone’s fools. They researched the auction show and made attempts to contact Eubanks, even driving to one of her addresses only to find that it was a mailbox store. It was perhaps a good thing that Myron couldn’t manage to find a way to confront her. Eubanks was earning a reputation for being an extremely feisty and difficult person with whom to deal. According to a federal investigator, some employees found her intimidating and others claimed to be afraid of her. LAPD art cop Don Hrycyk stated that “in one case she grabbed one person and threw them out of the business, and in another instance the man turned around and she kicked him in the rear. All of this sort of fit into what we were hearing, that she was very aggressive.”24

				Temchin decided to turn his investigation over to the professionals. He contacted Special Agent Christopher Calarco of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. Calarco was ideally suited to take on the Eubanks scam. He had been with the FBI’s Art Crime Team since its inception in 2004 and served as the team’s coordinator for the Western region. Though he also supervised a violent crime and gang squad in the Los Angeles Division of the FBI, he was not just a door-crashing tough cop—he had also previously served as a prosecutor at the state and federal levels.25 His interest had been piqued by the Fine Art Treasures Gallery case in late 2004 when he received several calls about the program. Despite his experience and training in art crime, this was the first time he had heard of a television program selling art. He also learned that the show potentially reached 25 million households through DirecTV and Dish Network. “When I started getting an idea of the potential scope of the fraud, and how many victims and how much loss there could be, the case took on a sense of urgency,” Calarco recalled.26 He obtained permission from the cooperative Temchin to have the purported Picassos examined to establish whether or not they were authentic. They were not. This, however, was not enough to make an arrest. Investigators still had to prove that Eubanks was knowingly trafficking in illicit art and had to learn with whom she might be working.

				Calarco found that Eubanks was not alone in the business. In 2002, she brought aboard James Mobley, an experienced auctioneer who assisted her in her plot and also served as an on-air auctioneer. And there was her husband, Gerald Sullivan, who worked on the behind-the-scenes operations. But, according to one federal prosecutor, Eubanks “wore the pants in the family. She really controlled the business and she really was the one who was in charge of every aspect of it, and he, Mr. Sullivan, ran the details, ran the accounts, handled the transactions.”27

				As investigators dug deeper into the operation at Fine Art Treasures Gallery, it began to emerge that although the Eubanks trio was raking in the money, their execution of the fraud wasn’t especially tight. For one, she committed some of her crimes right in front of employees who were not in on the scam. Justin Lundberg, a shipping department employee at Fine Art Treasures, said that on several occasions as he was preparing to ship prints, he came across certificates of authenticity that were unsigned. Upon being notified of the omission, Eubanks would come to the shipping department and personally sign multiple copies of the certificates, which attested that the works were authentic and part of a limited edition. In addition, he saw Eubanks sign artists’ signatures, saying she “paid royalties that made it legal.” Another employee, William Woodard, stated that he saw Eubanks sign Picasso’s name in front of him.28 In another instance, Eubanks made a ham-handed effort at disguising her Fine Art Network by listing Thom Keith and his daughter Jennifer as officers and/or directors of her company when, in fact, the pair’s only connection to the corporation was purchasing television media time for Eubanks.29

				Perhaps it was a combination of the scammers’ greed and the sheer volume of prints that Fine Art Treasures Gallery was moving, but they were sloppy in other ways in their crime too. Hrycyk recounted that seemingly minimal effort was put into the creation of the fraudulent certificates of authenticity: “In some cases the person signing [the certificate] didn’t exist. . . . In some situations we saw that there was a certificate where you could see that the certificate paper was created on a certain day that’s actually listed . . . but then the signature and the date that was attesting to the authenticity was a date that was two years prior to when the actual paper was created.” The sloppiness, Hrycyk said, “just showed how reckless a lot of their actions were.”30 Here, investigators found that in many cases, Eubanks and her cohorts were making the certificates themselves, an error that would prove costly. The certificates are key pieces of evidence when investigating an art crime in California. Section 1742(a) of the state’s civil code requires dealers selling or consigning art to furnish a certificate of authenticity at the request of the purchaser or consignee. Falsifying the certificate, therefore, means breaking the law, pure and simple, so reputable dealers would know the importance of providing authentication. Added Hrycyk, “For somebody that’s in the business, obviously it was a joke.”31

				Even the way that many of the auctions were conducted was rigged. For instance, Fine Art Treasures would claim false bids were made to fraudulently inflate retail and purchase prices for their prints, a practice known as shill bidding. They would even employ false ringing telephones to make viewers believe that a bona fide auction was taking place on television. They would broadcast that the art they had for sale was acquired from “estate liquidations all over the world.” In fact, they were knowingly selling fake and forged artwork that was purchased from crooked suppliers. And of course, they were manufacturing some of the art themselves in their print shop.32

				So many complaints were levied against the dealers that the Better Business Bureau ultimately gave them an F rating. For those who were not novice art collectors, the scam was a tremendous embarrassment. Tom and Mary Ann Cogliano bought six pieces—including a Dalí—from the televised auctions, spending more than $50,000. When they later donated the Dalí to a charity fund-raiser, they learned it was a fake. “It made me look foolish,” Tom said, “especially with these folks who are my friends—and here I am with a fake piece of art.”33 And as the complaints flowed in, investigators widened the scope of the case, looking into the finances of Kristine Eubanks. They found in her bank accounts nearly $4 million, and, when they examined her tax return filings closely, also found that false documents had been filed in support of the fraud. It was time for a warrant. As the assistant U.S. attorney assigned to the case, David Willingham, said, “When the personal investment accounts were located and there were significant assets that were directly traceable to the crimes themselves, then it was just a matter of putting that on paper and getting a judge to sign off on the warrant.”34

				In September 2006, investigators led by Agent Calarco raided Fine Art Treasures and arrested Eubanks. The belligerent Eubanks was immediately put into jail upon her arrest because she was on probation: the consummate con artist had previously pleaded no contest to using the credit cards of a deceased business partner, racking up $144,000 in bills. The judge in that case stipulated that if her record did not remain spotless, she would be put directly into jail. Clearly, it did not.

				When her cohorts Sullivan and Mobley were arrested, they cooperated against their micromanaging taskmaster. All three understood that Calarco had developed an airtight case against them and chose to plead guilty. Eubanks was sentenced to seven years on charges including conspiracy to commit mail fraud, wire fraud, interstate transportation of stolen property, and tax evasion. At sentencing, federal district court judge Gary A. Feess called her fraud scheme “audacious in scope” and “blatantly illegal.” Her husband, Sullivan, was sentenced to four years, and Mobley to five. The government also seized Eubanks’s assets, including the $3.8 million in her bank accounts and much of the artwork that Fine Art Treasures Gallery had in its inventory.35

				The troubles for Eubanks did not end there, however, and the inevitable civil suits followed, with good reason. Charlene Mitchell filed suit against not only Eubanks but Princess Cruises as well, alleging that the tourism giant had committed copyright infringement, fraud, breach of fiduciary duties, conversion, and unjust enrichment. When an attorney for Princess told the New York Times that Mitchell benefited from the exposure her counterfeited works received onboard their ships, her attorney retorted, “Princess is so twisted it thinks that mass distribution of unauthorized, forged copies of artists’ works on their ships helps artists.” For her part, Mitchell said she found a better place through which to distribute her work: Park West Gallery.36

				John O’Brien, the artist whose dreams were dashed by the unscrupulous actions of Eubanks, had a sadder fate than did Mitchell. In 2004, he lost his battle with melanoma, leaving behind Martha and two young daughters. As a result of the way the value of his works was diluted, his wife filed a federal civil suit against a host of individuals for damages related to the unauthorized copying and sale of her late husband’s art. In her court filing, a familiar name emerged in another scam against John. According to Martha O’Brien, around the same time that they entered into the agreement with Kristine Eubanks, the couple was contacted by Michael Zabrin, the prolific dealer in illicit counterfeit prints (see chapter 9 on Zabrin’s crimes). Zabrin told the O’Briens that he was interested in selling John’s original artworks and purchasing wholesale, signed giclées. The artist made some deals with Zabrin Fine Arts, offering Zabrin wholesale rates for works the dealer would sell at retail prices. But Zabrin’s only payments to the O’Briens were by check, and the crooked dealer stopped payment on both of them. And despite the price agreements with them, the O’Briens found that on Zabrin’s website—Fine Art Masters—John’s paintings and giclées were listed for sale at far below the price agreements, and without any authorization or compensation to the artist.

				When the O’Briens eventually lost the sale of a giclée to a buyer who purchased a much cheaper one from Zabrin, the couple confronted him. Zabrin acknowledged that he bought his giclée from John’s publisher—Eubanks’s company Finer Image—knowingly accepting the difference between the “authentic” works and the 90 “cheap knock-off” works he bought and resold from Finer Image. Incredibly, not only was Zabrin unfazed by the fact that the O’Briens had found him out, he offered to sell them the forged giclées for $100 apiece. Now, with her husband deceased, Martha O’Brien continues to work tirelessly to fix the harm that the likes of Eubanks, Sullivan, Mobley, and Zabrin have done. But it is a long and likely unwinnable battle she wages.

				Unfortunately for the O’Briens, they came into contact simultaneously with two legendary fraudsters, neither with a sense of ethics or an ounce of care for the impact their actions would have—not only on duped customers, but also on the artist who created their product and their future generations to come. The artist’s progeny would never realize the full earnings that his works should have gained had their integrity not been so badly damaged. Sadly, there is more of their ilk out there. As the man who successfully prosecuted the Eubanks case, David Willingham, said, “We cut the head off the snake. Just putting Kristine Eubanks in jail couldn’t really stop the type of conduct that was going on, but what it could do was drastically reduce the market for where those suppliers of fake art could sell their wares.”37 But whether that market was truly affected in the long term remains to be seen.

			

		

	
		
			
				Eleven

				The Internet

				The information superhighway is a road with an endless number of off-ramps to shopping centers throughout the world. With nearly the entire planet as a potential customer, the spending power of the vast online community is enormous. E-commerce generates nearly a quarter-trillion dollars in sales for retailers in the United States alone, where it is projected by the market research firm Forrester to reach a staggering $370 billion by 2017.1 There are nearly 3 billion internet users worldwide,2 and these figures are not lost on those looking to make money, least of all the devious con men of the world.

				One hardly sees a week pass without finding a bogus solicitation in his e-mail account. Whether it be a Nigerian scam involving money left behind by a heretofore unknown and now deceased distant relative, a nefarious attempt to trick a dupe into giving up a credit card number, or a get-rich-quick business proposal, online scam attempts have become an accepted part of the internet user’s daily life. Little can be done to completely avoid crossing paths with an internet crook except remaining vigilant and adhering to the warning “let the buyer beware.”

				The ability to shop online is undeniably changing the way we live. For instance, bookstores are closing all over the country, unable to compete with the internet retail giant Amazon.com. The same is true for record stores, almost single-handedly undone worldwide by the invention of the MP3 and the emergence of Apple’s iTunes. And Blockbuster exists as only a memory of the old days, with video store rentals having been replaced by the likes of Amazon Prime, Netflix, and others.

				Still, it’s not necessarily a negative development. Online shopping allows the consumer access to items it once could only dream of finding, never mind at lightning-quick speeds. Whether it’s the newest hot gadget or a one-of-a-kind collectible, you can probably find it for sale online. And one website offers consumers that sort of access and variety on a wider scale than any other: eBay.

				eBay, founded in the mid-1990s by Pierre Omidyar, is an online auction site that describes itself as “the world’s online marketplace.” It’s a claim that is hard to refute, with the site boasting nearly 150 million buyers in 2014 shopping from 700 million global listings.3 Shoppers can search for everything from an Aardvark microphone pro-amp to a Zyzz singlet and a mind-boggling array of items in between. The genius of eBay is in the fact that the company itself doesn’t sell anything on its site other than a platform; all of the items for sale are offered as such by private parties who set prices, deliver the products, and conduct most financial transactions on their own (the latter part done through a payment service called PayPal, which, by no coincidence, was acquired by eBay). Items sold on eBay vary in prices from mere pennies to exorbitance, for, say, a Ferrari F12berlinetta ($599,900 or best offer).4

				If you are an art lover, a simple eBay search can lead you to amazing finds. Take for instance the D. C. Grose painting Trading on the Plains (circa 1873–75). The painting is described as being in “perfect condition after its restoration and canvas lining by Italian technicians in religious art.” It can be had for just $4,299,999.5 Or perhaps the Dutch Masters are your passion, in which case The Evangelist Matthew, an oil painting “attributed to Rembrandt van Rijn,” is for sale for $1.5 million. The painting’s eBay page provides its provenance (“from the collection of the late Yvonne Schotte, daughter of the Belgian magnate Hippolyte Schotte from castle Aalst”) and even includes an opinion on the authorship from the renowned Rembrandt scholar Gary Schwartz (“The painting does not seem to have the quality that would convince art historians and collectors that it was made by Rembrandt. . . . I would, therefore, be inclined to call the painting a copy after a lost work by Rembrandt”).6 It’s hard to argue with Schwartz, whose reputation is beyond reproach, not only because of his extensive expertise in all things Rembrandt, but also because of the quality of the image that is posted on the page. But an important question is, Did the Gary Schwartz really lend his opinion on this painting? It’s likely he did—there’s no evidence that he did not, and he debunks the painting’s authenticity—but that’s just it: any seller can describe the item they have posted for sale just about any way they want.

				In order to take a closer look at the painting, eBay’s technology allows for the prospective buyer to magnify all 11 images of it for a better view, and using the tool makes it seem obvious that though the painting is certainly well done, it is not of the caliber of Rembrandt’s work. The zoom tool is essential to the buyer’s inspection, but it exposes one of the key limitations the art buyer faces on eBay: one shops in a two-dimensional world. Even with the magnification, one is not able to tell if the brush strokes are real or, for that matter, if the painting is really available. It can’t be looked at in different light at different angles, can’t have its craquelure inspected, can’t be taken in with all of the key three-dimensional visuals necessary to evaluate a work. And of course, the buyer can’t take full measure of the seller in this online marketplace, other than to look at his ratings from previous buyers. Such is part of the challenge of shopping for art on eBay.

				The quality of the works for sale on the site—judging by the images—range from apparent masterworks to paintings by unknown artists who have set astronomical prices for their works based on an attempt to give themselves instant credibility, a dream to get rich quick, or a seriously mistaken view of their own talent. Yet despite the risks, a great amount of art is listed for sale on eBay. A search for the word “painting” in the category “art” on the site yielded nearly 460,000 results.7 There’s seemingly something for every art lover’s taste, from Photorealism to Abstract Expressionism, on eBay. And any time art, money, and a large number of wide-eyed novice shoppers are combined, con men aren’t too far away.

				In 2014, the London-based newspaper the Telegraph conducted an investigation into two men, Geoffrey Spilman and David Henty, both amateur artists and each separately selling fake paintings on eBay. The men shared a favorite subject of their frauds: the painter L. S. Lowry. Lowry was perhaps an obvious choice—both of the forgers are middle-class British men, as was Lowry, whose works were inspired by everyday life in his hometown and surrounding area, as well as the “down and outs” who inhabited it. Moreover, and perhaps more pragmatically, Lowry’s materials were not highly complex, which enabled the forgers the ability to create very reasonable facsimiles of his work. Lowry wrote, “I am a simple man, and I use simple materials: ivory, black, vermilion (red), Prussian blue, yellow ochre, flake white and no medium (e.g., linseed oil). That’s all I’ve ever used in my paintings.”8 Of course, these same simple materials were easily accessible to Spilman and Henty.

				Spilman, the middle-aged son of a vicar, lives in a flat in Warwickshire. His scheme involved the use of the well-worn provenance claim that the paintings he was selling belonged to a deceased relative—in his case, his father—and were found while he was rummaging through his home. He’d also sometimes resort to the “I found them at an art fair” story and claim that because he lacked paperwork on the painting, he could not guarantee provenance. Though it’s not certain that he created all of the paintings he sold by himself, what is clear is that when he did, he would forge the signatures of the artists on the finished works. In addition to Lowrys, Spilman sold works by 25 other artists on eBay, including fellow Briton Ashley Jackson, a watercolorist whose daughter was tipped off by a client that paintings alleged to be by her father were listed on eBay. Because he had described some of the fraudulently signed works as “genuine and original,” Spilman was arrested and issued a warning by police. eBay acted quickly and shut his seller account down, but Spilman, who employed multiple eBay accounts to sell and artificially inflate bids, established new eBay shops through which he sold his paintings.9

				Rather than discontinue his scam, Spilman sought ways around the police. He contacted David Henty, a failed artist living in Brighton who was also producing counterfeit paintings attributed to Lowry and others. Henty, who was previously convicted for his role in a passport forging scam, was also identified by the Telegraph as a forger selling art he himself had created via multiple eBay shops. Like many other forgers, Henty would shop for older, worn canvases to give his works an air of legitimacy. Confronted by the newspaper about his scheme, he at first denied it, but then took a sense of pride in his work, deriding the counterfeits produced by the likes of Spilman. “If you know Lowrys they [other forgers] use the wrong colours,” he said. “He only used five colours his whole life. I have to have an interest in an artist to copy him. I would call myself a copyist not a forger.”10

				Henty is entitled to call himself whatever he wishes, but it doesn’t change the damage that he and others like him do when they flood the market with knockoffs of other artists’ works. In addition to putting the value of the paintings at risk—Spilman and Henty sold their works for as little as a few hundred pounds, while Jackson’s watercolors typically fetch six figures, and Lowry’s much more—the fakes damage the artists’ overall reputations. As long as there are Spilmans out there bearing counterfeit signatures of the true artist, the fakes are likely to be grouped with the authentic works. Said Jackson, “It is unjust that someone can play on my credibility by creating poor imitations in my name. To be honest, some of the fakes they were offering were really awful and it was embarrassing to think they were purportedly done in my name. . . . They are like my children and I like to see them grow and develop.”11

				Paintings are not the only objets d’art to be posted and sold on eBay by a con man with a bold scheme. In the summer of 2011, James Coombes was a man on a very specific philanthropic mission: he had decided that he wanted to acquire and then donate a piece of art by the renowned glass sculptor Dale Chihuly to Gonzaga University’s Jundt Art Museum.12 Coombes spent months searching for the right piece before he settled on a Chihuly glass bowl he found on eBay, described as “Dale Chihuly Studio Seaform art glass signed early original bowl/vase.”13 On New Year’s Day 2012, the auction for the piece ended with Coombes as the highest bidder at a sale price of $1,591. Though he received the piece with no provenance, Coombes was pleased with what he had won, noting the Chihuly signature on the bowl, and maintained contact with the seller, Michael Little. He soon learned that Little had more Chihulys for sale and the pair agreed to meet.

				Chihuly’s works are highly sought after and quite valuable. They are not usually sold out of an old SUV, but Coombes was not deterred when Little showed up with the Chihuly glassworks in his older model Ford Explorer. In fact, Coombes bought ten more pieces from Little—this time including drawings—for $6,500. So impressed was Coombes with the works he was buying from Little that on the very next day, he bought another 22 Chihulys for an additional $4,500. Clearly, the low prices and rather unconventional sales venue were not enough to make Coombes think that maybe he was being had.

				Instead, after a couple of months had passed, Coombes decided he wanted the rest of Little’s “Venetian Series” collection. So he traveled to Little’s home in Renton, Washington (also Chihuly’s home state), put down $10,000 cash with a promise to pay an additional $10,000, and bought the remaining pieces from the whole lot. When Coombes later received from Little 17 certificates of purchase signed by Chihuly, they indicated that the pieces had been sold through a Seattle gallery.

				Though apparently very trusting of Little, Coombes wanted to be sure the art donation he was making to Gonzaga’s museum was legitimate. So he sought out a specialist to authenticate his buys, Katherine Elliott of Elliott Arts West. Given the unique nature of Chihuly’s work, there are very few people qualified to authenticate his artwork. Elliott is one such person: in addition to being an art dealer and appraiser specializing in Chihuly and other glass sculptures, Elliott actually had worked with the artist in his studio and had a hand in some of his early works. Little contacted Elliott via e-mail, and in their communications Little stated that many of the pieces presented for authentication came directly from Chihuly and his collaborator Parks Anderson, as “lots of surplus or overstock or unwanted/mistake/mishap pieces which was either given or sold to Belltown Art.”14

				It didn’t take Elliott long to determine that the work sold to Coombes by Little was a forgery. Elliott pointed to the pieces’ proportions, the “indelicate and clunky” flowers, the “too large” spots of gold, and “sloppy” red jimmies as being problematic. As for the signature on the piece, that too was forged. She wrote, “It’s done with the wrong tool, it’s in the wrong place, and the date would not be correct if it was Chihuly’s work.”15 For a second opinion, Elliott turned to another Chihuly collaborator, glassblower and artist Martin Blank. Blank concurred with her findings, saying he could “guarantee” that the pieces in question were not authentic. Finally, Elliott offered her opinion as to the origin of the piece. “I do not believe the seller of this piece can also be the maker,” she stated. “I would guess [it] was made somewhere in the Pacific Northwest, probably as a knock-off.” Then, perhaps casting criminal suspicion on Little himself, Elliott wrote, “The real culprit is the person who signed and dated it as if it was Chihuly’s work, which it is not.” One other thing was certain: Coombes’s donation to Gonzaga, at least this time, was not to be.

				Unfortunately, Coombes was not Little’s only victim. Elliott was approached by additional customers of Little’s who had bought forgeries. And as the scam continued and he conned additional victims, word made its way to James Vana, a trademark attorney representing Dale Chihuly. Vana, understanding that his client was a victim of a forger, contacted the Office of the U.S. Attorney for the Western District of Washington to report the counterfeits. Soon, Special Agent Michael Larson of the Immigration and Customs Enforcement’s Homeland Security Investigations (HSI) branch was on the case.

				Larson uncovered the breadth of Little’s scheme, finding that the con man had used at least two different provenance stories. In one, he claimed that he had the art because a relative bought it with winnings from the lottery; in another, he stated that it was from a friend who was dying of cancer and was connected to the artist himself. When all was said and done, the HSI agent found that Little had victimized at least two dozen people before finally being arrested. When the scam was first discovered by Chihuly’s studio and eBay was notified, the company immediately pulled Little’s postings. Amazingly, Little went on with his frauds for an additional 18 months after being outed by Chihuly and eBay. As one of his victims would later say, “Michael Little is a masterful liar, cheat, and thief. I am so ashamed that I am not sure I can tell everyone what has happened.”16

				Based on the airtight investigation put together by Larson and the federal prosecutor assigned the case, Matthew Diggs, as well as the diligent expertise of Katherine Elliott, Little was convicted of wire fraud for his use of eBay as his venue for advertising and selling fake artwork. A federal judge sentenced him to five months in prison and a restitution of $75,389. But the short-term damage had been done to Chihuly. As U.S. attorney Jenny A. Durkan stated, “Fraud schemes like this one target all artists and damage confidence in the marketplace.”17

				Soon after Little was convicted, another man accused of committing fraud while selling art on eBay was facing federal criminal charges. In an affidavit filed in federal court in the Southern District of New York, FBI agent Meredith Savona accused an East Hampton man of concocting a five-phase scheme to defraud art buyers. Jovian “John” Re, a former woodworker and an amateur artist, was described as an Abstract Expressionist painter who “sold more than 60 purported paintings by Jackson Pollock to art collectors for approximately $1,889,390 that [he] falsely represented were created by the famous Abstract Expressionist American artist.”18

				Re is an interesting figure, portrayed on various websites as a man of many interests and unique skills ranging from art expertise to submarines.19 Like Henty, Re had a previous conviction for counterfeiting. In his earlier case, he pleaded guilty in 1995 to criminal possession of a home printing press on which fake $20 bills were made, a crime for which he was sentenced to two to seven years in prison.20 Internet postings about Re depict a true enigma. One WordPress blog, written by a person who identified herself as “Nicole Hadley,” rebuts an unidentified “slanderous attack on Mr. John Re of East Hampton, NY who would otherwise be noted as a world expert in several modern and contemporary artists.” The testimonial goes on to tell of a 1998 meeting “Hadley” and her husband “Jeff” had with Re at the Museum of Modern Art, at which, upon considering a painting of a woman, Re stated “this painting is a forgery.” According to the writer, the trio was then approached by a curator who informed them that the painting in question “was in fact a reproduction.” The blog entry closes with mention that Re is also a “search and rescue diver” and thanks him for his service. Interestingly, the “character rebuttal” on behalf of Re is the one and only posting on “Nicole Hadley’s” blog. Furthermore, the writer, who describes herself as a collector of fine art, titled the post “John Re Art Connaisseur [sic].”21 Of course, as with so many things on the internet, it’s difficult to discern which—if any—of these postings are authentic.

				Savona, whose prior assignment in the bureau included 12 years on the Organized Crime Squad, is a highly trained fraud and art crime expert serving on the FBI’s Art Crime Team. Her affidavit spelled out Re’s alleged crime as beginning with offering for sale the so-called Pollocks. Next, she described Re as using the tried-and-true story that the paintings had been found in the basement of a family that had been given the works directly by the artist himself. This, said the investigator, “was a lie that Re told his victims to give the paintings a plausible provenance, or chain of ownership, and to induce Re’s victims to buy the paintings.”22 Savona’s investigation revealed that, according to the alleged victims, Re said that he had been helping Barbara Schulte clean out her basement after the death of her husband, George, a fellow woodworker, when he came across the paintings.23

				Next, the affidavit states, Re told each of his buyers that they were the sole owners of the entire collection of Pollocks found in the basement. In one instance, Savona wrote, Re threatened a buyer with the prospect of changing the stated provenance, thus rendering the paintings of no value. Finally, like his contemporaries Spilman and Henty, Re allegedly engaged in shill bidding to artificially and fraudulently inflate the prices of the purported Pollocks he offered for sale on eBay.

				One of Re’s customers, identified only as “Customer-2” by Savona, became suspicious of the authenticity of the paintings purchased from Re and decided to seek an opinion from the International Foundation for Art Research, the well-respected New York–based organization with expertise in such work. Re became concerned with this decision and wrote to his customer, “I tries [sic] to make it clear not to [sic] long ago that using IFAR was NOT a good idea. I told you from horror stories I know to be true regarding IFAR . . . What the hell were you thinking, or were you letting someone do your thinking for you,”24 according to an e-mail quoted in the affidavit and attributed to Re. In relation to the IFAR testing, Re allegedly wrote, “I know so far you said they gave you some indication that the pieces are doing well.”25

				In fact, the paintings were not doing well. IFAR’s exhaustive work on the 45 paintings presented to them was damning. They wrote to Customer-2 that they had conducted “a thorough investigation which included in person examination of all 45 paintings by specialists and conservators, extensive provenance and art historical research, and physical examination, and selective forensic testing of the materials.”26 The results: none of the 45 works were painted by Jackson Pollock. In addition to all of the examination and testing, IFAR found no evidence that George Schulte had a relationship with Jackson Pollock that would explain him having the paintings. Moreover, neither Schulte’s family nor his friends recall George claiming to have Pollocks or seeing them in the home. Worse, experts discovered “the use [of] old papers scumbled over with dark pigments to intentionally distress them.” This was “strongly suggestive of an attempt to deceive.”27

				The FBI investigator wrote of another troubling instance, this time related to another alleged customer of Re’s. Savona reported that when this customer showed one of the purported Pollocks to a New York art dealer, some dirt was noticed on the painting. The dealer wet his finger with saliva to wipe it away (a common method of spot cleaning art) and found that paint came off of the artwork. This occurred in 2013, 57 years after the death of Pollock, by which time the paint would certainly have dried.28

				Faced with the prospect of being exposed by one of his customers, the FBI states, Re resorted to threatening his clients. In one communication, he referenced a mafia crime family, telling a collector, “[I] would never threaten anybody unless I’m gonna follow through. I grew up in Brooklyn, ok? My mother’s from the Bonanno family, which means Gambino. When I tell you to do something, you don’t . . . be quiet. You don’t question me. You don’t talk over me. You don’t disrespect me. You just do it . . . And if you got to call me back and ask one more time, your mother’s going to start wondering why you stopped visiting her.”29

				Re reportedly used associates to inflate bids on his Schulte Pollocks placed on eBay. In one case, the FBI found that he had e-mailed an individual requesting that he place a bid of $26,000 on a painting in an attempt to give legitimate shoppers the impression that there was serious interest in the work. He then asked another individual to make three separate shill bids on the painting.30

				In May 2014, Agent Savona visited John Re and questioned him about the paintings he had offered for sale. According to the agent, Re described himself as an art expert and, at first, denied offering paintings for auction on eBay as “authentic.” But the agent came prepared and presented Re with copies of his eBay postings that did indeed make claims that his Pollocks were “authentic” and “real.” Faced with the evidence, Re, the affidavit states, admitted he sold the paintings as authentic but “he did not think he had done anything wrong.”31 Ultimately, Re pleaded guilty to one count of wire fraud in federal court in 2014.

				Though the FBI says Re’s total sales brought in nearly $2 million, the most expensive work he sold was alleged to have gone to Customer-2 at the price of only $60,00032—a figure substantially below the market value for a true painting by Pollock, whose works have sold for tens of millions of dollars. $60,000, however, for a painting that is essentially barely worth the price of the canvas is a nice profit. And it is clear evidence that there is no shortage of buyers who will ignore red flags like an inexplicably low price tag because they so badly want to believe they have found a hidden gem. But it’s nowhere near the highest price taken in by a scammer via eBay.

				If there is one thing that must be sacrosanct in an online auction, it is trust. Whether a buyer is bidding on a lock of Abraham Lincoln’s hair, a ball signed by Derek Jeter, or a painting by Richard Diebenkorn, the bidder is making a leap of faith each time they enter a dollar figure and click on the “Place Bid” button. After all, as eBay warns, “Bidding is meant to be fun, but remember that each bid you place enters you into a binding contract. . . . If you win an item, you’re obligated to purchase it.”33 That’s not to say that the seller can do as he pleases. eBay makes it clear on its site that “Sellers can’t deny or reject any knowledge of or responsibility for the authenticity or legality their items.” eBay does not allow sellers to list items if they are not sure they’re authentic, or to use disclaimers like “I believe this is painted by Degas, but I can’t be sure,” “I cannot guarantee the authenticity of this item so please bid accordingly,” or “The autograph looks real to me.”34

				When a young California attorney named Kenneth Walton offered for auction a painting purportedly by Diebenkorn, he was absolutely certain that the autograph didn’t look real. No, Walton was not an expert in the work of the Bay Area Abstract Expressionist. In fact, he wasn’t an expert in art at all. But he could be sure that the signature was not authentic because Walton was the person who signed it.

				Walton and an associate, a con man named Ken Fetterman with whom he had served in the military, together with a third individual, Scott Beach, sought out cheap paintings to sell online on eBay utilizing all the dirty tricks they could come up with. They created 47 phony accounts and placed $300,000 worth of shill bids on hundreds of paintings they sold by attributing them to famous artists who had not painted them. They posted their worthless art under the names of such accomplished artists as Giacometti, Edward Hopper, and others. In all, Walton and his accomplices brought in $450,000 from more than 500 auctions.35 But it was the Diebenkorn that made the biggest splash.

				After finding a cheap painting that resembled Diebenkorn’s style, he painted the initials “RD” and the number “52” (ostensibly to indicate the year it was created) at the bottom right corner of the work. Rather than posting it as an authentic Diebenkorn, Walton tried to be clever. In the description of the painting on eBay, he wrote, “I got this big abstract art painting at a garage sale in Berkeley . . . back in my bachelor days. Then I got married, and my wife has never let me keep it in the house. She says it looks like it was done by a nutcase.”36 Walton was playing the clueless rube who didn’t realize the treasure upon which he had stumbled, setting up his mark to jump on the “too good to be true” story. In furtherance of the backstory, Walton also posted a few other items to make his character seem more innocent and genuine, including an unopened roll of twine, a basketball, and a pewter frame.37 To an online shopper, it seemed like the eBay seller, named “golfpoorly,” was probably cleaning out his garage and decided to post some odds and ends in an online auction to make a few bucks. In fact, not only didn’t Walton have a Diebenkorn, he hadn’t a wife or a house, either. The innocent hayseed that Walton was portraying started the bidding for the painting at just 25 cents.38

				Soon, the bids began to roll in, aided by dozens of shill bids that he and his cohorts arranged. The price for the painting ballooned to $135,805, with a man in the Netherlands the high bidder, which drew attention from the media, including the New York Times. In a May 2000 article on the Diebenkorn auction, Judith Dobrzynski wrote, “The six-figure sale is not only one of the highest prices paid online for art, it is also a powerful testimony to the ability of the Internet to ignite a sales frenzy, even for expensive items that may or may not be what people think they are.”39 Dobrzynski was right in her suspicion about the painting, of course. But the assertion about the sales frenzy was slightly off, if only because of the devious minds of Walton and his associates, for the price shot up at least in part due to the shill bids that they placed. Without it, other buyers might not have taken note of the sale, or perhaps would have associated low bids with low quality. Indeed, as the price rose due to fake bids, legitimate bids rose with them.

				The attention that the sale of the Walton Diebenkorn garnered led eBay to examine the affair more closely. When they found that Walton had bid on his own offering, they voided the sale and found that he was using at least five different account names while his associates used an additional eight. eBay suspended all of the accounts, as well as two more brought to their attention by the Times. According to Special Agent Donald Vilfer of the FBI’s Sacramento office, the matter caught the bureau’s attention when Dobrzynski wrote a follow-up story reporting that Walton and others had engaged in cross-bidding on items and arranged for the posting of strong customer ratings on the site.40 Soon, Walton, Fetterman, and Beach were in the crosshairs of the FBI for internet fraud.

				By March 2001, the trio was indicted by a federal grand jury for their fraud on eBay. Though the British newspaper the Guardian described Walton as a “bored lawyer,”41 he clearly paid attention in law school, quickly identifying his dim prospects in court and agreeing to cooperate with the government, as did Beach. Fetterman, ever the scammer, fled arrest and went on to assume false identities, including that of the famous Pearl Jam guitarist Stone Gossard, before ultimately being arrested.42 Both Beach and Fetterman were convicted of their crimes in federal court.

				The scam and his 30-month sentence behind him, Walton wrote a book chronicling his crimes titled Fake: Forgery, Lies and eBay. He also reflects upon his frauds somewhat wistfully, telling the Guardian, “I miss the thrill of the hunt and then seeing how much you can get for something when you put it up.” He also displays a keen understanding of what motivated his dupes, something he described as an “optimistic self-delusion” in which “people really want to believe they have found something good.”43

				The timeframe of Walton’s scam coincided with an incidence of internet crime that had risen to a level warranting closer scrutiny and a stronger response from federal law enforcement. With cyber crime exploding exponentially as a worldwide problem, the FBI decided it had to take action and in May 2000 established a partnership with the National White Collar Crime Center to form the Internet Crime Complaint Center (IC3). By its fourteenth anniversary, the IC3 had received 3 million complaints of internet crime. According to the group, the total dollar loss claimed from these complaints exceeds $2 billion.44 Clearly, internet fraud poses a great threat to consumers and the world’s economy. And where there exists a venue to scam a consumer, one can be sure that there’s a con artist looking to get rich quick using art as their merchandise. After all, the internet has been the vehicle used by many to make unimaginable riches almost overnight. From social media websites to YouTube personalities to online retailers like eBay, internet fortunes seem to be amassed even during economic downturns. All it takes is one person with a URL, a computer, an internet connection, and a dream. Or, as in the case of the scam artists, a devious scheme. There is no shortage of these sorts attempting to exploit trusting buyers on the internet, and with eBay the largest of the lot, it’s only natural that their services would be targeted. And they are quite often. As Lizzie Crocker wrote for the Daily Beast, “Since its inception, experts say, eBay has become a den of art forgery, an unregulated market where ignorant art enthusiasts are easy prey for forgers and scam artists.”45 But that’s not to say that the problem isn’t being addressed. eBay’s Ryan Moore, lead manager for business communication, reports that “bad activity is currently at an all-time low on eBay’s marketplace—down 50% over the last seven years (2007–2014). In addition, only a tiny fraction of all transactions on our platform—far less than 1%—experience any kind of bad activity.”46

				Clearly, eBay works hard to counter fraud on its site, including scams related to art crime. One step they have taken in recent years is to enlist an expert in the field of art fraud to consult on an initiative to monitor art sales on the website. And the company told Crocker that it “aggressively detects and removes members who engage in any type of fraudulent behavior” and also provides shoppers with a link through which they can easily report an item that they suspect to be a fraudulent listing, at which point eBay undertakes a detailed review to remove any bad listing.47

				Moore espoused the company’s philosophy when it comes to fraud protection. “For eBay, nothing is more important than the trust of our customers. We utilize a combination of sophisticated detection tools, enforcement and strong relationships with brand owners, retailers and law enforcement agencies to effectively combat fraudulent activity and present our customers with a safe, trusted shopping experience.” He added that buyers on eBay do have recourse if they are victims of fraud, stating, “In cases where an item is not as described or something goes wrong, eBay’s Money Back Guarantee ensures buyers get the item they ordered or they get their money back. Bottom line, when you buy and sell on eBay, we have your back.”48

				In addition, eBay established a Global Asset Protection Team to “promote the safe use of its platforms and to collaborate with local, national and international law enforcement in apprehending and prosecuting criminals.” The team works to provide pertinent records to authorities investigating crimes committed using the site.49 Finally, eBay has utilized software to identify fraudulent activity on its site. The company provides information on its site about its efforts to combat fraud, using its own online Help pages to explain avenues available to buyers, sellers, and law enforcement to help combat suspected fraud. It’s an important mission, and recent history indicates that though fraud on eBay might be down, the site, like any gallery or auction house, remains an irresistible target for con men hoping to make a killing.

			

		

	
		
			
				Epilogue

				In the fall of 2014, in St. Petersburg, Russia, an art expert was held under house arrest, accused of complicity in a fraud involving a painting that she had misattributed in 2009 to Russian avant-garde artist Boris Grigoryev. The painting sold for $250,000 and, two years later, was determined to be a fake. The expert denied any wrongdoing, and her arrest set the Russian museum community into a frenzy, angry and fearful that a colleague could be imprisoned for being tricked by a clever forger.1

				As that controversy raged in Russia, police in Vienna announced that they were seeking victims of a Serbian gang that had sold an unknown number of counterfeit Picassos, accompanied by bogus certificates of authenticity, in Austria. Though the gang had already been identified and arrested, authorities were desperate to find and inform victims that they had been had, some for as much as €300,000.2

				As the Viennese authorities wrestled with the problem of the Picassos, a legal battle raged in Australia over the seizure of paintings taken from the home of Mohamed Aman Siddique when police entered his home with a warrant in an art forgery case involving three allegedly fake Brett Whitely works that had been sold for millions of dollars by art dealer Peter Gant. Police took additional works by other artists from the home for forensic investigation, leading to legal arguments over police powers of search and seizure.3 Gant staunchly maintains his innocence. The case is still pending.

				At the same time these arguments were taking place in Australia, auctioneers in Great Britain announced they would be offering for sale hundreds of sketches and paintings by the late forger Eric Hebborn, one of the few who took on the challenge of duping dealers and buyers with works in the style of Renaissance masters. The works were estimated to fetch prices ranging from £100 to £500 each.4

				Just a couple of weeks prior, in New Zealand, it was announced that forgeries by Elmyr de Hory of Claude Monet paintings had surfaced at an auction in Auckland, offered for sale by a descendant of the forger living in that area.5 And over in Germany, police were busy officially charging two men with crimes related to an international art forgery ring it had uncovered 15 months prior. Investigators believe the ring of con men obtained their forgeries from studios based in Russia and Israel before being brought to Germany.6

				Meanwhile, back in the United States, a documentary film titled Art and Craft was gaining attention for its depiction of the eccentric forger Mark Landis, who donated his fakes to dozens of museums without accepting any payment in return; thus he was never prosecuted. His works, featured in a touring exhibition curated by art fraud expert Colette Loll, are as fascinating as he is interesting—and bizarre.

				One thing is for sure: fraud involving art is thriving. It captures the interest of casual observers interested in crime or art; it blinds buyers hoping for that one great find; and it captures the imagination of the unscrupulous con man who continues to see the possibilities that bad art holds for bringing in good money.
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					(Credit: AP/ Peter Endig)

					A woman looks at a painting by forger Han van Meegeren, which he sold as Jan Vermeer’s painting Christ and the Adultress. Also pictured is a forgery of Vincent van Gogh’s painting The Sower by Leonhard Wackerforger at a 2014 exhibition of fakes at Moritzburg art museum in Germany.
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					Credit: (AP / dapd)

					Wolfgang Beltracchi’s wife Helene poses as her own grandmother in front of forged paintings. At left is an artwork supposedly by Ferdinand Leger, unidentified paintings in the middle, and at right, Tremblement de Terre supposedly by Max Ernst. The couple staged this old family photograph as a back story for the forged paintings to prove their authenticity.
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					(Credit: AP / Peter Endig)

					A woman studies the forgery Zwei rote Pferde in der Landschaf (Two Red Horses in Landscape), which was created in the style of artist Heinrich Campendonk by forger Wolfgang Beltracchi.
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					(Credit: Art Analysis & Research)

					The pigment collection of Dr. Nicholas Eastaugh and Dr. Jilleen Nadolny of Art Analysis & Research. The collection is comprised of over 3,000 provenanced samples. Eastaugh’s technical investigations of Beltracchi’s work uncovered his fraud, and the pair has performed analyses of a number of the forger’s other works.
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					(Credit: AP / Henning Kaiser)

					German art forger Wolfgang Beltracchi.
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					(Credit: AP/ JONATHON ZIEGLER / PatrickMcMullan.com)

					Ann Freedman, gallerist and former president of the now defunct Knoedler & Company, September 2014.
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					(Credit: AP / Lefteris Pitarakis)

					An encaustic Stars and Stripes painting entitled Flag, made between 1960–1966 by U.S. artist Jasper Johns.
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					(Credit: AP/Larry Neumeister)

					Former New York foundry owner Brian Ramnarine leaves federal court in Manhattan after he was sentenced to 30 months in prison for trying to sell phony knockoffs of a sculpture of Jasper Johns’ Flag painting. Ramnarine had done work for Johns in the past, including casting a sculpture of Johns’ classic 1960 Flag painting.

				

			





			
				
					
						[image: 08_-_Lawrence_Salander.tif]
					

				

				
					(Credit: AP/Mary Altaffer)

					Lawrence Salander, center, leaves New York Supreme Court with his son Jonah, right, and his attorney Charles Ross in New York. Salander pleaded guilty to 29 counts of grand larceny and fraud and was sentenced to 6 to 18 years in prison.
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					(Credit: AP/Max Nash)

					Michael Bakwin’s Bouilloire et Fruits, painted by French impressionist Paul Cézanne, sells at a 1999 Sotheby’s auction in London for $29 million.
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					(Credit: AP / Charles Krupa)

					Michael Bakwin holds up two paintings that were returned to him at the U.S. Attorney’s office in Boston in 2010. The two oil paintings by Jean Jansem were stolen from Bakwin and were returned following the 2008 trial of Robert Mardirosian. Bakwin had not seen the paintings since the 1978 theft.
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					(Credit: U.S. Department of Justice)

					A fake of Picasso’s La Femme au Chapeau Bleu (The Woman in the Blue Hat), unwittingly created by a trompe l’oeil artist for dealer Tatiana Khan. Khan told the artist it was needed to aid the police, then attempted to pass it off as an authentic Picasso.
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